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1. APOLOGIES
An apology was received from Cr Forbes.

2. PUBLIC FORUM
Requests to speak should be made to the Governance Support team on 0800 474 082 or to governance@orc.govt.nz at least 24 hours 
prior to the meeting; however, this requirement may be waived by the Chairperson at the time of the meeting. 

No requests were received prior to publication of the agenda.

3. CONFIRMATION OF AGENDA
Note: Any additions must be approved by resolution with an explanation as to why they cannot be delayed until a future meeting.

4. CONFLICT OF INTEREST
Members are reminded of the need to stand aside from decision-making when a conflict arises between their role as an elected 
representative and any private or other external interest they might have.

5. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES 4
The Council will consider minutes of previous Council Meetings as a true and accurate record, with or without changes.

5.1 Minutes of the 29 September 2021 Council Meeting 4

6. ACTIONS (Status of Council Resolutions) 11
The Council will review outstanding resolutions.

7. MATTERS FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION 13
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7.1 ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21 - ADOPTION 13
The Annual Report for the period 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 has been completed and is presented to Council for adoption.   

7.1.1 Attachment 1: Annual Report 30 June 2021 16

7.1.2 Attachment 2: Draft Representation Letter - October 2021 151

7.2 MANA TO MANA UPDATE 156
The report provides an opportunity for Council to reaffirm its shared commitment to its partnership with local iwi and the Treaty 
of Waitangi, to share the updated Mana to Mana Terms of Reference with Council, and seek agreement to ask Mana to Mana 
to consider expanding the membership to all Councillors.  

7.2.1 Attachment 1: Mana to Mana Terms of Reference Updated 24 March 2021 160

7.3 HE MAHI RAU RIKA - SIGNIFICANT, ENGAGEMENT AND MĀORI 
PARTICIPATION POLICY - ADOPTION

165

The report presents Otago Regional Council’s (ORC) draft He Mahi Rau Rika – Significance, Engagement and Māori 
Participation Policy for adoption. 

7.3.1 Attachment 1: Hearing Panel Report He Mahi Rau Rika 169

7.3.2 Attachment 2: He Mahi Rau Rika – ORC Significance, Engagement and 
Māori Participation Policy

172

7.4 OTAGO SOUTH RIVER CARE GROUP - COUNCILLOR APPOINTMENT 189
The report is to provide further information on the request to appoint a councillor representative on the Otago South River Care 
project governance group.  

7.5 ORC WHARE RŪNANGA / ORC DUNEDIN HEAD OFFICE UPDATE 191
The report provides an update on the ORC Whare Rūnanga / Dunedin Head Office Accommodation process.  

7.6 QUEENSTOWN PUBLIC TRANSPORT BUSINESS CASE 195

7.6.1 Attachment 1: Public Transport Business Case Scoping Plan - October 2021 201

7.7 UPDATE ON SOUTH DUNEDIN/HARBOURSIDE CLIMATE CHANGE 
ADAPTATION

216

The report is to update Council on the arrangements between Otago Regional Council (ORC) and Dunedin City Council (DCC) 
for delivery of the South Dunedin/Harbourside natural hazards adaptation programme of work. This complements the update 
presented in the Chairperson’s report to the 29 September 2021 meeting of Council. 

8. RECOMMENDATIONS ADOPTED AT COMMITTEE MEETINGS 222

8.1 Strategy and Planning Committee Recommendations 222

8.2 Otago Southland Regional Transport Committee Recommendations 223

9. CHAIRPERSON'S AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REPORTS 224

9.1 CHAIRPERSON'S REPORT 224

9.2 CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REPORT 231
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10. RESOLUTION TO EXCLUDE THE PUBLIC 233
That the Council excludes the public from the following part of the proceedings of this meeting (pursuant to the provisions of the Local 
Government Official Information and Meetings Act 1987), namely:

- Minutes of the 29 September 2021 public-excluded Council Meeting
- Chief Executive Performance Review Committee Report Back

10.1 Public Exclusion Grounds 233

11. CLOSURE
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Minutes of an ordinary meeting of Council held in the 

Council Chamber on  

Wednesday 29 September 2021 at 1:00 PM 

and via livestream for members of the public 

 
 
 
 
 

Membership  
Cr Andrew Noone (Chairperson) 

Cr Michael Laws (Deputy Chairperson) 

Cr Hilary Calvert  

Cr Alexa Forbes  

Cr Michael Deaker  

Hon Cr Marian Hobbs  

Cr Carmen Hope  

Cr Gary Kelliher  

Cr Kevin Malcolm  

Cr Gretchen Robertson  

Cr Bryan Scott  

Cr Kate Wilson  

  

  
 
 

 

Welcome  
Chairperson Noone welcomed Councillors, members of the public via livestream, and staff to 
the meeting at 1:01 pm.  Staff present included Sarah Gardner (Chief Executive), Nick 
Donnelly (GM Corporate Services), Gwyneth Elsum (GM Strategy, Policy and Science), Gavin 
Palmer (GM Operations), Richard Saunders (GM Regulatory and Communications), Amanda 
Vercoe (GM Governance, Culture and Customer), Dianne Railton (Governance Support), Anita 
Dawe (Manager Policy and Planning), Warren Hanley (Senior Resource Planner Liaison) and 
Peter Kelliher (Legal Counsel). 
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1. APOLOGIES 
There were no apologies.  Cr Kelliher and Cr Laws attended the meeting electronically. 
 

2. PUBLIC FORUM 
No public forum was held. 
 

3. CONFIRMATION OF AGENDA 
The agenda was confirmed as published. 
 

4. CONFLICT OF INTEREST 
No conflicts of interest were advised. 
 

5. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES 
Resolution: Cr Noone Moved, Cr Wilson Seconded 
That the minutes of the (public portion of the) Council meeting held on 25 August 2021 be 
received and confirmed as a true and accurate record, with the correction to the wording in 
item 7.2 Manuherekia FMU - Non-regulatory Support Initiatives. 
MOTION CARRIED 
 

6. ACTIONS (STATUS OF COUNCIL RESOLUTIONS) 
The status report on the resolutions of the Council Meeting was reviewed. 
  

7. MATTERS FOR CONSIDERATION 
7.1.  Update #4 to the Minister 
The report presented the fourth progress report to the Minister for the Environment for 
adoption by Council, in accordance with section 27 of the Resource Management Act 1991 in 
relation to the recommendations made under section 24A of the Resource Management Act 
1991.  Gwyneth Elsum (GM Strategy, Policy & Science) and Anita Dawe (Manager Policy & 
Planning) were present to respond to speak to the report and respond to questions.  Following 
discussion, it was noted that further information will be included in the letter to the Minister, 
including a fuller description around the Technical Advisory Group (TAG), the resolution from 
Arrow and Cardrona, and an update on Plan Change 8 discussions. 
 
Resolution CM21-157: Cr Hope Moved, Cr Wilson Seconded 
That the Council: 

1) Receives this report. 

2) Approves the fourth report to the Minister for the Environment, that reports on progress 
against the recommendations contained in his letter of 18 November 2019. 

3) Notes that the next report will be required to be provided by 31 March 2022. 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
Cr Malcolm voted against the motion and asked that his vote be recorded. 
 
7.2.  Freshwater Farm Plan AND Intensive Winter Grazing Regulations Submissions 
The report provided Council with submissions on the Ministry for the 
Environment’s (MfE) ‘Freshwater Farm Plan regulations’ and ‘Managing Intensive Winter 
Grazing’ discussion documents (the discussion documents).  Gwyneth Elsum (GM Strategy, 
Policy & Science) was present to speak to the paper and respond to questions. 
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Resolution CM21-158: Cr Wilson Moved, Cr Hope Seconded 
That the Council: 

1) Notes this report. 

2) Approves the submission on Managing Intensive Winter Grazing. 

3) Notes the submission lodged on Freshwater Farm Plan regulations. 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
7.3.  Port Otago Statement of Corporate Intent 
The report was provided for Council to receive Port Otago’s Statement of Corporate Intent 
(SCI) and provide comment to the Port Board of Directors for their consideration regarding the 
document.  Nick Donnelly (GM Corporate Services) was present to speak to the report and 
respond to questions.   
 
Cr Malcolm acknowledged the efforts of the Port Board, Management and entire staff, and 
moved: 
 
Resolution CM21-159: Cr Malcolm Moved, Cr Calvert Seconded 
That the Council: 
1) Receives this report and the attached Statement of Corporate Intent for Port Otago 

Limited to 30 June 2024. 

2) Endorses the Statement of Corporate Intent for Port Otago to 30 June 2024. 

3) Notes any further feedback the Council wishes the Port Otago Board to consider regarding 
the Statement of Corporate Intent. 

4) Requests that the Chair write to the Port acknowledging the efforts of the Board, 
Management and the entire staff, particularly during the pressures of COVID lockdowns. 

MOTION CARRIED 
 

7.4.  Kuriwao Sale 
Chair Noone advised that the Kuriwao sale is going into a commercial process and if there was 
discussion on covenants and matters of commercial sensitivity, the paper would need to be 
discussed in non-public.   
 
Cr Robertson Moved and Cr Hope Seconded, that the Council Meeting move into a public 
excluded session under Sections 7(2)(h) and 7(2)(i).  The motion was carried, and Council went 
into a public excluded session at 1:34pm, but due to technical issues for the public excluded 
session, the Council Meeting reconvened at 1:35pm.   
 
Cr Roberson Moved and Cr Hope Seconded that the previous motion be withdrawn, and that 
item 7.4 Kuriwao Sale would be discussed in the Public Excluded Council Meeting. 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
7.5.  2021/22 Rates Resolution Correction 
The report provided options for correcting a rating error relating to the calculation of East 
Taieri Drainage targeted rates for the 2021/22 year.   Nick Donnelly (GM Corporate Services) 
was present to speak to the report and respond to questions.  Mr Donnelly provided an 
explanation as to how the error occurred and following discussion, Cr Wilson moved: 
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Resolution CM21-160: Cr Wilson Moved, Cr Calvert Seconded 
That the Council: 
1) Notes this report and the error in the calculation of rates for the East Taieri Drainage 

targeted rates for the 2021/22 rates resolution. 

2) Approves the rates remaining as assessed in the 2021/22 year and adjusting the 2022/23 
rates assessments to correct this error. 

3) Adopts Option 1 as outlined by the GM Corporate Services that the 60 highest rate 
impacted owners be contacted to discuss alternative payment options and that no penalty 
will apply to those properties. 

MOTION CARRIED 
 
7.6.  Governance appointment to Otago South River Care Governance Group 
The report was provided to appoint a governance representative to the Otago South River 
Care governance group.  The Otago South River Care Group has been successful in receiving 
$1.8million funding from the Ministry of Primary Industries to help achieve their vision “To 
engage our communities to protect and enhance water quality now and for future 
generations”.  The group has asked for an ORC governor to join the governance group 
overseeing the project.   
 
Chair Noone moved and Cr Deaker seconded that Cr Hope would be nominated to join the 
Otago South River Care governance group.  Cr Robertson said that it is important to 
understand the context for this paper and asked what the existing commitment is in general 
for catchment groups.  She said that how Councillors interact with these groups is really 
important and choosing whether to be a governor for them is an important decision for the 
Council.  Cr Robertson also said she felt that ORC being a project partner is good, but ORC as a 
governor of these groups is not.   
 
Chair Noone advised that the Otago South River Care Chair had asked for one ORC Councillor 
to be part of their governance group, which would give their governance group experience as 
well as a connection to ORC.  There was discussion about conflict of interest for any Councillor 
appointed as a governance representative, and Mrs Gardner advised any conflict would need 
to be included on the interest register.  Cr Deaker questioned government departments 
requesting that ORC governance representatives be appointed to any groups receiving 
government funding.  Following further discussion, Cr Malcolm moved: 
 
Resolution CM21-161: Cr Malcolm Moved, Cr Hobbs Seconded 
That the Council: 
1) Agrees that the paper be laid on the table to enable staff to provide further information 

for the appointment of a governance representative, and to ascertain if a substitute 
Councillor can be appointed. 

MOTION CARRIED 
 

8. RECOMMENDATIONS ADOPTED AT COMMITTEE MEETINGS 
8.1.  Recommendations of the Implementation Committee 
Resolution CM21-162: Cr Hope Moved, Cr Scott Seconded 

That the Council adopts the resolutions of the 8 September 2021 Implementation Committee.  
Motion Carried 
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8.2.  Recommendations of the Governance, Communications and Engagement Committee 
Resolution CM21-163: Cr Deaker Moved, Cr Noone Seconded 
That the Council adopt the resolutions of the 8 September 2021 Governance, Communications, 
and Engagement Committee.  
Motion Carried 
  
8.3.  Recommendations of the Data and Information Committee 
Resolution CM21-164: Cr Hobbs Moved, Cr Forbes Seconded 

That the Council adopts the resolutions of the 8 September 2021 Data and Information 

Committee.  
Motion Carried 
  
8.4.  Recommendations of the Regulatory Committee 
Resolution CM21-165: Cr Kelliher Moved, Cr Noone Seconded 

That the Council adopts the resolutions of the 9 September 2021 Regulatory Committee.  
Motion Carried 

 

9. CHAIRPERSON'S AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REPORTS 
9.1.  Chairperson's Report 
Chair Noone spoke to the Chairperson's Report.  There was lengthy discussion relating to the 
governance structure being updated so that all Councillors are invited to the Mana to Mana 
meetings.  It was agreed that there will be a Bicultural Competency Workshop arranged for 
Councillors.  There will be a review of the Manuherekia Governance decision-making process.  
There was discussion on the letter received from Minister Parker.  ORC's current arrangements 
for South Dunedin and consideration of future relationships was also discusssed.  
 
Resolution:  Cr Deaker Moved, Cr Noone Seconded 
That the Council: 
1) Receive the Chairperson’s report. 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
Resolution CM21-166: Cr Malcolm Moved, Cr Hope Seconded 
That the Council: 
1) Requests staff arrange that all Councillors will become members of Mana to Mana, subject 

to the Chair’s consultation with Mr Ellison. 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
Resolution CM21-167: Cr Hope Moved, Cr Malcolm Seconded 
That the Council: 
1) Requests staff organise a Bicultural Competency workshop.  
MOTION CARRIED 
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Resolution CM21-168: Cr Hope Moved, Cr Malcolm Seconded 
That the Council: 
1) Review the Manuherekia Governance decision making process. 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
Cr Robertson voted against the motion and asked that her vote be recorded. 
 
Resolution CM21-169: Cr Scott Moved, Cr Malcolm Seconded 
That the Council: 
1) Requests that staff bring back a paper back to Council on ORC’s current arrangements for 

South Dunedin, and a potential MoU with DCC. 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
9.2.  Chief Executive's Report 
Resolution: Cr Hope Moved, Cr Calvert Seconded 
That the Chairperson’s and Chief Executive’s reports be received. 
Motion Carried 
 

10. RESOLUTION TO EXCLUDE THE PUBLIC 
Resolution: Cr Noone Moved, Cr Malcolm Seconded: 
That the public be excluded from the following parts of the proceedings of this meeting, 
namely: 

 Minutes of the 25 August 2021 public-excluded Council Meeting 

 Kuriwao Sale – Sections 7(2)(h); 7(2)(i) 

 RPS Hearing Panels Paper #3 – Section 7(2)(a) 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
The general subject of each matter to be considered while the public is excluded, the reason 
for passing this resolution in relation to each matter, and the specific grounds under section 
48(1) of the Local Government Official Information and Meetings Act 1987 for the passing of 
this resolution are as follows: 
 

General subject 
of each matter to 

be considered 

Reason for passing this resolution in 
relation to each matter 

Ground(s) under section 
48(1) for the passing of this 

resolution 

1.1 Minutes of 25 
August 2021 
public excluded 
Council Meeting  

To protect the privacy of natural  
persons, including that of deceased  
natural persons – Section 7(2)(a)  
To protect information where the  
making available of the information—  
would be likely unreasonably to  
prejudice the commercial position of  
the person who supplied or who is the  
subject of the information – Section  
7(2)(b)(ii)  
To protect information which is subject  
to an obligation of confidence or which  
any person has been or could be  
compelled to provide under the  
authority of any enactment, where the  
making available of the information—  
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would be likely to prejudice the supply  
of similar information, or information  
from the same source, and it is in the  
public interest that such information  
should continue to be supplied –  
Section 7(2)(c)(i)  
To enable any local authority holding  
the information to carry out, without  
prejudice or disadvantage, commercial  
activities – Section 7(2)(h)  
To enable any local authority holding  
the information to carry on, without  
prejudice or disadvantage,  
negotiations (including commercial  
and industrial negotiations) – Section  
7(2)(i)  
To maintain legal professional privilege –  
Section 7(2)(g)  

3.1 RPS Hearing 
Panels Paper #3 

To protect the privacy of natural  
persons, including that of deceased  
natural persons – Section 7(2)(a)  

 
 

Section 48(1)(a) -Subject to 
subsection (3), a local 
authority may by resolution 
exclude the public from the 
whole or any part of the 
proceedings of any meeting 
only on 1 or more of the 
following grounds:  
(a) that the public conduct of 
the whole or the relevant 
part of the proceedings of 
the meeting would be likely 
to result in the disclosure of 
information for which good 
reason for withholding 
would exist.  

 
This resolution is made in reliance on section 48(1)(a) of the Local Government Official 
Information and Meetings Act 1987 and the particular interest or interests protected by 
section 6 or section 7 of that Act or section 6 or section 7 or section 9 of the Official 
Information Act 1982, as the case may require, which would be prejudiced by the holding of 
the whole or the relevant part of the proceedings of the meeting in public are shown above 
after each item. 
 

11. CLOSURE 
There was no further business and Chairperson Noone declared the meeting closed at 3:39 
pm. 
 
 
 
________________________      _________________ 
Chairperson                                       Date 
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Action Register – Status of Council Resolutions as at 27 October 2021 

Meeting 

Date  Item  Status  Action Required Assignee/s Action Taken Due Date  

26/08/2020 GOV1937 Electoral System 

for 2022 and 2025 Local Body 

Elections 

In Progress Work with Electoral Officer to include a poll asking for voter preference for STV/FPP 
alongside voting papers for the 2022 local elections. 

General Manager 

Governance, Culture and 

Customer, Governance 

Support Officer 

1/09/2020  

Contacted Electoral Officer Anthony Morton of Electionz for information.  He will update our file, 
noting the request to conduct the poll with the 2022 election.  He indicated additional cost of 
approx $75,000, not including additional comms that will be necessary. 
 
14/09/2020  

Public Notice in ODT on 12/9/20 to meet legislative requirements and to advise ORC intends to 
conduct a poll on voting systems alongside the 2022 local body elections. 
 

01/01/2022 

23/06/2021 GOV2125 Adoption of Long 

Term Plan 2021/31 

Assigned That the Chair is to confirm Council's position regarding public transport in a letter to 
the Mayor of Dunedin City Council. 
Res CM21-121 

Chairperson  25/08/2021 

23/06/2021 REG2108 Consent Fees Policy Assigned Staff review the Financial Support for Resource Consent Processing Fees policy at the 
end of the 2021/2022 year, and report back to Council on any recommended changes.  
Res CM21-126 

General Manager 

Regulatory and 

Communications 

 09/12/2021 

23/06/2021 GOV2116 Zero Carbon 2030 

Alliance Memorandum of 

Understanding 

Assigned Staff will update Council on discussions and activities related to the Zero Carbon 2030 
Alliance. 
Res CM21-127 

General Manager 

Governance, Culture and 

Customer, Senior Advisor 

- Mayoral Forum 

 09/12/2021 

25/08/2021 SPS2146 Manuherekia FMU 

Plan Provisions 

Assigned That the Technical Advisory Group (TAG) be requested to provide regular reports to the 
Strategy and Planning Committee on progress towards finalising the required science 
for the Manuherekia catchment. 
Res CM21-141  

General Manager 

Strategy, Policy and 

Science 

 17/12/2021 

29/09/2021 CS2135 Port Otago 

Statement of Corporate 

Intent 

Assigned The Chair will write to the Port acknowledging the efforts of the Board, Management 
and the entire staff, particularly during the pressures of COVID lockdowns. 

Chairperson  27/10/2021 

29/09/2021 GOV2140 Governance 

appointment to Otago South 

River Care Governance 

Group 

Assigned Staff to provide further information for the appointment of a governance 
representative to the Otago South River Care Governance Group, and to ascertain if a 
substitute Councillor can be appointed.  

General Manager 

Governance, Culture and 

Customer 

20/10/2021 General Manager Governance, Culture and Customer 

Discussed with Lloyd McCall, and further information is provided in a revised paper to Council on 
27/10.  
 

27/10/2021 

29/09/2021 Chairperson's Report Assigned Staff will arrange that all Councillors will become members of Mana to Mana, subject to 
the Chair’s consultation with Mr Ellison.  

General Manager 

Governance, Culture and 

Customer 

20/10/2021 General Manager Governance, Culture and Customer 

Paper to Council 27/10 seeking council approval to request Mana to Mana to consider changing 
the terms of reference to enable all ORC councillors to become members of Mana to Mana. Next 
Mana to Mana meeting is on 9 November where this would be considered.  
 

27/10/2021 

29/09/2021 Chairperson's Report Assigned Staff org               anise a Bicultural Competency workshop.  General Manager 

Governance, Culture and 

Customer 

20/10/2021 General Manager Governance, Culture and Customer 

Staff are working with Aukaha to set up a learning opportunity for early 2022. Further 

30/04/2022 
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Meeting 

Date  Item  Status  Action Required Assignee/s Action Taken Due Date  

information will be provided as the detail is developed.  
 

29/09/2021 Chairperson's Report Assigned  Undertake a review of the Manuherekia Governance decision making process. Chairperson  09/12/2021 

29/09/2021 Chairperson's Report Assigned Staff to bring back a paper back to Council on ORC’s current arrangements for South 
Dunedin, and a potential MoU with DCC.  

General Manager 

Operations 

 27/10/2021 
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7.1. Annual Report 2020/21 - Adoption

Prepared for: Council

Report No. GOV2126

Activity: Governance Report

Author: Sarah Munro, Finance Manager Expenditure and Reporting

Endorsed by: Nick Donnelly, General Manager Corporate Services

Date: 27 October 2021
 
  
PURPOSE
[1] The Annual Report for the period 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 has been completed and is 

presented to Council for adoption.  
 
RECOMMENDATION
That the Council:

1) Receives this report.

2) Approves and adopts the Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2021.

3) Authorises the chairperson and Chief Executive to sign the Annual report and 
Representation Letter on behalf of Council.

 
BACKGROUND
[2] The draft Annual report was presented to the Audit and Risk Committee on 14 October 

2021 for their review.

[3] Council’s Auditor, Mrs Heidi Rautjoki from Deloitte, is currently the appointed Auditor of 
the Council.  Mrs Rautjoki and Mr Aveshin Govender, an Associate Director for Deloitte, 
attended the Audit and Risk Subcommittee meeting and discussed the audit process and 
their findings with the Audit and Risk Subcommittee.

[4] Deloitte’s audit opinion will be issued after Council approves the Annual Report and 
Financial Statements. Deloitte have indicated there are no matters that have arisen 
through the audit that warrant them issuing a modified audit opinion.

[5] The Audit and Risk Subcommittee endorsed the draft Annual Report and Financial 
Statements for the year ended 30 June 2021, and recommended that they be presented 
to Council for adoption at the 27 October 2021 Council meeting.

[6] The Annual Report and draft Representation Letter are attached for the consideration 
and approval of Council.

[7] The Annual Report includes the Statement of Service Performance for each group of 
activities and Financial Statements for Council as a whole, and the Group. The Group 
comprises Council and its wholly owned subsidiary, Port Otago Limited, and its 
subsidiaries.
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[8] The draft Statement of Service Performance and preliminary financial result for the year 
were presented to the Finance Committee on 25 August 2021.

[9] The preliminary financial result for the period 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 included 
detail and explanation around the major variances between actual and planned 
operating expenditure. The significant adjustments between that preliminary report and 
the final financial result included in the Annual Report are detailed below:

a. Re-classification in the Annual Report of councillors’ remunerations of $854,000 from 
employee benefits expense expenditure in the preliminary result to other expenses 
expenditure in the Annual Report.  

b. A change in interpretation of PBE IPSAS 31 Intangible assets by the IFRS 
Interpretations Committee resulted in $910,000 being recorded as an expense instead 
of being recognised as an intangible asset.

c. Revaluations had not been completed at the time the preliminary result was 
presented. Investment Property was revalued as at 30 June 2021 and resulted in a 
$1,542,000 gain, increasing the value of the asset and revaluation reserve.

d. The shares in subsidiary Port Otago Limited were revalued as at 30 June 2021 and 
resulted in a $75,966,000 gain, increasing the value of the asset and revaluation 
reserve.
 

CONSIDERATIONS
Strategic Framework and Policy Considerations
[10] None noted.
 
Financial Considerations
[11] None noted.
 
Significance and Engagement Considerations
[12] None noted.
 
Legislative and Risk Considerations
[13] Under section 98 of the Local Government Act Council is required to prepare and adopt 

an Annual Report within 4 months after the end of the financial year.

[14] An extension to this timeframe was granted to allow 6 months for completion however 
Council has remained within the original 4-month period.

Climate Change Considerations
[15] None noted.
 
Communications Considerations
[16] None noted.
 
NEXT STEPS
[17] None noted.
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ATTACHMENTS
1. Annual Report 30 June 2021 [7.1.1 - 135 pages]
2. Draft Representation Letter - October 2021 [7.1.2 - 5 pages]
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Annual Report
 

For the period 
 

1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021 
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Section One: Introduction 
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Message from our Chair & Chief Executive 

If there’s one thing we can rely on these days, it’s that change is a constant, and the Otago Regional Council 
has needed to be agile in our response to change over the last year. We continue to gear up in expertise and 
resource as we drive our work forward to support a healthy, sustainable environment in Otago.

Our year began with a change in the Council, as Cr Andrew Noone replaced Cr Marian Hobbs as Chair in July 
2020. 

Our staff and communities have been resilient in their response to the shifting circumstances of the COVID-
19 pandemic. 

Significant government reforms also continue to impact our work programme. A lot of our activity is driven 
by central government, and these changes affect how we prioritise issues, distribute resources and make 
local decisions for Otago.

Planning for water reforms has had a big impact on our resourcing, planning, and community engagement. 
We are looking forward also to the local government reform package and resource management reform.

Throughout the year, Council made various decisions to invest in additional staff and to spend money where 
opportunities arose through COVID-19 recovery, like the ‘Shovel Ready’ climate resilience projects. Extra 
staff resource that was not included in the Annual Plan became necessary as a consequence of freshwater 
reform in 2020.

One of our roles is to create and uphold regional plans that set out how natural and physical resources are 
best managed in Otago. To achieve this, our Regional Plan: Water for Otago promotes the sustainable 
management of water using policies and methods to address freshwater use, development and protection.

`Quick-fix’ changes to our Water Plan were introduced this year as interim measures to improve Otago’s 
water quality while we work on a new Land and Water Regional Plan. We proposed two plan changes: Plan 
Change 7 (Water Permits) and Plan Change 8 (Water Quality), as well as a third plan change to the Regional 
Plan: Waste for Otago; Plan Change 1 (Dust Suppressants & Landfills). In April 2020, the Minister for the 
Environment, the Hon. David Parker, at our request, ‘called-in’ the proposed plan changes and referred them 
to the Environment Court for decisions.  These plan change processes have taken up substantial staff and 
legal counsel time in 2020-21.

We continue to develop and strengthen our programmes for effective water management, safe and secure 
communities in the face of climate change, urban development, and Otago’s biosecurity and biodiversity.

Our science capabilities and capacity in freshwater have grown over the past year as we continue to bolster 
`on the ground’ action related to Otago’s natural environment. A key part of our work has been developing 
an integrated freshwater management unit (FMU) based research programme. We’ve taken on 16 more staff 
to manage regulatory processes relating to water and succeeded in processing all resource consents received 
within required timeframes.

Our work in biodiversity and biosecurity forges ahead as we finished mapping biodiversity sites (across public 
and private land) and prioritising these for active management, in keeping with the requirements of our 
Biodiversity Action Plan. This is a critical database for future work.
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We’re leading the Head of Lake Wakatipu natural hazards adaptation project —a strategic and holistic 
approach to address natural hazards issues for the longer term and to consider future climate change, 
landscape changes, and multiple natural hazards. The approach is a blueprint for community-led decision 
making in areas affected by natural events and climate change, and incorporates the values and views of the 
local community and other project stakeholders and partners.

We’re also making good progress in public transport. Over the past year, patronage of public bus services in 
Dunedin has increased, despite the disruptions of COVID-19. Dunedin is the only network in New Zealand 
where patronage rates are higher than they were in pre-COVID times. Overall public satisfaction with our 
Orbus services scored at 94% in Dunedin and 96% in Wakatipu in surveys taken in July and May 2021 
respectively.

Gaining central government funding to support our vital flood protection and river management work has 
been a welcome boost. We have been awarded $5.4 million from central government’s Climate Resilience 
Fund for four flood resilience projects in Otago — to update, upgrade and restore infrastructure at West 
Taieri, Riverbank Road, Robson Lagoon (Lake Tuakitoto Wetland) and Outram. 

We were also successful in accessing over $960,000 from the Department of Conservation’s Jobs for Nature 
fund towards a three-year project for pest plant control on high value biodiversity QEII covenant land in 
Otago.

On an internal note, in June 2021 Port Otago, who are 100% owned by Otago Regional Council, bought the 
former Warehouse Group building in central Dunedin to be our new head office. The site will be repurposed 
over the next two years and fulfils our requirements to host public-facing, office, and operational activities 
at one location. It includes infrastructure for electric fleet vehicles and will provide greater business 
continuity in the event of a disaster.

Strong relationships with our iwi partners, communities and stakeholders are fundamental to achieving our 
goals for Otago’s environment. We’re committed to solidifying our relationship with Kai Tahu. Mana to 
Mana, the rōpu of councillors and Otago rūnaka chairs, has met regularly in 2020-21, consolidating our iwi 
partnership at a governance level. 

Otago Regional Council is continuing to evolve and respond as we support Otago communities through 
changes of all different kinds. Good quality relationships with common goals mean we’re moving forward 
together, building resilience, to achieve the best possible outcomes for our environment and people.

 

Sarah Gardner            Andrew Noone

CEO                             Chair
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Councillors and their constituencies  

Your elected Otago Regional Councillors represent the region's four constituencies – Dunedin, Dunstan, 
Moeraki and Molyneux.

Chair – Andrew Noone

Deputy Chair – Michael Laws

Dunedin constituency
There are six councillors who represent the Dunedin constituency. Dunedin is comprised of central Dunedin 
and the Waikouaiti Coast, West Harbour, Otago Peninsula and Saddle Hill community board areas located 
within the Dunedin City territorial area.

Cr Marian Hobbs

Cr Hilary Calvert

Cr Gretchen Robertson

Cr Bryan Scott

Cr Michael Deaker

Cr Andrew Noone

Dunstan constituency
There are three councillors who represent the Dunstan constituency. Dunstan is comprised of the Central 
Otago District and Queenstown Lakes District territorial areas.

Cr Alexa Forbes

Cr Gary Kelliher

Cr Michael Laws

Moeraki constituency
There is one councillor who represents the Moeraki constituency. Moeraki is comprised of the Otago 
portion of Waitaki District territorial area, being part of the Ahuriri and Corriedale wards, and the entirety 
of the Oamaru and Waihemo wards.

Cr Kevin Malcolm

Molyneux constituency
There are two councillors who represent the Molyneux constituency. Molyneux is comprised of the Clutha 
District territorial area and the Mosgiel-Taieri and Strath-Taieri community board areas located within the 
Dunedin City territorial area.

Cr Carmen Hope

Cr Kate Wilson
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Our Strategic Plan and Values

Our strategic plan and values were released in October 2019. These set the direction for us as a regional 
council and help guide the organisation to deliver on our priorities for the good of the region. 

Our Mission: Working together for a sustainable Otago 

Our Vision:  
o A healthy environment 
o A connected community
o An engaged and proud community
o A strong economy 
o A future-proof region

In everything we do, our focus is to: Protect, Connect,  Enhance,  Enable.

Before the 2022 financial year ended, we will develop and strengthen our programmes for:

Effective water management
 Transitioning towards a robust, values-based, and integrated management framework
 Managing water allocation issues in catchments where water is scarce, for good economic, social 

and environmental outcomes
 Supporting and promoting water quality improvements in degraded catchments

Safe and secure communities in the face of climate change
 Assess and communicate the effects of climate change in the region 
 Assist climate change adaptation and risk mitigation

Urban development strategy
 Set minimum targets for development capacity as required by National Policy Statement (NPS) for 

urban development capacity
 Support city and district councils to ensure urban growth and development is environmentally 

sustainable

Improving Otago’s biosecurity and biodiversity
 Deliver a plan for how we do ‘these functions’ in the future
 Deliver an implementation plan for the pest strategy

We will seek excellence on our core activities:
o Environmental
o Regional leadership
o Regulatory
o Flood protection and river management
o Safety and hazards
o Transport

Strategic Directions:  Over the course of the 2020-21 year Council developed Strategic Directions which 
document our mission and vision for the future, replacing the Strategic Plan referenced above. The 
Strategic Directions helped inform the development of the 2021-31 Long-term Plan (LTP) and Community 
Outcomes have been updated for the coming years.  
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Development of Māori capacity to contribute to decision-making

The Otago Regional Council values its relationship with Kāi Tahu Papatipu Rūnaka. Over 2020-21 we have 
worked with our iwi partners and their resource consultancy arms (Aukaha and Te Ao Marama) to give effect 
to the Treaty of Waitangi partnership, strengthen it and acknowledge the unique, enduring relationship iwi 
have with this land.  

The acknowledged practice of Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu is that consultation in the first instance is with 
Papatipu Rūnanga.  There are four Kāi Tahu ki Otago Rūnaka being:

 Te Rūnanga Moeraki 
 Kati Huirapa Rūnanga ki Puketeraki
 Te Rūnanga o Ōtākou
 Hokonui Rūnaka

There are three Ngāi Tahu ki Murihiku Rūnanga with interests in the region as well, which are: 
 Awarua Rūnanga 
 Waihopai Rūnanga 
 Ōraka-Aparima Rūnanga 

Key focus areas this year have been:
1. Partnership work: We were committed to supporting and facilitating iwi participation in our 

workstreams and decision making, and building the work we were doing in partnership. For 2020-
2021 key opportunties included: 

- Embedding the partnership into Long-term Plan 2021/31
- Strengthening governance engagement in the partnership, via four meetings of Mana to 

Mana (and refreshed Terms of Reference)
- Iwi representatives on Strategy and Planning Committee
- Development of the Strategic Directions 2021-31 (unpublished)
- Development of the Regional Policy Statement (notified) 
- Input into the Otago Climate Change Risk Assessment (published)  
- Development of He Mahi Rau Rika (Significance, Engagement and Māori Participation 

Policy) (draft)
- Strategy, Policy and Science Directorate hui at Ōtākou Marae
- Rūnaka feedback on Council’s values translations and graphic development 
- Development of Freshwater Action Planning Draft Policy (on-hold)
- Land and Water Regional Plan Governance Group (ongoing)
- Land and Water Regional Plan chapter development (ongoing)
- Consenting activity – established working relationship (ongoing)
- Compliance activity – emerging cooperation (ongoing)
- Biodiversity Regional Hui cooperation (ongoing) 
- New work streams being established in the urban planning and biosecurity space

2. Internal bicultural competence: We recognised the need to invest in building the bicultural 
competence of our staff. Bicultural competence is the ability to work alongside Te Ao Māori (Māori 
worldview) with confidence and understand how it is relevant to the work Council does. People who 
are biculturally competent are usually able to relate to other ideas and people in a more flexible and 
adaptable manner, so in addition to working towards a greater relationship between Council and 
mana whenua, it is also a fantastic soft skill for our staff to be in command of. 

The Otago Regional Council has entered into an agreement with the Otago Polytech to provide 
bicultural competency training over the next three years. This include providing training modules on 
Te Reo, Tikaka, and Treaty of Waitangi, with associated assessment and micro-credentials to be 
achieved as a demonstration of learning. 
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Community outcomes 

The community outcomes below were set out in the Council’s 2018-28 Long-term Plan. These identify the 
desired results that the Otago Regional Council has been seeking to achieve. The delivery of our significant 
activities contributes to:

A healthy 
environment

A connected 
community

An engaged and 
proud 

community

A strong 
economy

A future-proof 
region

A place where 
people can enjoy 

their environment 
safely, productively 

and respectfully

Service delivery that 
puts the community 

first and ensures 
that the operations 

are customer driven, 
efficient and fit-for-

purpose

Communities 
empowered to be 

the champions and 
custodians of their 

environment in 
Otago

A region that 
prioritises 

sustainability as an 
economic measure 

whilst being 
attractive to 

industry

A region that is 
prepared for the 

future 
environmental 

challenges and that 
retains the 

characteristics that 
make Otago a great 
place for everyone
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Section two: Our activities in depth

Council Meeting 2021.10.27

Council Meeting Agenda - 27 October 2021 - MATTERS FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION

25



10

Overview of our activities 

Otago Regional Council groups its 12 significant activities under the following six result areas or groups of 
activities. The bullet points show the significant activities that contribute to the result areas. 

Environmental 
‘On the ground’ action related to Otago’s natural environment 

o Freshwater implementation 
o Biodiversity and biosecurity
o Air 
o State of the environment reporting 

Regional leadership 
Supporting informed decision making and an engaged community 

o Governance and community engagement
o Regional planning and urban development 

Regulatory 
Professional service and action supporting the sustainable management of Otago’s natural resources

o Consenting, monitoring, investigations and enforcement 

Flood and river management 
Professional services, action and infrastructure to protect our communities and environment

o Flood and drainage schemes 
o Rivers and waterway management 

Safety and hazards 
Professional services, planning and action to protect our communities and environment

o Civil Defence and Emergency Management 
o Natural hazards and climate change adaptation 

Transport 
Planning, contract management and action to provide choice and to support the regional economy 

o Transport planning and public passenger transport

Statement of service provision

This section reports on Council’s performance against service measures adopted in the Long-term Plan 
2018-28 and updated in subsequent Annual Plans. Performance is reported under groups of significant 
activity. Funding Impact Statements that identify the costs and funding associated with each significant 
activity are included in section three of this document.

Key for significant activities achievement
The following table provides a key for understanding the reporting of performance against the significant 
activities. 

     Target has been achieved
    Target has been partially achieved   

    Target has not been achieved
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Environmental
‘On the ground’ action related to Otago’s natural environment

Freshwater

Looking after Otago’s water is our top priority. We worked with local communities throughout our region to 
achieve good outcomes in managing water quality and quantity. 

Through leadership, setting a clear direction and sharing our knowledge with others, we are building a positive 
future for our environment, for ourselves and for generations to come.

Behind our on-the-ground actions collaborating with communities to protect our water resource, sits the legal 
framework of central government requirements and regional planning processes. 

We operate within the National Policy Statement for Freshwater Management (NPS FM) and our Regional 
Plan: Water (RPW).

This included working closely with identified catchments so they can meet permitted activity rules, and 
improve our monitoring of river flows and water takes where needed to inform future decision making. We 
are also working actively with community groups to encourage innovative practices to improve or maintain 
good water quality.

We’re committed to playing our part to preserve Otago’s precious freshwater resource.

There is one activity that makes up our significant activity, Freshwater:
o The Good Water Programme (GWP)

PERFORMANCE AGAINST LEVELS OF SERVICE TARGETS

Service Statement: Water quality across Otago is maintained and improved

Measure Target Result
Develop an integrated freshwater management unit (FMU) 
based research programme to inform the Land and Water 
Plan, and report progress.

Research programme is presented to 
committee by 30 June 2021

Comment on targets:
 The freshwater management unit (FMU) based science programme to inform the new Land and Water Plan has 
been finalised.  Council's Science Team presented a regional precautionary approach for the hydrology to the 
Strategy and Planning Committee on 12 November. The full programme of work was presented to Council on 23rd 
June and the regional precautionary approach was adopted across the work programme. 
Measure Target Result

Water quality attributes are assessed by FMU annually.  
Report annually against national 
standards, indicate trends and identify 
issues

Comments on target:
Water Quality attributes were assessed at 114 sites: 106 river sites and 8 lake sites as part of the State of the 
Environment (SOE) monitoring programme. The SOE Water Quality Report Card was presented to Council on 14th 
October and provided an assessment of the compliance of Otago’s water quality with the Water Plan. Compared to 
the previous year’s water quality results, 83 sites retained the same grade, 20 sites improved and 11 sites degraded. 
Results of State of Environment water-quality monitoring across the region are indicated on the map below and 
further detail is available in the annual water quality reports on the Otago Regional Council website.
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 Results of the State of Environment water-quality monitoring 2015-2020: 
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Measure Target Result

The Catchment Advisory Group will adopt a position on how 
ORC will support groups.  

The Catchment Advisory Group makes 
recommendations to Council by 
December 2020

Comments on target: 
Council convened a Catchment Support Advisory Group made up of staff and councillors, catchment group 
representatives and a regional coordinator from NZ Landcare Trust. The group met to develop a set of working 
principles and an approach to allocate funding set aside in this year’s budget to support local groups to improve 
water quality. In October the Group recommended that Council support the establishment of an overarching 
organisation that would help Catchment Groups through employing staff to provide facilitation, administrative and 
project support. The initiative now employs a fulltime Otago regional coordinator and a part-time Otago Catchment 
Communities coordinator to provide organisational support for catchment groups and volunteers, helps groups 
secure funding, provides administration and communication support, and facilitates access to experts, information 
& technology. 
Measure Target Result
Support Catchment Groups in Otago to deliver their 
environmental outcomes and objectives. 

Areas of support are identified, and 
progress reported.

Comments on target:
Support was provided to catchments groups via participation in meetings, through the provision of technical advice, 
funding and/or assistance with water quality sampling. Specific support included:
 Funding the establishment of Otago Catchment Communities, who have achieved:

o Attended 27 meetings, with 18 different Catchment Groups in Otago. 
o Undertaken specific projects including: Otago Dairy Leaders Forum, Otago Catchment Group 

Leaders Forum, development of an MPI Funding Application and faciliated workshops. 
 Assisted Cardrona Catchment Group and Wai Wanaka with Land Use Capability information 
 Led an Owhiro Catchment project focused on improving water quality, in conjuction with NZ Landcare 
 Created a management plan for Tomahawk Lagoon, in consultation with local community
 Created a draft Lake Tuakitoto Management Plan in order to faciliate community engagement and 

confirmation of final actions 
 Winter grazing, critical source area training and farm environmental plans sessions held with four Catchment 

Groups (57 farmers)
Measure Target Result

Work with Friends of Lake Hayes and other stakeholders to 
review the Lake Hayes Management Strategy and develop a 
programme of work for managing the water quality and flood 
hazard of Lake Hayes.  

Complete the Review and prepare the 
programme no later than 31 March 2021

Comments on target:
Council engaged with Friends of Lake Hayes, the Lake Hayes community, iwi and other stakeholders throughout the 
year to review and develop a programme of work. The programme of work includes augmentation of the water 
body to improve water quality and the installation of a culvert to mitigate flooding risk.  Implementation of the work 
programme is underway. More broadly, a revised Wai Whaka Ata/Lake Hayes Strategy draft was completed in March 
and is in the process of being finalised. The Wai Whaka Ata/Lake Hayes Strategy Group has been established to 
provide leadership in relation to implementation of the revised strategy.
Measure Target Result

Implementation Plan is finalised in line 
with Plan Changes being made operative

Water Plan/s Implementation Action Plan and National 
Direction is progressed. Actions are implemented according to 

approved timeframes once Water Plan/s 
are operative

Comments on targets:
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Target 1: Implementation plans have been developed for Plan Change 1, Plan Change 8 and for Action for Health 
Waterways. The implementation plans have progressed where appropriate and implementation is being overseen 
by the Good Water Programme Delivery Team and Good Water Programme Steering Committee. 
Target 2: Actions associated with the development of Plan Change 1 and Plan Change 8 were implemented. Further 
actions associated with the implementation phase on the Plan Changes were paused, awaiting final decision from 
the Environment Court to be operative.

TELLING THE PERFORMANCE STORY
The FMU based research programme to inform the Land and Water Plan:
Council’s science capability and capacity has grown significantly in the last year in order to build the capability 
to deliver the knowledge required for the new Land and Water Plan. Since June 2020, five new scientists, 
three team leaders and a research and contracts coordinator have been appointed into the science team 
while two vacancies in the team are still existing (senior freshwater ecologist and an agricultural systems 
scientist). 

A research programme has been put into place to inform the LWRP and includes modelled hydrology, 
contaminant reduction scenarios, habitat studies, groundwater data, surface water quality, land use, soil 
attributes, wetlands, estuaries, biodiversity, fish passage and barrier information. The National Policy 
Statement on Freshwater Management (NPSFM) 2020 has significantly increased Otago Regional Council’s 
obligations for wetland and fish passage management. Due to the size of these tasks, it is expected that these 
programmes will extend past 2023, likely resulting in plan changes beyond 2023. These programmes will be 
brought to Council for their consideration next financial year.

Catchment group support:
An overarching structure to support the long-term sustainability of catchment groups in Otago was 
established, fully funded by the Otago Regional Council. The purpose of Otago Catchment Community (OCC) 
is to create and support an Otago wide network of catchment groups that are addressing environmental 
issues now and for generations to come. 

The overall objective of OCC is improved management of Otago’s environment, with a focus on rural water 
quality, by enabling and supporting an active, engaged and effective Catchment Group network. The Otago 
Catchment Community will encourage a thriving Catchment Group network by: 

1. Providing organisational support for Catchment Groups and volunteers 
2. Assisting with the formation and direction setting of new and emerging groups 
3. Assisting individual groups with identifying funding sources and writing applications 
4. Providing administration support to help create and run groups 
5. Providing communication support to help design, write and distribute information 
6. Facilitating access to experts, information and technology 
7. Establishing enduring funding pipelines to support changing needs 
8. Acting as a conduit between government, regional authorities and stakeholders

In addition to the work of OCC, Otago Regional Council has provided technical expertise to a range of 
Catchment Group across the region. 

Lake Hayes restoration programme progress:
Significant progress has been made this year to develop and implement a programme of work for managing 
the water quality and flood hazard of Lake Hayes. A draft Wai Whaka Ata Lake Hayes Management Strategy 
was developed and is currently being progressed with mana whenua and a group of key stakeholders. A 
request for proposal has been created for the project management and delivery of the culvert and water 
augmentation at Lake Hayes. Council was on-track at 30 June 2021 to secure resource to manage this project. 
Further scientific work was undertaken with NIWA to explore augmentation implementation options. 
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COMMUNITY OUTCOMES  

Our work in Freshwater Implementation contributes to the following community outcomes:

A healthy 
environment

An engaged and 
proud 

community

A future-proof 
region

A place where 
people can enjoy 

their environment 
safely, productively 

and respectfully

Communities 
empowered to be 

the champions and 
custodians of their 

environment in 
Otago

A region that is 
prepared for the 

future 
environmental 

challenges and that 
retains the 

characteristics that 
make Otago a great 
place for everyone
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Biodiversity and Biosecurity 

Otago is home to unique species that we need to look after. We share and understand the community’s 
aspirations to protect our region’s indigenous plants and wildlife. 

Our Regional Pest Management Plan (Pest Plan) sets out the framework for how pest plants and animals 
specified in the plan will be managed in Otago over the next 10 years. It is supported by a Biosecurity Strategy 
that looks at how we will work with other organisations and the community to achieve the goals set out in the 
pest plan. Our work to support Otago's biosecurity includes supporting the control of prolific pests such as 
wilding pines, wallabies and rabbits. We do this by educating our communities, facilitating compliance and 
sometimes funding community projects.

Maintaining our biodiversity is a huge challenge. Although Council’s work programme is in a developmental 
phase the biodiversity mapping which we have undertaken is an important step forward in prioritising actions 
that protect and support our plants and animals to thrive.

Our ECO Fund supports community projects that aim to protect, enhance or promote our local environment. 
We encourage and empower communities to take local action with the fund being fully subscribed this 
financial year.

There are four activities that make up our significant activity, Biosecurity & Biodiversity:
o Environmental Enhancement
o Biodiversity 
o Biosecurity – pest management
o Wilding Pines

PERFORMANCE AGAINST LEVELS OF SERVICE TARGETS

Service Statement: Collaborate with the regional community to potentially invest and fund environmental 
enhancement projects that deliver good environmental and social outcomes.

Measure Target Result

The agreed funding of $250,000 for 
the 2020-21 year is fully allocated to 
approved projectsThe ECO Fund is administered to support community-led 

projects across Otago that protect and enhance the 
environment. 

Report to Council twice yearly on the 
allocation of the fund, status of fund 
recipients and summary of project 
outcomes -

Comments on target:
The ECO Fund has two funding rounds per year and the agreed funding was fully allocated. This year we received 
60 applications, requesting more than $830k in total. 10 applications were approved in the October round for 
$124,723 and 11 were approved in the March round for $123,525; bringing the total allocated to $248,248.
Reports on the allocation of the fund, fund recipients and project outcomes were presented to Council in May and 
November. Projects span across the region and cover diverse environmental enhancement objectives such as 
wetland restoration, possum control strategies, green skink translocation, environmental recreational 
enhancements, reforestation of waste land, and the development of backyard ecosanctuaries. 
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Service Statement: Establish controls over animal and plant pests to maintain and enhance biodiversity, protect 
productive capacity and community health
Measure Target Result

Implement the current Biosecurity Operational Plan. All targets within the Biosecurity 
Operational Plan are achieved

Comments on target:
 Implementation of the Biosecurity Operational plan has progressed. In some areas the levels of service have been 
exceeded, however in other areas targets have not been fully met.  
Measure Target Result

Review the Biosecurity Operational Plan Complete a review of the Biosecurity 
Operational Plan by 31 March 2021

Comments on target:
The review of the Biosecurity Operational Plan was completed by March. As a result of the review a revised plan has 
been drafted and was presented and approved by Council in June.

TELLING THE PERFORMANCE STORY

Environmental Enhancement
In addition to the ECO-fund Otago Regional Council also supported selected initiatives and organisations 
across the region which deliver biosecurity, biodiversity and environmental outcomes that align with our 
strategic objectives. Council made financial contributions to Predator Free Dunedin, the Yellow Eyed Penguin 
Trust, Orokonui Ecosanctuary and Wakatipu in the Wild.

Biodiversity 
The biodiversity programme has seen an increase in both engagement and technical activities. A new 
Partnership Lead in Biodiversity commenced in September 2020 and an Otago Regional Council Biodiversity 
Working Group was established in October 2021. Achievements this year include:

 Ecosystem mapping work was completed in late 2020 and is in the process of being released to a 
wider audience in 2021.  

 Hosted a series of Otago Biodiversity Forums with iwi partners and key stakeholders in Alexandra 
and Dunedin 

 Continue to develop ‘road map’ for the Otago Biodiversity Partnership.
 Engaged with DOC staff on Taieri river catchment programme around biodiversity.
 Engaged runaka partners on release and use of indigenous ecosystems mapping and attended the 

Te Ao Turoa Partnership meeting. 

Service Statement: Implement the Biodiversity Action Plan

Measure Target Result

Implement the Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan and 
review actions as required.

Priority targets within the Biodiversity 
Strategy and Action plan are identified 
and achieved as scheduled

Comment on target:
The Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan has been implemented and reviewed as required. Priority targets were 
identified, and a range of actions were achieved as scheduled. Biodiversity mapping prioritisation of sites for active 
management has been completed, as has efforts to build on predator and weed initiatives to develop and implement 
landscape-scale programmes. A Partnership Lead – Biodiversity role has been established to support regional 
collaboration and national engagement. Council initiated a regional partnership with Kai Tahu and public sector 
agencies to advance indigenous biodiversity outcomes across the region. 
Further work is required to complete other priority actions including development of a biodiversity research 
programme, scoping work to develop a common platform to share information on biodiversity and biosecurity, 
providing Good Management Practices (GMP) for biodiversity and on scoping a regional strategy.
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The biodiversity mapping and ecological prioritisation of potential sites for active management was 
conducted across the region, irrespective of whether land was held in private, public or lease-hold tenure.  
This work was commissioned to meet Action 3.1 of the Council’s Biodiversity Action Plan. The biodiversity 
mapping has captured three outputs:

1. current extent of indigenous ecosystems across Otago for terrestrial, fresh water, and marine 
environments,

2. an estimation of the ecosystem coverage across Otago today had human settlement not 
occurred. This is called the ‘potential’ ecosystem coverage,

3. mapping of significant habitat for 22 fauna species; Wildlands was commissioned to produce the 
mapping, which was completed in August 2020.

The mapping and spatial ecological ranking work will enable Council to work with others in the private and 
public realms to identify where the best return on invest in active management of indigenous biodiversity 
will be, and to develop effective management responses.

Council has strengthened partnerships this year and initiated a regional partnership with Kai Tahu and public 
sector agencies to advance indigenous biodiversity outcomes across the region. The partnership includes 
Otago Regional Council, DOC, all Territorial Authorities in Otago, and Kai Tahu through representation by 
Aukaha. The forum has met three times over the past year and is in the process of determining its purpose 
and the most appropriate way to develop a regional strategy and identify collaborative biodiversity projects.

Additionally, Council has successfully gained funding from the Department of Conservation for a project 
called “Maintaining the Gains”, which seeks to protect and restore indigenous biodiversity on QEII National 
Trust covenanted land in Otago.

Biosecurity – pest management
Otago Regional Council has been actively implementing its obligations under the Regional Pest Management 
Plan, Biosecurity Strategy and the Regional Pest Management Plan - Operational Plan. A major 
transformation of biosecurity activities commenced, including a rework of Council’s compliance activities 
and associated systems and processes. 
Key achievements included:

 331 rabbit inspections against Regional Pest Management Plan rules, against a target of 130; 53% 
of properties were compliant,

 Leading the establishment of community responses to rabbit management in Lake Hayes, Albert 
Town and Gibbston and planning for further facilitated action in Hidden Hills, Queensbury and 
Moeraki,

 5,081 pest plant inspections against Regional Pest Management Plan rules, against a target of 
3,215. Based on first inspections, 50% were compliant,

 858 surveys done for Annual ‘Check, Clean Dry’ advocacy on aquatic pests over summer,
 Establishment of two Regional Co-ordination Groups (RCGs), one each for Wilding Conifer 

Management and Wallaby Surveillance and Control,
 Within the Wilding Conifers programme 21,817 hectares have been controlled in the Wakatipu 

area and 13,445 hectares in Central Otago (as of March 2021).
 Ground and aerial based wallaby surveillance activities in the North Otago, Hawea, Dunstan and 

the Hawkdens management units. 

Wilding Pines
Otago Regional Council plays a lead role in facilitating government funding and overseeing aspects of delivery 
of Wilding Pine removal. This year increased funding from MPI for Wilding Pine removal has seen in a 
significant increase in this activity and resulted in control operations covering more than 35,000 hectares in 
Central Otago and Wakatipu areas. 
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SUPPORTING INFORMATION:

Rabbit Inspections Count
Compliant 174
Non-Compliant 157
Total 331

  
Plant Inspections
Inspection Type Compliance Status Count
First Inspections:

Compliant 1,821
Non-compliant 1,811
Potential Plant Pests* 814
Total 4,446

Re-Inspections:
Compliant 370
Non-compliant 263
Potential Plant Pests 2
Total 635

Total Inspections: 5,081
*Plants that may present a threat to the region and are classified as organisms of interest in the Regional Pest 
Management Plan.

COMMUNITY OUTCOMES  

Our work in Biosecurity & Biodiversity contributes to the following Community Outcomes:

A healthy 
environment

An engaged and 
proud 

community

A future-proof 
region

A place where 
people can enjoy 

their environment 
safely, productively 

and respectfully

Communities 
empowered to be 

the champions and 
custodians of their 

environment in 
Otago

A region that is 
prepared for the 

future 
environmental 

challenges and that 
retains the 

characteristics that 
make Otago a great 
place for everyone

Air 
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Good air quality is necessary for health and well-being. 

We are responsible for making sure our region complies with the government’s National Environmental 
Standard for Air Quality and, under the Resource Management Act, for controlling the discharge of 
contaminants into the air.

Meeting air quality standards is a particular challenge in localities with extremely cold winter weather and 
strong temperature inversions. 

This activity is about implementing the Air Quality Strategy. We are interested in solutions that will continue 
to warm homes while improving air quality. 

There is one activity that makes up our significant activity, Air:
o Air Strategy Implementation

PERFORMANCE AGAINST LEVELS OF SERVICE TARGETS

Service Statement: In targeted towns we work to reduce PM10 emissions for ambient air quality

Measure Target Result

Review Air Strategy implementation approach. Programme review reported to 
Committee by 30 June 2021.

Comments on target: 
The review of the Air strategy implementation approach was not conducted this year. A Council decision in the Long-
term Plan (LTP) process conducted during the reporting year removed the relevance of this target and measure. The 
current Air Strategy is to be reviewed and a new implementation plan will follow in year 3 and 4 of the 2021-31 LTP.  

TELLING THE PERFORMANCE STORY
The Council decision to delay reviewing the Air Implementation Programme was difficult and reflected an 
understanding that the community must have confidence that future expenditure to improve air quality will 
achieve desired results. To achieve that confidence Council needs to review the underpinning Air Strategy 
and Regional Plan. Otago Regional Council has committed to doing that. We are aware that there is no one 
simple solution, and we need to learn from other approaches and take a co-ordinated response to ensure 
people are warm, healthy, and secure in their homes. This means for example that the funds for subsidising 
the installation of clean burning technology under the ‘Clean Heat Clean Air Programme’ was not 
replenished.

This year Council’s work on Air focussed on region wide monitoring during winter, the results of which will 
help to inform the Air Plan review. 

Otago Regional Council contributed to the Cosy Homes Trust in support of their work towards warm homes 
and clean air as a founding Trustee.  
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COMMUNITY OUTCOMES 
Our work in Air contributes to the following Community Outcomes:

A healthy 
environment

A future-proof 
region

A place where 
people can enjoy 

their environment 
safely, productively 

and respectfully

A region that is 
prepared for the 

future 
environmental 

challenges and that 
retains the 

characteristics that 
make Otago a great 
place for everyone
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State of the Environment reporting 

It’s important that we continually monitor water quality and quantity, and air quality. Our environmental 
monitoring has expanded to include programmes for biodiversity, estuaries and coastal monitoring. 

Data and information is collected on the well-being of Otago’s environment and reported on in the State of 
the Environment reporting processes.  

This information supports the development of policies and plans, and indicate how well our region is doing in 
complying with existing plans. It is also a measure of the Otago Regional Council’s performance in looking after 
the environment.

ORC hosts the project office for the national Environmental Monitoring and Reporting (EMaR) project. The 
objective of EMaR is to become more consistent and integrated in the collection and presentation of 
environmental data. The EMaR project is a partnership between the regional sector, central government and 
the Cawthron Institute. A focus for the regional sector has been to get better at telling our own regional stories 
and make data more accessible to public and for national reporting purposes.

There are three activities that make up our significant activity, State of the Environment reporting: 
o Ambient air quality monitoring
o Water quality and quantity monitoring
o Environmental Monitoring and Reporting (EMaR)

PERFORMANCE AGAINST LEVELS OF SERVICE TARGETS
Service Statement: Provide high quality and timely environmental information, indicators and advice to key 
decision makers and the community 
Measure Target Result

Monitor air quality to assess compliance with the National 
Environmental Standard requirement of no more than one 
daily average reading of PM10 per annum to be higher than 50 
micrograms per cubic metre.

Regulatory obligations met and annual 
report presented to committee by 
December 2020

Air Quality monitoring was conducted at four continuous monitoring sites and four winter only sites. Regulatory 
obligations were met, and any exceedances of NES levels were notified publicly as required. The Annual Air Quality 
report (calendar year 2020) was presented to the Data & Information Committee in March. The report included 
results of the State of the Environment monitoring for air quality for 2020 and also provided a summary of spatial 
and temporal PM10 trends in Arrowtown, an outline of the monitoring projects required to inform the future Regional 
Air Plan review, and an analysis of Otago's air quality data during the COVID-19 lockdown.
Measure Target Result

Data quality and data availability monitored through Quarterly 
Reports shows compliance to relevant standards for sites 
defined in the “Monitoring Schedule for 2018-28 Long Term 
Plan”

90% of data has a Quality Code of fair 
or better; 95% of all data has been 
captured; 95% of data shall be quality 
assured in three months of collection

Comments on target:
The quality of the data made available through our monitoring programmes continues to be high. Quarterly reports 
on data capture and quality show that 98% of hydrological network data capture was archived.  
Data quality is categorized into quality code (QC) levels, as defined by the National Environment Monitoring 
Standards (NEMS). QC levels range from QC0 (missing data) to QC600 (highest standard). Quality code targets 
depend on the monitoring type, with State of the Environment (SoE) surface hydrology targeted at QC600, while 
groundwater and project sites are generally targeted at QC500. Of all SOE site data archived (including groundwater, 
rainfall, and water temperature), a total of 90% were of the highest or fair quality standard, while for project sites 
89% were at QC600 or QC500 level.  
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Continuous data feeds are publicly available through the Otago Regional Council-Water Info website, which also 
displays any alerts (e.g. low flow or flooding). Water quality (including contact recreation) and air quality data are 
publicly available through the LAWA website.
Measure Target Result
Changes and trend in natural resource availability and quality 
are analysed and reported to the Council as per the schedule 
entitled “Monitoring Schedule for 2018-28 Long-Term Plan”

Reports are provided to Council as per 
the schedule.

Comments on target:
Reports presented to Council this year included the State of the Environment (SOE) Water Quality Report in October, 
the Groundwater Quality report and the Annual Air Quality report in March, the Lakes & Rivers Water Quality report 
in April, and the Contact Recreation Water Quality in June. The five-year Air Quality report was not completed by 30 
June, however, is due to be presented to Council in September 2021. The SOE monitoring and reporting on estuary 
state has been completed. The estuary trophic index is a metric within the estuary monitoring protocol/ programme 
and included within the final reports. The estuary report is available but has not been presented to council because 
it describes ‘state’ only and there is insufficient data to describe changes and trends.

TELLING THE PERFORMANCE STORY

Ambient air quality monitoring
Four monitoring stations continually measured the level of particulate matter less than 10 microns (PM10)  in 
the air throughout the year. An additional three stations operated over the winter months. The data are 
available to the public on the LAWA websites. Exceedances are reported through news media during the 
winter months, as required. 

In addition to the regular monitoring equipment maintenance ORC undertook intensive work on monitoring 
site upgrades in Arrowtown, Clyde, Cromwell and Milton. The upgrades involved replacing the older Beta 
Attenuation Monitors (BAMs) with new optical instruments which use light scatter to calculate 
concentrations of particulate matter. The new instruments will allow for better analysis of data due to their 
high resolution. Two of the monitoring sites now have equipment that can monitor smaller particulates 
(particulate matter less than 2.5 microns, PM2.5) with a third site scheduled for upgrade in the next financial year. 
The monitoring of PM2.5  will provide a clearer picture of air quality and prepare us for the upcoming 
amendments to the National Environment Standards for Air Quality.
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Water quality and quantity monitoring
Otago Regional Council’s water monitoring programme consists of more than 130 monitoring sites across 
Otago: 110 river sites, and 22 sites and depths at nine lakes. Rainfall, flow, water level, groundwater as well 
as water quality attributes and macroinvertebrates are measured at sites across the region. During the 
summer months we carried out weekly recreational water quality monitoring at 25 popular swimming spots 
around Otago (rivers, lakes, and beaches).

We carried out monthly State of the Environment (SOE) water quality testing through our network of 
monitoring sites which measure the state and trends of water quality around the region. SOE monitoring 
results are based on five years of data taken when the flow site was at or below median flow.

The State of Environment report on the river and lake water quality in the region was presented to council 
in April. The study reports on the state of water quality on a site-by-site basis, relative to nationwide targets 
specified in the National Policy Statement for Freshwater Management 2020. The report considers 10 water 
quality variables and indicators and also assesses water quality trends at individual sites, and across Otago 
as a whole. The report tells us that water quality is best in the headwaters and at higher elevations, but it 
suffers at sites in smaller, low-elevation streams that drain pastoral or urban catchments.

The report does not analyse the drivers for water degradation trends. In the future, as Council gathers more 
detailed information on land use and land management changes at local and catchment scale further analysis 
will be possible. The report ‘State and Trends of River and Lake Water Quality in the Otago Region 2000-
2020’ is available on the ORC website.

The results of the report will inform the development of our new Land and Water Regional Plan (LWRP), 
which divides the region by catchment into freshwater management units (FMU’s) and will support Council 
and the community to implement other water quality improvement initiatives. Understanding the state and 
trends in water quality by monitoring water quality attributes will enable Council to set limits and/or prepare 
action plans to achieve the outcomes required in the new Land and Water Plan and then monitor them to 
assess progress. The Land and Water Plan is due to be notified in 2023 is being written to comply with 
National Policy Statement for Freshwater Management (NPSFM) 2020 requirements. 

Growth of environmental monitoring programmes 
In addition to our air and water monitoring programmes Council has been developing and expanding our 
monitoring programmes in coastal and estuarine environments, groundwater and biomonitoring. Coastal 
monitoring in 2020-21 has included scoping work to map marine biodiversity; the mapping will provide the 
basis for designing and developing coastal state and trends monitoring programme over the coming year. 
Fine-scale monitoring for estuaries was undertaken within the state of the environments (SOE) monitoring 
programme and work to design, develop and report on sediment monitoring for Otago’s estuaries is on track.  

The groundwater SOE report was presented to Council in March 2021 and highlighted key findings regarding 
groundwater quality in Otago. The report also identified a range of potential measures for improving 
Council’s monitoring programme, public awareness, and the protection of groundwater quality.  There is 
considerable work needed to extend the groundwater SOE network to collect the data Council needs to fully 
inform a Land and Water Regional Plan for each FMU. A programme to replace unsuitable or privately owned 
SOE bores with new dedicated SOE bores at key sites, will begin in the next financial year.  

The biomonitoring programme included monitoring macroinvertebrates (annually) and periphyton 
(monthly) at 33 sites, additionally a new programme to monitor organic matter breakdown representing the 
ecological processes attribute in the National Policy Statement on Freshwater Management (NPSFM) was 
implemented. Continuous dissolved oxygen meters are being added to the network strategically and will 
inform many of the NPSFM attributes. Otago Regional Council commissioned external expertise for advice 
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on setting Otago thresholds, rather than national.  It is intended that a revised SOE biomonitoring 
programme will be implemented after the LWRP is notified in 2023. 

National Environmental Monitoring and Reporting
Otago Regional Council continued to host the project office for the national Environmental Monitoring and 
Reporting (EMaR) programme. The Environmental Monitoring and Reporting programme’s overall aim is to 
make fundamental changes to how the regional sector delivers environmental monitoring and reporting 
functions through a number of data and information projects. Information about the National EMaR 
programme and projects can be found on the LAWA website.

Aquarius project
Behind the scenes Otago Regional Council has undertaken a project to revolutionise how we manage our 
environmental data. Environmental data underpins a significant part of the current and future work 
undertaken by Council. Demand on datasets and information continues to grow and the use of this data is 
also expanding by Council and its stakeholders.  

The previous systems and databases which had been used to manage Council’s environmental data were at 
risk due to outdated technology and loss of technical support. The multi-year project has involved the 
migration of data from the existing time-series database to the new ‘Aquarius’ platform ensuring a fit for 
purpose and robust system. This new platform will be the backbone of our public facing environmental 
information. Despite the challenges presented by COVID-19 and a remote project team, the initial stages of 
the project have been delivered within agreed timeframes and under budget. The new database is now being 
used for daily operation requirements by multiple teams within the organisation. The final stage of the 
project will be undertaken early in the new financial year and will involve replacement of the WaterInfo web 
graphs with an interactive Web Portal for environmental data. 

COMMUNITY OUTCOMES 

Our work in State of the Environment Reporting contributes to the following Community Outcomes:

A healthy 
environment

An engaged and 
proud 

community

A future-proof 
region

A place where 
people can enjoy 

their environment 
safely, productively 

and respectfully

Communities 
empowered to be 

the champions and 
custodians of their 

environment in 
Otago

A region that is 
prepared for the 

future 
environmental 

challenges and that 
retains the 

characteristics that 
make Otago a great 
place for everyone
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Regional Leadership
Supporting informed decision making and an engaged community

Governance and Community Engagement

We want voices around Otago to be heard through our elected representatives, and our consultation and 
engagement activities, and to provide quality leadership that benefits our region.

Our goal is to deliver governance support and process that enables a robust, transparent democratic 
practice for Council’s elected members and for community participation.

There are three activities that make up our significant activity, Governance and Community Engagement:
o Governance and democracy
o Public awareness
o Response to external proposals

PERFORMANCE AGAINST LEVELS OF SERVICE TARGETS
Service statement: Governance support and process that enables a robust and transparent democratic practice 
for Council’s elected members and the community

Measure Target Result

Percentage of official information requests responded to 
within statutory timeframes

100%    

Comment on target:
There were 141 official information requests received and 140 were fulfilled within statutory timeframes; 99% 
compliant.
Measure Target Result

Percentage of council agendas that are publicly available two 
working days or more before a meeting.

100%

Comment on target:
Agendas are routinely put on the Counci Meetings and Agendas webpage, ordered by most recent meeting dates, 
two working days in advance of meetings. Printed agendas are also available for inspection on request at Otago 
Regional Council public offices, and on the day of meetings at the meeting venue. 
Measure Target Result

Conduct meetings in accordance with Standing Orders and 
the Local Government Official Information and Meetings Act 
(LGOIMA) 1987.

All meetings

Comment on target:
This year there were 17 Council meetings, 26 Committee meetings and 4 Subcommittee meeting; all were held in 
accordance with Standing Orders and LGOIMA. There were also 39 workshops, four Mana to Mana meetings. Council 
meetings were held in Dunedin, Cromwell, Oamaru and Queenstown and regional visits were undertaken in 
conjunction with the away council meetings, and in South Otago. 

Service Statement: Council has clearly articulated policy, purpose and activity to encourage participation in 
decision-making by the community

Measure Targets Result
Council’s Long-term Plan, Annual Plans and Annual 
Reports are fit for purpose and accessible.  

All Local Government Act statutory 
planning requirements and financial 
reporting standards are met
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Comment on target:
During the financial year Council completed its Long-term Plan 2021-31 (LTP) and Annual Report 2019-20 to the 
requirements of the Local Government Act 2002. Both processes resulted in an unqualified external audit opinion. 
Community feedback was invited on the proposed LTP via a consultation document and detailed supplementary 
information. The process was extensively advertised, and plan information provided on Council’s website. Council 
made final decisions about the LTP based on the feedback from the 560 submissions.
Measure Targets Result
Hosting Mayoral Forum secretariat to coordinate 
Triennial agreement between Otago Territorial Local 
Authority mayors and ORC chair

Four meetings per year

In-person Mayoral Forums were held in July, September, December, February and June. Ongoing work programme 
has included COVID-19 recovery, Three Waters, solid waste, and contribution to the Otago Regional Economic 
Development (ORED) group and iwi partnerships across Otago. Progress is being made on building cooperation 
across the region on climate change and Resource Management system reform, alongside existing priorities.

TELLING THE PERFORMANCE STORY
Governance and Democracy:
The 2020-21 year started with a change in leadership, following an extraordinary Council meeting to remove 
the Chair and appoint a new Chair. Councillor Andrew Noone was elected as the Chair on 8 July 2020 and led 
a review of the committee structure for the council. The new committee structure was adopted on 26 August 
2020, and included two new committees including a Data and Information Committee and an 
Implementation Committee. This resulted in 0.5 FTE (unbudgeted) being approved for the team to support 
the work. 

Council made it a priority to hold meetings in the regions. Council meetings, and associated field visits took 
place in South Otago (field visit only), Cromwell, Oamaru and Queenstown. Holding council meetings around 
the region did not result in an increase in attendees however, perhaps due to council meetings being 
livestreamed and therefore available to everyone. 

The year saw a sustained pace of governance work to support key Otago Regional Council priorities. The 
Regional Policy Statement, Strategic Directions, and Long-term Plan required a lot of engagement from 
governors, in addition to furthering a number of other work priorities across the organisation. With the 
establishment of the Data and Information Committee, a significant amount of “information” has also come 
to governors for consideration and noting. This has contributed to building engagement between staff and 
governors.  

At the request of the new Chair, governors have also undertaken a series of professional development 
opportunities over the year which has included Chairs Training and bringing a selection of resource 
management specialists in to speak with councillors.

Mana to Mana, the rōpu of councillors and Otago rūnaka chairs has met regularly throughout the year and 
focussed on strengthening our partnership with iwi at a governance level to support the huge amount of 
work taking place at a staff level across the organisation. Refreshed terms of reference for the group were 
agreed and are due to be signed by all parties in September 2021, as a signal of commitment to the 
partnership.  

Public awareness:   
We continue to work with the wider organisation to enable timely public access to information, and to 
facilitate two-way conversations via community consultation and engagement. We have focused on 
enhancing our strategic framework for communications and engagement during the period.
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 Key ‘one-off’ communications have included: the launch of Bee Card, community consultations on 
the Long-term Plan, Regional Public Transport and Land Transport Plans, Manuherekia flow 
management scenarios, and the setting of freshwater visions.

 Initiatives included the launch of a new section of the website that allows ratepayers to look up the 
detail of current or estimated future rates by address and the launch of a popular new Orbus e-
newsletter. 

Otago Regional Council responded to 351 media enquiries and issued 96 media advisories/releases/ 
statements during the 2020-21 financial year. 

Response to external proposals: 
As well as the typical smaller resource consent applications received, Otago Regional Council has submitted 
on two significant consent applications this year. Staff have prepared submissions on Variation 2 to the 
Dunedin City 2GP, as well as the above-mentioned consent applications and have submitted on a large 
number of consents across Otago, for subdivisions and/or land uses that are inconsistent with the partially 
operative RPS 2019. In addition, staff have continued to have significant involvement in appeals on the 
Queenstown Lakes District Plan review and the Dunedin City Second Generation Plan. 

Due to the nature of this work technical support is often required for land use consents that Otago Regional 
Council engages in. Staff from across the organisation are involved in this work including experts from 
hazards, consents, legal, science and policy teams.

The unanticipated scale and volume of work in this activity this year and the appeals on the Queenstown and 
Dunedin City plans resulted in a budget overspend.

COMMUNITY OUTCOMES 
Our work in Governance and Community Engagement contributes to the following Community Outcomes:

A healthy 
environment

A connected 
community

An engaged and 
proud 

community

A strong 
economy

A future-proof 
region

A place where 
people can enjoy 

their environment 
safely, productively 

and respectfully

Service delivery that 
puts the community 

first and ensures 
that the operations 

are customer driven, 
efficient and fit-for-

purpose

Communities 
empowered to be 

the champions and 
custodians of their 

environment in 
Otago

A region that 
prioritises 

sustainability as an 
economic measure 

whilst being 
attractive to 

industry

A region that is 
prepared for the 

future 
environmental 

challenges and that 
retains the 

characteristics that 
make Otago a great 
place for everyone
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Regional Planning and Strategy

Our regional plans set out objectives, policies and rules for the sustainable use of natural and physical 
resources in Otago, including water, land, air, and the coast. We also increasingly need organisational and 
functional strategies and plans to support regional regulation and implementation, promote regional 
wellbeing and build community capacity and resilience.

Establishing and maintaining a robust, integrated, and consistent environmental planning framework is the 
overarching goal. A Regional Policy Statement (RPS) sets the direction for future management of natural and 
physical resources.  Otago Regional Council’s RPS is the foundation for the development of our regional and 
district plans. The RPS was under review during this reporting period with a programmed completion date of 
June 2021 (financial year end). The regional planning framework supports the management of Otago’s 
freshwater and land resource and is Council’s top priority. Our approach to planning and consenting regarding 
freshwater changed and we accelerated our work programme over the 2020-21 year. This includes working 
on the priority catchments Arrow, Cardrona and Manuherekia rivers ahead of notifying the LWRP in 2023. 

Looking after our region’s natural and physical resources includes managing urban development. Urban 
development is an important emerging issue for Otago, as the number of people choosing to live in 
Queenstown and Central Otago continues to grow.

There are four activities that make up our significant activity, Regional Planning and Strategy:
o Planning – Freshwater and Land
o Planning – Air, Water, Coast, Regional Policy Statement
o Urban Development Strategy
o Strategy

PERFORMANCE AGAINST LEVELS OF SERVICE TARGETS
Service Statement: Establish and maintain a robust, integrated and consistent environmental planning 
framework
Measure Target Result

Complete review of existing Regional Policy Statement (RPS) 
and notify the new one. 

Ministerial target: November 2020.  
(Extended by the Minister to June 
2021)

Comment on target:
The RPS was approved for notification on 16 June and notified on 26 June 2021, in line with the Minister for the 
Environment’s recommendations.
Measure Target Result

Deliver against the Land and Freshwater programme as agreed 
with the Minister for the Environment to implement the 
National Policy Statement for Freshwater Management. 

Report to Committee on progress 
against work programme (adopted 
November 2019)

Comment on target:
The Land and Freshwater planning programme has been progressing. A report was presented to Council in October 
2020 and in March 2021 and an update provided to the Minister.  The Land and Freshwater programme as agreed 
with the Minister includes work across Council activities in areas such as planning, science, environmental 
implementation, and regulatory work. In 2020-21 the plan changes were largely completed, the RPS was notified, 
and we are on track to deliver on the Land and Water Regional Plan.  The Arrow and Cardrona water quantity limits 
process has been finalised, however the Manuherekia work and the FMU programme are behind schedule; but while 
there is a delivery risk the expectation remains that it will be be delivered by December 2023.  Work has commenced 
in the Upper Lakes rohe and the Catlins FMU, and preparatory work has commenced in the Taieri FMU and Dunedin 
and Coast FMU.
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TELLING THE PERFORMANCE STORY

Regional Policy Statement:
The RPS, which was notified in June, identifies the significant resource management issues for Otago and 
provides high-level guidance by way of policies and objectives. It also helps to explain how national direction 
on resource management will be applied in the Otago context and provides direction on how to balance 
potentially conflicting requirements. 

Notification of the new RPS follows Minister for the Environment Hon. David Parker’s recommendation made 
in 2019, after a review into Council’s freshwater management planning regime. Council understands that this 
RPS is the first nationally to be notified since the National Policy Statement for Freshwater Management 
2020 was gazetted, with its requirement to give effect to Te Mana O Te Wai, and to include freshwater visions 
for each Freshwater Management Unit. It is also the first RPS to be developed under the new National 
Planning Standards. The proposed 2021 RPS will be critical in reviewing our regional plans and the 
development of our new regional plans over the next few years, starting with the Land and Water Regional 
Plan which is intended to be notified in 2023.

Irrespective of the requirement of the Minister, all RPS’s were required to be amended to give effect to the 
National Planning Standards by 2022, so this work was necessary for a variety of reasons.

A considerable amount of staff time and consultant support was required to achieve the completion of the 
review of the RPS in a tight timeframe. In addition, new NPS-FM requirements introduced in August 2020 
required additional processes and additional community consultation which was both unplanned and 
unbudgeted. For more information on the RPS visit the ORC website. 

Planning - Freshwater and Land:
There has been a considerable amount of staff time, and legal counsel time, associated with Plan Changes 7 
and 8 to the Regional Plan: Water, and Plan Change 1 to the Regional Plan: Waste. All these plan changes 
responded to the Ministerial review undertaken in 2019. The plan changes were called in and Council is 
responsible for the full costs of these processes. These Environment Court cost were unbudgeted and the 
duration of the hearing on Plan Change 7 was unexpected. 

Planning - Air, Waste, Coast: 
The review of the Regional Plan: Air was reprioritised and is now scheduled to commence in Year 2 of the 
Long-term Plan 2021-31.  The Waste Plan review was completed in late 2020 and is being used to inform the 
Land and Water Regional Plan development.  

Service Statement: Develop with our key partners an Urban Development Strategy

Measure Target Result

Provide region-wide direction on urban development in 
conjunction with the Territorial Local Authorities. 

Report to Committee on the 
preparation of an urban work 
programme 

Comment on target:
A report for options to develop an urban work programme was approved by Council in September 2020. Provision 
to implement the approved option was included in the LTP 2021-31. As at 30 June Council had made progress on 
completing the programme for future implementation.  
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Urban Development Strategy:
The urban team have been supporting the RPS review, in particular Queenstown Lakes District Council, 
through their Future Development Strategy, which has pivoted to be a recovery strategy. Work to understand 
rezoning in the Dunedin City area is underway and support for Waitaki District Council on an urban focused 
growth strategy has also been occurring.

The assessment of highly productive land has not been undertaken at this stage. That work was predicated 
on the National Policy Statement for Highly Productive Land being gazetted in the financial year however it 
has not yet been released by Government. Until this NPS is gazetted, this work will not be able to be finalised.

Otago Regional Council initiated Quarterly Monitoring Reports, as required by the National Policy Statement 
on Urban Development 2020 (NPSUD). The initial report was presented to Council’s Data & Information 
committee in March and the second in June.

Strategy:
Council developed Strategic Directions this year to document its vision, mission and inform development of 
the Long-term Plan (LTP). This vision for Otago was reflected into the LTP as community outcomes and 
significant activities. An environment scan undertaken for Strategic Directions also provided the basis for the 
non-financial assumptions underpinning the LTP. 

Support was provided across a range of Council areas and activites to implement Strategic Directions.  Some 
important contributions included:

 assessment of social and economic impacts of the Regional Policy Statement and Land and Water 
Regional Plan (Manuherekia FMU; water security policy options);

  science team operational planning;
  refresh of Council’s communications and engagement strategy;
 draft policy for Freshwater Action Planning, which provided a framework for planning and a 

methodology for prioritising catchment action, 

Council engaged with Southland and other Territorial Authorities to share information and intelligence about 
Resource Management Act reform and its implications for regional and district councils. 
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COMMUNITY OUTCOMES 

Our work in Regional Planning contributes to the following Community Outcomes:

A healthy 
environment

A connected 
community

An engaged and 
proud 

community

A strong 
economy

A future-proof 
region

A place where 
people can enjoy 

their environment 
safely, productively 

and respectfully

Service delivery that 
puts the community 

first and ensures 
that the operations 

are customer driven, 
efficient and fit-for-

purpose

Communities 
empowered to be 

the champions and 
custodians of their 

environment in 
Otago

A region that 
prioritises 

sustainability as an 
economic measure 

whilst being 
attractive to 

industry

A region that is 
prepared for the 

future 
environmental 

challenges and that 
retains the 

characteristics that 
make Otago a great 
place for everyone
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Regulatory
Professional service and action supporting the sustainable management of Otago’s natural resource

Consenting, monitoring, investigations, and enforcement 

As a regulatory authority we provide services to ensure that activities in Otago are consistent with both 
national and regional rules.   

Our functions include processing and monitoring consents, investigating activities that don’t comply with the 
rules, and oversight of navigational safety on our waterways.  

 Regulation is not the only way to get results. We collaborate with Otago communities in education and 
awareness campaigns to increase the community’s knowledge and understanding of environmental matters. 
Working together, we can achieve good outcomes that maintain and improve our environment.  
 
There are five activities that make up our significant activity, Consenting, Monitoring, Investigations and 
Enforcement:

o Consent processing  
o Compliance monitoring  
o Incident response, investigation, and enforcement  
o Contaminated sites  
o Harbours and waterway management  

 

PERFORMANCE AGAINST LEVELS OF SERVICE TARGETS 

Service statement:  Deliver consenting processes efficiently and effectively under the Resource 
Management Act 1991 to enable the lawful use of natural and physical resources  
Measure  Target  Result  

Percentage of resource consent applications processed 
within Resource Management Act 1991 legislative 
timeframes.  

  100%      
 

Comment on target:  
Whilst this is an aspirational target, it has been achieved in a very busy year.  100% of applications have been 
processed within timeframes. An average of 48 applications for resource consents were received per month, 
an increase from 37 per month the previous year. This increase has been driven by deemed and water permits 
expiring in 2021 as well as new consent requirements relating to the new National Environmental Standard 
for Freshwater and Plan Change 8 to the Regional Plan Water. The number of applications in the system rose 
from 269 at the start of the financial year to 370 at the end of the year, demonstrating the increased workload 
for the consenting team.
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Service statement:  Administering and assessing performance monitoring data provided by consent 
holders 
Measure  Target  Result  

Percentage of performance monitoring returns received 
this year that will be assessed for compliance with 
consent conditions and rules within the year.  

  85% 
 

Comment on target:  
This year Otago Regional Council received 6,403 performance monitoring returns and assessed 3,402 
(53.1%) by 30 June. In addition, we processed 2,131 performance monitoring returns which had been carried 
over from the previous year. Although we did not achieve our target of 85%, our processing rates have 
increased; the total number graded for compliance in 2020-21 was 5,533 compared to 5,012 in 2019-20. 

  

Service statement:  Acting on non-compliances identified through consent audit or performance 
monitoring returns 

Measure Target Result 

Percentage of significant non-compliance found that has 
been followed up by staff.  

100%  

Comment on target:  
There were 3,291 non-compliances identified through performance monitoring and audits. Of those 2,296 
were low risk, 653 were moderate and 342 were categorised as significant. 
Of the 342 significant non-compliances, 57 relate to on-site audits conducted by compliance staff and the 
others were identified though performance monitoring. In all cases, consent holders were notified of their 
breach and the action they needed to take to correct it.  There have been 56 separate enforcement actions 
recorded this year.  

 

Service Statement: Investigations and response to notifications of non-compliance and incidents 

Measure Target Result 

Maintain 24-hour/7 day a week response for 
environmental incidents. 100% 

 

Comment on target: 
The Pollution Hotline was staffed 24hours a day/7days a week and online pollution reporting was available 
and checked during business hours. In total the Council received 1,913 complaints. The categories which 
received calls to the pollution hotline were: 

 Outdoor burning: 386 
 Water pollution: 372 
 Odour: 254 
 Domestic chimneys: 172
 All other categories:  729

Measure Targets  Result 
Hold at least one pollution incident 
response training exercise for each of 
the following:  
·     desktop exercise 
·     a field exercise for pollution 
incident response 
·     an equipment training day 

 

Facilitate/carry out appropriate response training for staff 
and contractors. 

Hold at least one marine oil spill 
incident response training for each of 
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the following: 
·   desktop exercise 
·   a field exercise for marine oil 
incident response. 

Comment on targets: 
Target 1: Pollution incident response training sessions were held throughout the 2020-21 year, including 
regular FIDOL (Frequency, Intensity, Duration, Offensiveness and Location) survey and water sampling 
training.
Target 2: An oil spill training exercise was undertaken in December 2020 and a full field exercise for marine 
oil spill incident response was held at MacAndrew Bay in April 2021. The Harbourmaster and Deputy 
Harbourmaster completed the Senior Regional Responder course with Maritime New Zealand.

 Service Statement: Enable safe use and navigation for all users of Otago harbour.  Take appropriate 
action in response to notifications of non-compliance and incidents 

Measure Target Result 
Average response time after 
notification is no more than one 
hour for Otago Harbour and within 
four hours for other locations Major incidents on Otago’s harbours and waterways will 

be responded to promptly and appropriately. 
Major incidents and 
Harbourmaster’s response will be 
reported to council quarterly 

Comment on target: 
Target 1: All notified incidents were responded to within the target timeframes.
Target 2: Major incidents were reported in the Regulatory group’s quarterly reports to Committee and included, 
Trans Spring large commercial vessel (loss of propulsion in March) and Taieri mouth bar recreational incident 
(Fatality in April).  
 
TELLING THE PERFORMANCE STORY 

Consent processing:  
2020-21 has been a busy year with a significant increase in both the consent applications received and the 
volume processed. Decisions were issued on 435 consents, up from 317 in the previous year. This increase 
has largely been driven by the process of replacing deemed and water permits which expire in 2021, as well 
as new consents required under the National Environment Standard for Freshwater (NES-FW) and Plan 
Change 8 to the Regional Plan Water. It is anticipated that workloads will continue to increase in the 2021-
22 period due to changes at the national and regional level introducing more consent requirements and 
applications to replace existing permits. 

In addition to consent processing, work over the year has included:
 Internal process improvements aimed to increase efficiency and decrease processing costs
 Increased information on the consent process being available for the public to access on the website.
 Preparing for, providing feedback on, and implementing plan changes such as Plan

Change 7 and 8 to the Water Plan and Plan Change 1 to the Waste Plan (‘Omnibus’)
 Implementing the Action Plan for Healthy Waterways
 Training and supporting new staff that were recruited in this period

The Consents team also carries out the processing of approvals under the Flood Management Bylaw, 
applications for Building Consent under the Building Act and provides advice and information to the public 
and other teams about consent requirements. By the end of the reporting period the Building Consent 
function had been transferred to Environment Canterbury. 
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This year a significant portion of time was spent speaking to the community about the Action Plan for Healthy 
Water, including at catchment and community group meetings. This work was undertaken in parallel with 
consent processing. 

 Compliance monitoring: 
The Compliance Monitoring team completed 605 on-site consent audits this year. In addition to consents 
compliance monitoring, monitoring of permitted activities included:

 479 dairy inspections as part of the 2020/21 Dairy Inspection Compliance Project
 38 forestry inspections and review of 174 forestry management plans for compliance with the 

National Environment Standard for Plantation Forestry
All non-compliances identified through audits have been followed up by staff and either appropriate action 
has been taken, or investigations are continuing.

 Response, investigation, and enforcement: 
Incident response staff continue to provide a high level of service on the Pollution Hotline. Calls have 
remained high with 1,913 complaints received, relating to 1,268 incidents. All the incidents were responded 
to, with responses ranging from phone calls to desktop assessments and on-site investigations. Two 
prosecutions were completed this year.

Contaminated sites: 
Otago Regional Council maintains a HAIL database (Hazardous Activities and Industries List), of properties 
where information is held regarding current or past land uses that have the potential to contaminate land. 
In the year, 257 complaints and enquiries were responded to, 126 HAIL sites were registered (57 new sites) 
or updated, and 54 audits of contaminated sites were completed.

Harbours and water management: 
We are responsible for the regulation of ports, harbours, waters and maritime-related activity in Otago under 
the Maritime Transport Act. In some districts this responsibility is delegated to other councils who are 
responsible for the waters in their patch, like Queenstown Lakes District Council. Achievements in 2020-21 
included:

 Maritime delegation for Lake Dunstan was transferred to Otago Regional Council as of September 
2020. ORC and CODC navigational bylaws were merged and finalised.

 Navigation aids and signage across Otago's waters continued to be up-graded and replaced including 
in Otago Harbour and Lake Dunstan.

 Port and Harbour Marine Safety Code compliance external review was undertaken in May 2021. This 
is a joint review with Port Otago and the panel found the safety management systems fully compliant 
with the code requirements.

 Education and engagement activities included time on the water and involvement in safety 
campaigns such as the national ‘No Excuses’ campaign and the ‘Old for New’ Coastguard lifejacket 
campaign.
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COMMUNITY OUTCOMES  

Our work in Consenting, Monitoring, Investigations, and Enforcement contributes to the following 
Community Outcomes:

A healthy 
environment

A connected 
community

An engaged and 
proud 

community
A place where 

people can enjoy 
their environment 

safely, productively 
and respectfully

Service delivery that 
puts the community 

first and ensures 
that the operations 

are customer driven, 
efficient and fit-for-

purpose

Communities 
empowered to be 

the champions and 
custodians of their 

environment in 
Otago
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Flood Protection and River Management
Infrastructure to protect our communities and environment

Flood and drainage schemes  

Large, developed areas of Otago are low-lying river flats that are often close to sea-level. 

This means that protecting people’s wellbeing and livelihoods from flooding is a vital aspect of our work, as is 
maintaining and improving use of productive land through drainage and control of groundwater levels. 

Council owns and manages three flood protection schemes, three drainage schemes and one combined flood 
protection and drainage scheme. We also own but commission external management for parts of the Lower 
Waitaki River Control Scheme.

The majority of the schemes were initially built to provide protection to local communities and agriculture on 
the adjacent floodplains. Some of these floodplains such as the Taieri are below sea level. The management 
of these schemes provides benefits including access to key transport infrastructure such as Dunedin Airport 
and State Highways, and protection of critical lifeline networks such as electricity substations. The schemes 
are essential to managing risks to communities associated with natural hazards, empowering economic 
prosperity and contributing to community resilience and well-being. 

Sea-level rise predicted over the next 30 years may increase flooding and drainage risks. To prepare, we’re 
investigating these risks to determine future service and infrastructure needs. 

Increasingly, we’re seeking to collaborate with communities as we do this work.

There are nine activities that make up our significant activity, flood protection and drainage schemes: 
o Alexandra flood protection
o Leith flood protection
o Lower Clutha flood and drainage
o Lower Taieri flood protection 
o West Taieri drainage 
o East Taieri drainage 
o Tokomairiro drainage 
o Shotover River delta
o Designations and bylaws

PERFORMANCE AGAINST LEVELS OF SERVICE TARGETS

Service Statement: Manage flood risk to people and property. Maintain, repair and renew drainage assets to maintain 
and improve the productive capacity of land

Measure Targets Result

Performance against defined standards of the flood 
protection schemes and primary scheme assets 
reported by 30 June 2021.
Planned renewal works completed on programme 
and budget, and progress reported quarterly.

Flood protection, control works, and assets are 
maintained, repaired and renewed in line with the 
Infrastructure Strategy and defined standards set out in 
the operations and maintenance manuals for each 
scheme and primary assets. Planned maintenance works completed on 

programme and budget, and progress reported 
quarterly.
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Complete review including recommendations on 
the performance of the Lower Taieri River and 
primary tributaries.
The Shotover River delta is managed to ensure the 
surface profile of the river is consistent with the 
target profile for the delta

Comment on targets:
Target 1: All flood protection schemes have been operating to their expected levels of service. The Taieri Flood Protection 
Scheme experienced a moderate flood in January, this resulted in the Otakia floodbank, and the Lower Taieri Riverbank 
requiring analysis, scoping and repair.  Performance against defined standards will be included in the Annual Report for the 
Scheme; the report covers the financial year and is expected to be completed in September.
Target 2: Several of the planned flood scheme renewal works were completed on time and within budget; Renewal works 
completed include the Mill Creek Pump Station embankment repairs and Waipori Power factor correction and acquisition 
of an additional pump to supplement during events. Other renewal works are in progress but not completed. Reports 
summarising key achievements and activities for quarters 1-3 have been completed. 
Target 3: Although the majority of planned flood scheme maintenance works were completed on time and within budget, 
weather and resources have delayed some maintenance activities which are ongoing. Key maintenance activities and 
response have occurred for scheme functionality. Reports summarising key achievements and activities for quarters 1-3 
have been completed. 
Target 4: The Taieri scheme review was tendered and awarded to a consultant. The project was launched in June 2021 and 
work will commence in the new financial year. The scheme review was not completed as originally planned due to detailed 
scoping and consideration of the program being aligned with the new Long-term Plan to allow reasonable community 
engagement and council consideration. This has been set out in the Infrastructure Strategy, which also indicates that future 
programs of work will require the information from the scheme review to inform decision making. 
Target 5: The Shotover River delta management included monitoring and inspections.
Measure Targets Result

Performance against defined standards of the 
drainage schemes and primary scheme assets 
reported by 30 June 2021.
Planned renewal works completed on programme 
and budget, and progress reported quarterly.

Drainage assets are maintained and renewed in line 
with defined standards set out in the operations and 
maintenance manuals for each asset.

Planned maintenance works completed on 
programme and budget, and progress reported 
quarterly.

Comment on targets:
Target 1: Drainage schemes have been operating at the expected levels of service. Performance against defined standards 
will be included in the Annual Report for the Scheme; the report covers the financial year and is expected to be completed 
in September 2021.  Due to the report including performance up to 30 June 2021 it was unable to be completed before 30 
June 2021.
Target 2: The majority of planned drainage scheme renewal works were completed on time and within budget; three 
planned pump renewals on the Taieri scheme have been completed with a fourth deferred until spring, one pump on the 
Lower Clutha scheme was renewed as planned. Reports summarising key achievements and activities for quarters 1-3 have 
been completed. 
Target 3: Most of the planned drainage scheme maintenance works were completed on time and within budget; the annual 
drain cleaning programme was completed in Lower Clutha, Tokomairiro, and Lower Taieri schemes. The programme for the 
Taieri scheme was not fully completed with remaining work now scheduled for September 2021. Reports summarising key 
achievements and activities for quarters 1-3 have been completed.
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TELLING THE PERFORMANCE STORY
Overview of delivery and scheme performance
Planned flood protection and drainage maintenance work has progressed however the planned capital 
programme was not fully delivered due to the January 2021 flood event and the reprioritisation of resource 
to the Climate Resilience programme.  
Staffing levels have increased during the year and the team is expected to reach full capacity in 2021-22. The 
COVID-19 event has deferred work programs which have added pressure to Engineering’s planned capital 
and maintenance projects. The lockdown in 2019-20 pushed out timeframes on many projects, making them 
too close to the higher-risk winter period to conduct, which has carried the delay throughout year.

Taieri scheme review
Initial scoping assessments revealed the review would be larger than initially anticipated and the project has 
now been included in years 1 and 2 of the Long-term Plan 2021-31. The Taieri scheme performance review 
was scoped and procured in 2020-21. The contract was awarded to the successful consultant, Tonkin & Taylor 
who will commence the review in 2021-22. The review has several phases, of which the first phase of scoping 
and assessment of scheme performance is expected in 2021-22. The project was launched in June 2021. 

Climate Resilience Programme
Council entered agreement with MBIE in November 2020 to receive a funding grant totalling $5.44M across 
four projects. The funding under this agreement is received as works are completed.  Three projects were 
current renewal projects, and one project was part of the Clutha flood repair. The Climate Resilience 
programme is well underway with a launch for both Balclutha projects and Taieri projects held in March 
2021.

Clutha flood repair
The February 2020 flood in the Lower Clutha caused significant damage over multiple sites. The design, scoping 
and procurement processes enabling the completion of the majority of the sites has been achieved within planned 
time and budget allocated from Council.

Capital projects
 A number of planned capital projects were not-delivered due to a combination of under resourcing and 
additional unplanned flood recovery works and the climate resilience program. The capital works that were 
not delivered were predominantly the scoping and assessment of renewals. The deferral of these capital 
works is not considered critically detrimental to scheme performance. Further community consultation is 
required on some areas of capital renewal allocation, across the schemes. The capital works will be carried 
into the 2021-22 planning.
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COMMUNITY OUTCOMES  

Our work in Flood and Drainage Schemes contributes to the following Community Outcomes:

A healthy 
environment

A connected 
community

A strong 
economy

A future-proof 
region

A place where 
people can enjoy 

their environment 
safely, productively 

and respectfully

Service delivery that 
puts the community 

first and ensures 
that the operations 

are customer driven, 
efficient and fit-for-

purpose

A region that 
prioritises 

sustainability as an 
economic measure 

whilst being 
attractive to 

industry

A region that is 
prepared for the 

future 
environmental 

challenges and that 
retains the 

characteristics that 
make Otago a great 
place for everyone
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Rivers and Waterway Management  

Looking after our rivers and waterways sustainably is more than simply managing the risk of floods. 

It’s also about meeting community expectations for the safe, enjoyable, and respectful use of rivers and 
streams. 

Some of Otago’s major rivers have a morphology and riparian management strategies. These set out the 
community’s river values, river management objectives—including maintaining river form and riparian 
margins—and the roles of ORC, iwi, landholders, and stakeholders. 

Working together with the community, our goal is to prepare for future environmental challenges and retain 
the characteristics or our rivers and waterways that make Otago a great place for everyone.

There are nine activities that make up our significant activity, flood protection and drainage schemes: 
o Dunedin rivers and waterways 
o Clutha rivers and waterways 
o Central Otago rivers and waterways 
o Wakatipu rivers and waterways 
o Wanaka rivers and waterways 
o Waitaki rivers and waterways 
o Lower Waitaki river control scheme (Environment Canterbury)
o Non-scheme management

PERFORMANCE AGAINST LEVELS OF SERVICE TARGETS

Service Statement: Achieve a balance between maintaining channel capacity, channel stability and 
environmental outcomes in scheduled rivers and waterways

Measure Targets Result

Report annual status of scheduled rivers 
and waterways by 30 June. Investigate all reported blockages and obstructions along 

scheduled rivers and waterways and determine appropriate 
action within 20 working days. 100% of investigations have action 

determined within 20 days.         

Comment on targets:
Target 1:  Notifications under Global consent and response to blockages and obstructions are summarised in the 
Quarterly and Annual reports; the annual report covers the financial year and is expected to be completed in 
September.
Target 2: All reported blockages and obstructions in scheduled rivers and waterways, including flood blockages, 
were assessed, and attended to within 20 days. 

TELLING THE PERFORMANCE STORY:
The Engineering team has responded to all public enquiries relating to river maintenance and/or obstructions 
and coordinated timely removal and maintenance of river channels in 2020-21.

The Albert Town flood damage repair was completed on time under budget approved by Council to 
undertake the flood damage repairs. This is a significant achievement as this area of the river has challenges 
with meeting requirements of the community and outstanding natural landscape status.

Response to January flooding event was well undertaken across Otago. The main areas that experienced 
damage were Middlemarch and parts of Central Otago. Otago Regional Council worked extensively with the 
Middlemarch community with increased waterway management and communications. Work is being 
undertaken with the community on what options may be available for future flooding mitigation.
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River management activities were mostly achieved across Otago. Some catchments have had delays in 
planned vegetation management due to resources, weather events and access to these areas. These works 
are prioritised for 2021-22.

COMMUNITY OUTCOMES 
Our work in River and Waterway Management contributes to the following Community Outcomes:

A healthy 
environment

A connected 
community

A strong 
economy

A future-proof 
region

A place where 
people can enjoy 

their environment 
safely, productively 

and respectfully

Service delivery that 
puts the community 

first and ensures 
that the operations 

are customer driven, 
efficient and fit-for-

purpose

A region that 
prioritises 

sustainability as an 
economic measure 

whilst being 
attractive to 

industry

A region that is 
prepared for the 

future 
environmental 

challenges and that 
retains the 

characteristics that 
make Otago a great 
place for everyone
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Safety and Hazards
Professional services, planning and action to protect our communities and environment

Emergency Management

Maintaining and improving our communities’ resilience to emergencies is the fundamental reason for ORC’s 
work in emergency management. 

Together with territorial authorities, we have responsibilities under the Civil Defence Emergency Management 
Act 2002 to ensure Otago’s exposure to hazards is reduced, we are prepared to respond to emergencies, and 
we can recover effectively from them.

In our service delivery, we put the community first and manage operations that are geared to their needs, 
efficient and fit-for-purpose. We provide Civil Defence and Emergency Management (CDEM) programmes 
across the region centred on the national CDEM priorities of reduction, readiness, response, and recovery.

There is one activity that makes up our significant activity, Emergency Management: 
o Emergency Management

PERFORMANCE AGAINST LEVELS OF SERVICE TARGETS

Service Statement: Provide a region-wide coordinated response in the event of civil defence emergency to 
reduce the impacts on people

Measure Target Result

At least one function manager 
trained in each of the six Coordinator 
Incident Management Systems 
(CIMS) areas at all times 

ORC has suitably trained staff available to respond for any 
activation of the Group Emergency Coordination Centre at the 
direction of the group controller in response to a civil defence 
event or emergency. Group CDEM controller or alternate 

controller is available
Comment on targets:
Target 1: There is coverage of at least two trained staff (as function lead) per CIMS function. Additional D4H and 
Coordinated Incident Management System (CIMS4) training has been undertaken with ECC personnel.  
Target 2: Otago Regional Council has staff available to respond and Otago has seven CDEM group controllers which 
ensures a group controller or alternate is always available. 
Measure Target Result

CDEM is available to respond appropriately to foreseeable and 
sudden onset events. 

Duty officer is on call 24 hours, 7 days 
a week, 365 days a year 

Comment on target:
The CDEM duty phone remains in operation with a CDEM staff member available at all times.

Service statement:  Prepare and implement robust integrated suite of issue focused and community-based plans 
and strategies

Measure Target Result

An operative Group CDEM Plan is reviewed within statutory 
timeframes and fully implemented.

Achieved

Comment on target:
The Group Plan is fully implemented and due for review in 2021-22. 
Measure Target Result
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Full suite of community plans across the region is in place and 
remains under continuous review.

Status and progress on the plans are 
reported to the Co-ordinating 
Executive Group and Council

Comment on target:
A full suite of community response plans have been developed. These vary depending on community needs and 
there is an ongoing review process, as the needs of the community are constantly changing. 
Status and progress on the community plans was not reported to CEG and Council in 2020-21, however a report is 
scheduled to be presented to Council and CEG in the new financial year.
Measure Target Result

Region-wide issues plans in place and reviewed according to 
each plan. Status and progress reported to the CEG and Council 
on the following:
• Regional Dam Failure Plan
• Regional Animal Welfare Plan 
• South Island Alpine Fault Response Plan 
• Coastal Tsunami Plan

Status and progress on the agreed 
issues plans are reported to the 
Coordinating Executive Group (CEG) 
and Council

Comment on target:
Region-wide issues plans are in place and have been reviewed regularly. They encompass:

 Priority dams have plans in place. Larger district dams are encompassed in the respective community 
response plan,

 The Regional Animal Emergency Plan is in place and any further development is the responsibility of the 
Ministry of Primary Industry.  

 The Alpine Fault magnitude 8 (AF8) implementation plan is incorporated into group work plans and actions 
plans are being completed,

 The Coastal Tsunami Plan has been produced and circulated,
 The Group Recovery Plan will be updated as support for local recovery planning increases

Status and progress on the issues plans was not reported to CEG and Council in 2020-21, however a report on CDEM 
activity is scheduled to be presented to Council in the new financial year.

TELLING THE PERFORMANCE STORY
The CDEM team have been actively engaged with COVID resurgence efforts workshopping and planning for 
likely scenarios with Local and Central Government Stakeholders.

The Air Operations Plan covers how we would manage valuable air assets in a maximum credible event such 
as alpine fault. Partnering with Fire and Emergency NZ we have adopted industry best practice in approaching 
this ultimately signing an MOU with Fire and Emergency to enlist their expertise when managing such an 
event.

Otago Gets Ready is a cloud-based platform that allows communities to engage directly with us allowing 
them to record any particular skills, needs or resources they may have whilst also subscribing for email and 
text alerts from us. Initially as a pilot in Central Otago this has now been rolled out through the entire region. 

2020-21 has seen a significant investment into building the training and capability of staff within our 
Operations and Coordination Centres. With 498 staff trained to their respective operable levels we are sitting 
at 157% of the operational capacity accepted by CEG.

Although no formal response was required from June 2021 flood events CDEM staff were deployed to assist 
with CDEM efforts in Canterbury.
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COMMUNITY OUTCOMES  
Our work in Emergency Management contributes to the following Community Outcomes:

A connected 
community

An engaged and 
proud 

community

A strong 
economy

A future-proof 
region

Service delivery that 
puts the community 

first and ensures 
that the operations 

are customer driven, 
efficient and fit-for-

purpose

Communities 
empowered to be 

the champions and 
custodians of their 

environment in 
Otago

A region that 
prioritises 

sustainability as an 
economic measure 

whilst being 
attractive to 

industry

A region that is 
prepared for the 

future 
environmental 

challenges and that 
retains the 

characteristics that 
make Otago a great 
place for everyone
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Natural hazards and climate change adaptation 

We identify, monitor, and investigate natural hazards to support the safety and resilience of our communities.

Under the Resource Management Act, we’re required to investigate and provide information on natural 
hazards in Otago. We assess their scale and significance and through collaborative initiatives, assist territorial 
authorities and communities with managing natural hazard risks in their areas. The information obtained is 
published in the Otago Natural Hazards database, which is maintained by Council.

Our work includes monitoring rainfall, river, and lake levels, and flow forecasting to inform the response to 
flood.

We’re working to understand more about the future impacts of climate change on natural hazards so that we 
can work with territorial authorities and communities to prepare and adapt.

There are three activities that make up our significant activity, natural hazards and climate change 
adaptation: 

o Natural hazards
o Flood and low flow risk management
o Climate change adaptation 

PERFORMANCE AGAINST LEVELS OF SERVICE TARGETS

Service statement:  Delivering information to the community and decision-makers about natural hazards 

Measure Target Result

Natural hazard information is available to the public and to 
communities via an effective web-based Otago Natural 
Hazards Database. 

Otago Natural Hazards Database is 
available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week

Comment on target:
Otago natural hazard database operated to agreed service levels and was publicly available 24hrs/7 days a week.

Service statement:  Provide timely warnings of potential flood events

Measure Target Result

Accurate and reliable rainfall, lake levels, and river flow 
information is provided to potentially affected groups and 
communities and is provided in an efficient and timely 
fashion. 

All flood warnings that exceed trigger 
levels are published on Otago Regional 
Councils website when notified. 

Service Statement: Investigate and respond to priority natural hazard events 

Measure Target Result

Natural hazard events and consequences are properly and 
timely reported on so that appropriate measures to reduce 
risk are taken.

All priority natural hazards events are 
investigated and reported

Comment on target:
A heavy rainfall event affected the region in early January 2021. Post event observations and data, such 
as river cross sections were collected. The flooding in Middlemarch was investigated and public meetings 
to report on the event occurred in February and June. 
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Comment on target:
A 24-hour flood management and response system operated through-out the year. There were 60 instances in 2020-
21 that a flood warning trigger was reached in the region. All the flood warnings were automatically published on 
the WaterInfo website.

Service statement:  Assist communities to understand and adapt to the effects of climate change

Measure Target Result

Establishment of a Climate Change Adaptation Programme. Progress on programme development 
is reported to council by 30 June 2021

Comment on target:
Supporting work for the establishment of a Climate Change Adaptation Programme in 2020-21 included 
collaboration with central government, strengthening ties with district and city Councils and the completion of the 
first Otago Climate Change Risk Assessment, which was presented to the Data and Information Committee in March. 
The risk assessment will provide the evidence base to support adaptation programmes and initiatives in the region. 
Reports on aspects of our Climate change work were presented to Council through-out the year, however a specific 
report on development of a Climate Change adaptation programme was not presented. Further development of a 
Climate Change Adaptation Programme is included in the Long-term Plan.
Measure Target Result

Complete Otago region emissions 
footprint inventory and report to 
Council by 30 June
Complete ORC emissions footprint 
inventory and report to Council by 30 
June

Complete assessments of current CO2 emissions in Otago, 
which can inform communities and decision makers.

Complete feasibility study of lower 
emission public transport and report to 
council by 30 June 

Comment on targets:
Target1: Otago region Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions inventory was completed and a report presented to the 
Data and Information committee in June. 
Target 2: The Otago Regional Council’s GHG emissions inventory was completed and the full report presented to 
Council in November. The inventory tallied Council’s total gross GHG output over the 12-month period at 578 tonnes, 
made up mostly from transport fuels, domestic air travel, and purchased electricity. The report also outlined a plan 
of recommended actions for reducing Council’s carbon footprint.
Target 3: The feasibility study of lower emission public transport was not completed as Otago Regional Council is 
working with other councils looking at sector wide issues and options. The Council is participating in a regional 
council’s Transport Special Interest Group (TSIG) project investigating decarbonising the public transport fleet. The 
results of this project will inform Otago Regional Council’s feasibility study.  Work on the project has included 
reviewing Auckland Transport's Low Emission Bus Roadmap, and the Ministry of Transport's 'Public Transport 
Operating Model (PTOM) Decarbonisation Option Development' paper. A submission to the Ministry of Transport 
from the TSIG is expected early in the new financial year. 

TELLING THE PERFORMANCE STORY
Natural hazards:
The work programme for 2020-21 covered a wide range of natural hazards across the region and included 
technical support for the Waitaki District Council (WDC) district plan review, updating seismic information 
for Dunedin City (DCC)and Clutha Districts (CDC) as well as starting a programme of LiDAR data capture of 
Coastal Otago. The support to WDC included natural hazard information and communication support, as well 
as presenting at public meetings on the main natural hazards faced by the different communities of Moeraki, 
Kakanui, Oamaru, and the Waitaki plains.

Council Meeting 2021.10.27

Council Meeting Agenda - 27 October 2021 - MATTERS FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION

64



49

Updated seismic info for DCC and CDC was presented to the Data and Information Committee in June and is 
available on the NHDB. This project is the last step of a programme of work, which started in 2016 and is 
aimed at better understanding the location and characteristics of faults in Otago.

Council started a three-year programme of LiDAR data capture work with three priority areas (Dunedin, 
Otago coast and Manuherekia catchment and surrounding). Capture of parts of priority area 1 (Dunedin and 
Mosgiel urban areas) was completed in June 2021 and further capture is planned for July/August 2021.

Flood and low flow risk management: 
A 24-hour flood management and response system operated during the year. This financial year was marked 
by a significant heavy rainfall event that affected most parts of the region in January 2021. Timely forecasts, 
warnings and relevant weather, flow and water level information were provided to Civil Defence, district and 
city councils and to the public during the January heavy rainfall event and for smaller heavy rainfall events 
during the year. This information has also been used to inform decision around the preparedness and 
management of the flood protection schemes in the region. The commissioning by MetService of the first 
weather radar in Otago in December 2020 was a milestone to improve rainfall information available for a 
large part of the region and helped to inform the response to heavy rainfall events.

Climate change:
Otago climate change reports:  Otago Regional Council received its first Otago Climate Change Risk 
Assessment at a meeting of the Data and Information Committee in March. The Risk Assessment is a 
milestone report on the impacts of climate change and its associated risks and opportunities for the region. 
The report is available on the ORC website.

All district and city councils in Otago were consulted, and sector leads and experts from Otago and beyond 
had input. Over 70 groups and specialists were invited to contribute to the Risk Assessment, such as the 
Department of Conservation, Heritage New Zealand, New Zealand Insurance Council, and the Otago 
Chamber of Commerce. The Risk Assessment was undertaken with input from Aukaha and Kā Rūnaka, and 
staff will continue to work with Rūnaka on a Kāi Tahu approach to climate change risk assessment.

The report provides a picture of the dramatic ways in which climate change is set to affect the Otago region 
over the coming decades. Climate change will exacerbate existing challenges and introduce new ones.  The 
report will help guide actions within and beyond Otago Regional Council; it is filled with data and projections 
that will inform how we as a region adapt to the challenges and rise to the opportunities of climate change. 

Otago region’s first Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions inventory was also prepared this year, in collaboration 
with Otago’s five city and district councils. The full report was presented to Data and Information committee 
in June. The GHG inventory, together with the Otago Climate Change Risk Assessment, will provide a good 
basis to develop a regional partnership approach to the current and future challenges of climate change.

Climate change adaptation programme:
The climate change adaptation programme in 2020-21 focussed on South Dunedin, the Clutha delta and the 
head of Lake Wakatipu. Milestones in the climate change programme included the completion of the first 
Otago Climate Change Risk Assessment, a regional Greenhouse Gas (GHG) emissions inventory and an 
inventory of the Council’s organisational GHG emissions.

Collaboration with district and city councils on adaptation continued to strengthen during the financial year, 
particularly for South Dunedin and for the area at the head of Lake Wakatipu where notable progress has 
been made on gaining a better understanding of the physical environment and natural hazards and on 
community engagement on natural hazards and risks.

Collaboration with central government on climate change adaptation matters has continued, including 
participation in the Ministry for the Environment’s work through workshops on the development of the 
National Adaptation Plan.
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Head of Lake Wakatipu: significant progress on technical investigations, two major engagement session with 
the Community in December and April to present expected changes to the physical environment and discuss 
adaptation approaches. Approach adopted by Council in May. Council established specific communication 
channels for this project including a dedicated webpage and a monthly newsletter.

South Dunedin: Continuation of the technical work programme focusing on better understanding the 
physical environment and expected changes. Information on liquefaction was presented to Data and 
Information Committee in October 2020. Additional work to refine the understanding of groundwater and 
geology is underway, with drilling expected to be completed by August 2021. Otago Regional Council has 
been working with DCC to develop a joint work programme. 

Clutha delta: A coastal hazard assessment was completed in June which will guide future adaptation 
planning for the area as well as informing Otago Regional Council’s infrastructure management (flood 
protection and drainage scheme).

COMMUNITY OUTCOMES  
Our work in Natural Hazards and Climate Change Adaptation contributes to the following Community 
Outcomes:

An engaged and 
proud 

community

A strong 
economy

A future-proof 
region

Communities 
empowered to be 

the champions and 
custodians of their 

environment in 
Otago

A region that 
prioritises 

sustainability as an 
economic measure 

whilst being 
attractive to 

industry

A region that is 
prepared for the 

future 
environmental 

challenges and that 
retains the 

characteristics that 
make Otago a great 
place for everyone
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Transport
Planning, contract management and action to provide choice and support the regional economy

Transport Planning and Public Passenger Transport

We’re responsible for implementing public transport services in Otago. Our aim is to provide efficient, reliable 
public transport services that meet community needs. Through contracted operators, we provide public 
passenger transport services in Dunedin and Queenstown. 

We also provide a regionwide Total Mobility Scheme to assist eligible people with impairments, who are 
unable to use public transport because of their impairment.

We prepare a Regional Land Transport Plan in collaboration with Environment Southland and a Regional Public 
Transport Plan.

 There are three activities that make up our significant activity, Transport: 
o Regional Land Transport Plan (RLTP)
o Public transport 
o Stock truck effluent disposal

PERFORMANCE AGAINST LEVELS OF SERVICE TARGETS

Service Statement: To provide efficient and reliable public transport services that meet community needs

Measure Target Result

Reliability of service – at least 95% of monitored 
services leave the terminus on time* (as defined by 
NZTA).

Average of at least 95% per month

Comment on target:
Transport have been trialling a reliability report using real-time tracking software in in Dunedin from March 
2021 and in Queenstown from 2019.  The real-time tracking has provided a higher level of confidence and 
accuracy in service monitoring.  Tracking data below provides a comparison of average departure time vs 
schedule from terminus and the from Bus Hub (Dunedin) and Frankton Interchange (Queenstown) from April 
– June 2021.  

Average reliability to schedule (minutes) for April-June 2021

Supplier Go Bus Dunedin Ritchies Dunedin Ritchies Queenstown

Location Terminus Bus Hub Terminus Bus Hub Terminus Frankton 
Minutes 2.17 1.21 2.32 1.33 1.55 1.51

For the period services were on average departing within 1.2 and 2.3 minutes of their scheduled departure 
times. Overall, the average (mean) illustrates that the service is running very close to the schedule, noting 
however that within the mean data there will be some significant variations, particularly at peak times. 
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Measure Target Result

Vehicle quality - 100% of vehicle fleet complies with 
Regional Passenger Transport Vehicle quality standards 
at annual audit.

100%

Comment on target:
Fleet inspections were completed by January and 100% comply with Waka Kotahi NZTA’s vehicle quality 
standards (Requirements for Urban Buses). During the year all vehicles were fitted with new ticketing 
hardware and GPS-based real-time tracking. 
A secondary set of supplementary inspections related to accessibility were also undertaken in conjunction 
with a specialist Accessibility Advisor, over and above mandatory NZTA inspections.
Measure Target Result

Public Satisfaction – at least 85% of bus users surveyed 
annually for each network are satisfied with the overall 
standard of service.

85%

Comment on target:
Orbus Dunedin scored 94% and Orbus Wakatipu came in at 96% for overall passenger satisfaction, in the 
Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Authority surveys, which were conducted in the last quarter of the 2020-21 
financial year.
Measure Target Result

Patronage recovery, post COVID-19 in Dunedin and 
Queenstown, will be reported to Council quarterly for 
2020-21.

Reported quarterly

Comment on target: 
Patronage for the year was 2,706,191 for Dunedin and 889,063 for Queenstown, which is 106% and 60% 
respectively, when compared to pre-COVID patronage rates. 
Dunedin is outperforming other NZ centres and is the only network trending higher than pre- COVID figures; 
contributing factors may include the introduction of Bee Card and the $2 fare trial. In Queenstown the 
reduced level of airport/tourist activity and the broader impacts of COVID on the local economy has resulted 
in lower patronage.  Quarterly reports on patronage were presented to the Data and Information Committee 
in March and June 2021. 
Measure Target Result

Implement a trial Lake Wakatipu Ferry service as per 
community consultation feedback and Council 
directive. 

Trial commences in 2020-21 financial 
year

Comment on target: 
The ferry trial commenced, however at a reduced level of service due to reduced demand for public transport 
services in Queenstown as a result of COVID -19 impacting visitor numbers.
Measure Target Result

The Regional Public Transport Plan (RPTP) is prepared 
in accordance with the Land Transport Management 
Act 2003 and any guidance issued by the Waka Kotahi 
New Zealand Transport Agency (NZTA). 

Regional Public Transport Plan 
(RPTP) completed and adopted by 
Council by 30 June

Comment on target: 
The RPTP was completed and adopted by Council on 23 June 2021.  

*On-time is considered to be scheduled service trips leaving origin stop between 59 seconds before and four minutes and 59 
seconds after the scheduled departure time.
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Service Statement: Facilitate and support prioritised investment in Otago’s transport network by local and 
central government
Measure Target Result

The Regional Land Transport Plan (RLTP) is prepared and 
submitted in line with the Land Transport Management Act 
2003 and any guidance issued by the New Zealand Transport 
Agency (NZTA)

Regional Land Transport Plan (RLTP) 
completed and adopted by Council by 
30 June 

Comment on target:
The RLTP was prepared, adopted by Council on 23 June 2021 and submitted to the Waka Kotahi NZ Transport 
Agency.
Measure Target Result

Collaborate with Environment Southland and other South 
Island local authorities to establish and deliver on pan-
regional priorities for transport investment.

Pan-regional priorities presented to 
government/NZTA

Comment on target:
Strategic land transport planning happened in collaboration with territorial authorities, regional councils and Waka 
Kotahi NZ Transport Agency, primarily through the preparation of a new regional land transport plan. Activities 
across the year included meetings of the Otago and Southland Technical Advisory Groups, meetings of the 
Otago/Southland Regional Transport Committee, as well as virtual, and in-person, meetings of the South Island 
Regional Transport Committee Chairs and Deputy Chairs.

TELLING THE PERFORMANCE STORY 
Regional Land Transport Plan (RLTP)
The preparation of a new Regional Land Transport Plan (RLTP) was undertaken this year, involving cross-
regional collaboration with the Southland Regional Transport Committee (RTC) and the other South Island 
local government regions. The RLTP is prepared by each regional council’s Regional Transport Committee, 
which are supported by respective regional Technical Advisory Groups. In February the draft RLTP was 
adopted by Otago and Southland RTC’s. The draft was released in March and public submissions sought. The 
RTC hearing's panel heard submitters in Dunedin and Queenstown in April and the RLTP review was 
completed and adopted by Council on 23 June 2021.

Public transport 
Transport services have been impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic (Queenstown more so than Dunedin)  
Following the move out of lockdown last financial year, Council has implemented a number of initiatives to 
improve public transport customer experience including the introduction of the Bee Card, $2 flat fare trial 
and app based real-time information across both networks.

Bee card roll-out:
Bee Card replaced GoCard as the electronic bus card for the Orbus networks in Dunedin and Queenstown 
from September. The Bee Card is a simple tag on tag off system that makes it easier for passengers to get on 
and off the bus, ideal during peak bus usage. As well as benefits to customers, it provides Council with useful 
information about when, where and how people are travelling, which will help us improve the networks. 
Until the Bee Card went live, buses in Otago remained free. The Bee card is also used in eight other regions 
in New Zealand.

$2 flat fare trial:
Council consulted the public on a short-term flat fare structure for Dunedin and received over 1,400 
submissions during the one-month consultation period. Council subsequently approved a trial of a flat fare 
structure, removing fare zones in Dunedin and replacing them with one zone and three simple fares, plus 
free off-peak travel for SuperGold card holders.
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Real-time information trial: From the end of April 2021 real-time information about bus locations was 
available for the Dunedin and Queenstown bus networks on the free Transit app and the Otago Regional 
Council website. The app is free, easy to use and available for iPhones and Android devices. As well as real-
time bus information, it offers the ability for users to plan their journey, with step-by-step navigation and 
timing, and be notified of service disruptions affecting their journey. Additionally, a solar-powered e-stop at 
Macandrew Bay in Dunedin provides a real time feed, with a view to sending real time information to the 
several e-stops at the Dunedin Bus Hub in the future. A second solar powered e-stop has been issued to 
QLDC for installation at Arthur’s Point, Queenstown.

Regional Public Transport Plan (RPTP):
A review of the Regional Public Transport Plan (RPTP) was undertaken this year and involved scoping and 
engagement with both local and central government partners and the public. Stakeholder roadshows were 
held in Dunedin and Queenstown in March to test draft challenges, vision and objectives. In April Council 
approved a draft RPTP and this was released in May and public submissions sought. The RPTP was adopted 
by Council on 23 June.  The Regional Public Transport Plan (RPTP) and the Regional Land Transport Plan 
(RLTP) are available on the ORC website. 

Stock truck effluent disposal 
Construction of a stock truck effluent disposal (STED) was completed at Tarras in April and brings the total 
number of STED’s across Otago to nine. Council has regularly emptied and maintained the three Central 
Otago STEDs through-out the year. The others are emptied and maintained by the territorial authorities.

COMMUNITY OUTCOMES  

Our work in Transport contributes to the following Community Outcomes:

A connected 
community

A strong 
economy

Service delivery that 
puts the community 

first and ensures 
that the operations 

are customer driven, 
efficient and fit-for-

purpose

A region that 
prioritises 

sustainability as an 
economic measure 

whilst being 
attractive to 

industry
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Section three: Financial statements
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Funding impact statements for Otago Regional Council activities

The council is required to include Funding Impact statements in its annual report in accordance with the Local 
Government (Financial Reporting and Prudence) Regulations 2014 (the regulations).  Refer to the regulations for more 
information, including definitions or some of the terms used in this statement.

Council Funding Impact Statement for the Year Ended 30 June 2021

Actual

2020/21
$000

Annual
Plan

2020/21
$000

Actual

2019/20
$000

Annual 
Plan

2019/20
$000

Sources of operating funding
General rates, uniform annual general charge and rate 
penalties 11,768 11,180 11,762 11,180
Targeted rates (other than a targeted rate for water supply)

15,814 15,777 15,191 15,183
Subsidies and grants for operating purpose 19,007 11,474 12,235 12,133
Fees, charges and targeted rates for water supply 2,748 5,050 2,894 3,570
Interest and dividends from investments 10,576 11,100 10,393 9,412
Local authorities fuel tax, fines, infringement fees and other 
receipts 12,060 11,702 10,572 10,493

Total operating funding (A) 71,973 66,282 63,047 61,971

Applications of operating funding
Payments to staff and suppliers 81,443 68,732 63,447 61,670
Finance costs - 104 - 104
Other operating funding applications - 651 - 52

Total applications of operating funding (B) 81,443 69,487 63,447 61,826

Surplus (deficit) of operating funding (A-B) (9,470) (3,204) (400) 145

Sources of capital funding
Subsidies and grants for capital expenditure - - - -
Development and financial contributions - - - -
Increase (decrease) in debt - - - -
Gross proceeds from sale of assets 1,610 410 72 410
Lump sum contributions - - - -
Other dedicated capital funding - - - -

Total sources of capital funding (C) 1,610 410 72 410

Application of capital funding
Capital expenditure:
- to meet additional demand - - - -
- to improve the level of service 2,660 1,965 3,616 1,933
- to replace existing assets 2,886 4,936 1,308 3,341
Increase (decrease) in reserves (13,406) (9,695) (5,252) (4,719)
Increase (decrease) of investments - - - -

Total applications of capital funding (D) (7,860) (2,794) (328) 555

Surplus (deficit) of capital funding (C-D) (9,470) 3,204 400 (145)

Funding balance ((A-B) + (C-D)) - - - -
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Reconciliation of Council Funding Impact Statement to Statement of 
Comprehensive Revenue and Expense for the Year Ended 30 June 2021

Actual

2020/21
$000

Annual
Plan

2020/21
$000

Actual

2019/20
$000

Annual
Plan

2019/20
$000

Surplus/(deficit) of Operating Funding in Funding 
Impact Statement (9,470) (3,204) (400) 145

Add/(deduct)
Increase in the fair value of investment property 1,542 - 1,386 -
Increase in the fair value of investment portfolio 2,458 - 416 -
Gain/(Loss) on disposal of assets 834 417 54 344
Depreciation and amortisation (3,360) (2,967) (2,841) (2,531)
Impairment (loss)/reversal on property plant and 
equipment 121 - (298) -
Write-off of property plant and equipment work in 
progress - (2,380) -
Other (579) 586 (44) (233)

Surplus/(deficit) before taxation in Statement of 
Comprehensive Revenue and Expense (8,454) (5,168) (4,107) (2,275)

Schedule of Capital Expenditure
Actual

2020/21
$000

Annual
Plan

2020/21
$000

Actual

2019/20
$000

Annual
Plan

2019/20
$000

River Management, Flood Protection and Control Works
Alexandra flood - - 12 -
East Taieri drainage 94 218 - 339
Leith flood protection - 680 1,587 1,202
Lower Clutha flood and drainage 1,306 740 37 68
Lower Taieri flood protection 264 1,600 42 802
Tokomairiro - 80 - 95
West Taieri drainage 106 563 6 450
Wanaka river management 797 - - -
Sundry 21 - - -

Environmental
Air monitoring 110 60 41 51
Water monitoring sites 480 525 430 445
Pest management 20 5 3 5
Harbour Management 45 30 36 -
Environmental Enhancement - - - -

Transport
Dunedin/Wakatipu 639 - 575 -
Stock truck effluent disposal sites 210 600 82 -

Corporate
Property 346 100 184 50
Cars and station wagons 332 675 541 677
Computers and software 715 955 1,128 1,017
Plant 23 20 210 21
Sundry 37 50 11 51
Total 5,545 6,901 4,925 5,273
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Funding Impact Statement                                                                         Environmental

Funding Impact Statement for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Actual

2020/21
$000

Long Term
Plan

2020/21
$000

Actual

2019/20
$000

Long Term
Plan

2019/20
$000

Sources of operating funding
General rates, uniform annual general charge and rate 
penalties 3,456 4,902 3,669 4,394
Targeted rates (other than a targeted rate for water 
supply) 891 1,840 1,547 1,543
Subsidies and grants for operating purpose 6,204 55 1,790 824
Fees, charges and targeted rates for water supply - 381 - 376
Internal charges and overheads recovered 288 - 305 -
Local authorities fuel tax, fines, infringement fees and 
other receipts 3,696 4,948 3,926 4,682

Total operating funding (A) 14,535 12,126 11,237 11,819

Applications of operating funding
Payments to staff and suppliers 13,214 4,674 6,991 4,895
Finance costs - - - -
Internal charges and overheads applied 3,184 8,227 3,257 7,731
Other operating funding applications - - - -

Total applications of operating funding (B) 16,398 12,901 10,248 12,626

Surplus (deficit) of operating funding (A-B) (1,863) (775) 989 (807)

Sources of capital funding
Subsidies and grants for capital expenditure - - - -
Development and financial contributions - - - -
Increase (decrease) in debt - - - -
Gross proceeds from sale of assets - - - -
Lump sum contributionS - - - -
Other dedicated capital funding - - - -

Total sources of capital funding (C) - - - -

Application of capital funding
Capital expenditure:
- to meet additional demand - - - -
- to improve the level of service 470 176 367 136
- to replace existing assets 139 311 81 346
Increase (decrease) in reserves (2,472) (1,262) 541 (1,289)
Increase (decrease) of investments - - - -

Total applications of capital funding (D) (1,863) (775) 989 (807)

Surplus (deficit) of capital funding (C-D) 1,863 775 (989) 807

Funding balance ((A-B) + (C-D)) - - - -
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Funding Impact Statement                Regional Leadership

Funding Impact Statement for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Actual

2020/21
$000

Long Term
Plan

2020/21
$000

Actual

2019/20
$000

Long Term
Plan

2019/20
$000

Sources of operating funding
General rates, uniform annual general charge and rate 
penalties 5,052 4,428 4,854 4,296
Targeted rates (other than a targeted rate for water 
supply) - - - -
Subsidies and grants for operating purpose 25 202 25 157
Fees, charges and targeted rates for water supply

-
136

- 133
Internal charges and overheads recovered - - - -
Local authorities fuel tax, fines, infringement fees and 
other receipts 4,847 3,585 4,694 3,620

Total operating funding (A) 9,924 8,351 9,573 8,206

Applications of operating funding
Payments to staff and suppliers 12,349 2,761 7,585 3,030
Finance costs - - - -
Internal charges and overheads applied 2,985 5,511 3,208 5,270
Other operating funding applications - 6 - 6

Total applications of operating funding (B) 15,334 8,278 10,793 8,306

Surplus (deficit) of operating funding (A-B)
(5,410) 73 (1,220) (100)

Sources of capital funding
Subsidies and grants for capital expenditure - - - -
Development and financial contributions - - - -
Increase (decrease) in debt - - - -
Gross proceeds from sale of assets - - - -
Lump sum contributions - - - -
Other dedicated capital funding - - - -

Total sources of capital funding (C) - - - -

Application of capital funding
Capital expenditure:
- to meet additional demand - - - -
- to improve the level of service 1 21 - 21
- to replace existing assets - - - -
Increase (decrease) in reserves (5,411) 52 (1,220) (121)
Increase (decrease) of investments - - - -

Total applications of capital funding (D) (5,410) 73 (1,220) (100)

Surplus (deficit) of capital funding (C-D) 5,410 (73) 1,220 100

Funding balance ((A-B) + (C-D)) - - - -

Regional Leadership includes the significant activities described in the 2018-2028 Long Term Plan as Policy and 
Planning and Community.
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Funding Impact Statement                  Regulatory

Funding Impact Statement for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Actual

2020/21
$000

Long Term
Plan

2020/21
$000

Actual

2019/20
$000

Long Term
Plan

2019/20
$000

Sources of operating funding
General rates, uniform annual general charge and rate 
penalties 1,654 960 1,770 916
Targeted rates (other than a targeted rate for water 
supply) 188 - - -
Subsidies and grants for operating purpose 104 - 65 -
Fees, charges and targeted rates for water supply

2,752 2,543 2,894 2,425
Internal charges and overheads recovered 43 - - -
Local authorities fuel tax, fines, infringement fees and 
other receipts 2,088 787 1,857 780

Total operating funding (A) 6,829 4,290 6,586 4,121

Applications of operating funding
Payments to staff and suppliers 6,411 377 4,613 369
Finance costs - - - -
Internal charges and overheads applied 4,429 3,901 3,417 3,741
Other operating funding applications - - - -

Total applications of operating fundiNG (B) 10,840 4,278 8,030 4,110

Surplus (deficit) of operating funding (A-B) (4,011) 12 (1,444) 11

Sources of capital funding
Subsidies and grants for capital expenditure - - - -
Development and financial contributions - - - -
Increase (decrease) in debt - - - -
Gross proceeds from sale of assets - - - -
Lump sum contributions - - - -
Other dedicated capital funding - - - -

Total sources of capital funding (C) - - - -

Application of capital funding
Capital expenditure:
- to meet additional demand - - - -
- to improve the level of service 50 - 36 -
- to replace existing assets - 21 11 21
Increase (decrease) in reserves (4,061) (9) (1,491) (10)
Increase (decrease) of investments - - - -

Total applications of capital funding (D) (4,011) 12 (1,444) 11

Surplus (deficit) of capital funding (C-D) 4,011 (12) 1,444 (11)

Funding balance ((A-B) + (C-D)) - - - -
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 Funding Impact Statement                           Flood Protection and River Management

Funding Impact Statement for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Actual

2020/21
$000

Long Term
Plan

2020/21
$000

Actual

2019/20
$000

Long Term
Plan

2019/20
$000

Sources of operating funding
General rates, uniform annual general charge and rate 
penalties 400 352 181 332
Targeted rates (other than a targeted rate for water 
supply) 6,203 6,213 5,928 5,992
Subsidies and grants for operating purpose 732 - - -
Fees, charges and targeted rates for water supply

(4) 208 - 239
Internal charges and overheads recovered - - - -
Local authorities fuel tax, fines, infringement fees and 
other receipts 1,030 529 602 525

Total operating funding (A) 8,361 7,302 6,712 7,088

Applications of operating funding
Payments to staff and suppliers 5,418 3,261 3,060 3,268
Finance costs - - - -
Internal charges and overheads applied 1,373 2,268 1,145 2,227
Other operating funding applications - - - -

Total applications of operating funding (B) 6,791 5,529 4,205 5,495

Surplus (deficit) of operating funding (A-B) 1,570 1,773 2,507 1,593

Sources of capital funding
Subsidies and grants for capital expenditure - - - -
Development and financial contributions - - - -
Increase (decrease) in debt - - - -
Gross proceeds from sale of assets 1,523 - - -
Lump sum contributions - - - -
Other dedicated capital funding - - - -

Total sources of capital funding (C) 1,523 - - -

Application of capital funding
Capital expenditure:
- to meet additional demand - - - -
- to improve the level of service 389 583 1,610 1,195
- to replace existing assets 2,186 2,381 72 1,214
Increase (decrease) in reserves 518 (1,191) 825 (816)
Increase (decrease) of investments - - - -

Total applications of capital funding (D) 3,093 1,773 2,507 1,593

Surplus (deficit) of capital funding (C-D) (1,570) (1,773) (2,507) (1,593)

Funding balance ((A-B) + (C-D)) - - - -
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Funding Impact Statement                                                                                      Safety and Hazards

Funding Impact Statement for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Actual

2020/21
$000

Long Term
Plan

2020/21
$000

Actual

2019/20
$000

Long Term
Plan

2019/20
$000

Sources of operating funding
General rates, uniform annual general charge and rate 
penalties 883 629 934 613
Targeted rates (other than a targeted rate for water 
supply) 2,664 2,460 2,474 2,416
Subsidies and grants for operating purpose - - 90 -
Fees, charges and targeted rates for water supply - - - -
Internal charges and overheads recovered - - - -
Local authorities fuel tax, fines, infringement fees and 
other receipts 1,035 522 900 530

Total operating funding (A) 4,582 3,611 4,398 3,559

Applications of operating funding
Payments to staff and suppliers 2,740 1,102 2,609 1,153
Finance costs - - - -
Internal charges and overheads applied 1,277 2,641 1,953 2,628
Other operating funding applications - - - -

Total applications of operating funding (B) 4,017 3,743 4,562 3,781

Surplus (deficit) of operating funding (A-B) 565 (132) (164) (222)

Sources of capital funding
Subsidies and grants for capital expenditure - - - -
Development and financial contributions - - - -
Increase (decrease) in debt - - - -
Gross proceeds from sale of assets - - - -
Lump sum contributions - - - -
Other dedicated capital funding - - - -

Total sources of capital funding (C) - - - -

Application of capital funding
Capital expenditure:
- to meet additional demand - - - -
- to improve the level of service 32 - 26 -
- to replace existing assets - - - -
Increase (decrease) in reserves 533 (132) (190) (222)
Increase (decrease) of investments - - -

Total applications of capital funding (D) 565 (132) (164) (222)

Surplus (deficit) of capital funding (C-D) (565) 132 164 222

Funding balance ((A-B) + (C-D)) - - - -
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Funding Impact Statement                                                                                    Transport

Funding Impact Statement for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Actual

2020/21
$000

Long Term
Plan

2020/21
$000

Actual

2019/20
$000

Long Term
Plan

2019/20
$000

Sources OF operating funding
General rates, uniform annual general charge and rate 
penalties 323 275 352 264
Targeted rates (other than a targeted rate for water 
supply) 5,869 5,722 5,242 5,229
Subsidies and grants for operating purpose 11,093 8,888 10,265 9,206
Fees, charges and targeted rates for water supply

- 139 - 241
Internal charges and overheads recovered - - - -
Local authorities fuel tax, fines, infringement fees and 
other receipts 9,673 8,853 8,986 8,492

Total operating funding (A) 26,958 23,877 24,845 23,432

Applications of operating funding
Payments to staff and suppliers 28,513 23,965 24,752 24,275
Finance costs - - - 2
Internal charges and overheads applied 712 1,039 986 1,009
Other operating funding applications - - - -

Total applications of operating funding (B) 29,225 25,006 25,738 25,285

Surplus (deficit) of operating funding (A-B) (2,267) (1,129) (893) (1,853)

Sources of capital funding
Subsidies and grants for capital expenditure 849 - - -
Development and financial contributions - - - -
Increase (decrease) in debt - - - -
Gross proceeds from sale of assets - - - -
Lump sum contributions - - - -
Other dedicated capital funding - - - -

Total sources of capital funding (C) 849 - - -

Application of capital funding
Capital expenditure:
- to meet additional demand - - - -
- to improve the level of service 846 - 658 -
- to replace existing assets 3 - - -
Increase (decrease) in reserves (2,267) (1,129) (1,551) (1,853)
Increase (decrease) of investments - - -

Total applications of capital funding (D) (1,418) (1,129) (893) (1,853)

Surplus (deficit) of capital funding (C-D) 2,267 1,129 893 1,853

Funding balance ((A-B) + (C-D)) - - - -
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Financial Statements

This section reports the results of the Otago Regional Council as a separate entity and the consolidated results of the 
group comprising the Council and Port Otago Limited.

Port Otago Limited

The Council is the 100% shareholder of Port Otago Limited.  The Council views its shareholding role as one of trustee 
for the people of Otago, a position widely supported throughout the region.  Each year Port Otago Limited produces a 
Statement of Corporate Intent, which is then formally approved by Council.  As its owner, the Council does not 
participate in the management and operation of the company; this is left in the care of the Directors of Port Otago 
Limited and its management.  Port Otago Limited reports to Council on a six-monthly basis its performance results for 
the period.  The results of Port Otago Limited for the year ended 30 June 2021 have been incorporated into the Group 
results included within these financial statements.

Overview of Financial Performance

Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expenses
The total comprehensive revenue and expense gain of $67.612 million comprises an operating deficit for the year of 
$8.354 million and a revaluation gain of $75.966 million.  The deficit of $8.354 million is $3.186 million more than the 
budgeted deficit of $5.168 million.  

The following major items contributed to this variance:
 $1.6 million New Zealand Transport Authority (NZTA) grant revenue to cover increased bus operational costs
 $0.7 million grant money received for the climate resilience project on the lower Clutha flood scheme
 $1.6 million reduction in compliance monitoring revenue with resources being focused on business 

improvements which were non-chargeable.
 $2.5 million above budget legal expenses with the majority $1.9 million being incurred due to unbudgeted 

costs for Plan change 7 and Regional Policy Statement work on freshwater visions and mediation.
 $1.5 million re classification of aerial imagery and ticketing system software as expenditure. This was  budgeted 

as capital
 $2 million unbudgeted consultant expenditure in consent ($1.5 million) and policy ($0.5 million) 
 $0.8 million unbudgeted expenditure for costs accrued to pay bus drivers the living wage from 1 July 2020

Revaluation Gain
The revaluation gain of $75.966 million reflects the gain on the revaluation of the Council’s shareholding in the Port 
Otago Limited Group at 30 June 2021 and is greater than the gain of $7.000 million provided for in the budget by $68.966 
million.  The budgeted increase is a nominal estimate only, as the major factors contributing to the valuation are not 
able to be forecast with any significant degree of accuracy. The quantum of the gain does not impact directly on the 
operations of the Council during the year.

Statement of Financial Position
Total Assets 
Total assets at $765.8 million exceeds the budgeted amount of $700.8 million by $65 million. 

The following major items contributed to this variance:
 Cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets (our managed investment fund) have a combined amount 

of $29.7 million and are $5.2 million above the budget amount of $24.5 million.  
 Shares in subsidiary: The valuation of the Council shareholding in Port Otago Limited at 30 June 2021 of $612.3 

million, exceeding the budgeted amount of $548.2 million by $64.1 million.
 Intangible assets is $1.9 million and is $3.4 million below the budgeted amount of $5.3 million.  This variance 

from budget is caused by the re classification as expenditure of some software projects including aerial imagery 
and ticketing system software.  

 Investment property of $16.5 million is $2.2 million great than budget of $14.3 million due to the increased 
valuation of Council’s investment property.
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All other assets and liabilities are in line with budget.

Equity
Public equity and reserves at $745.8 million exceed the budgeted amount of $686.6 million by $59.2 million.  The major 
factor in the variance is the Available for Sale revaluation reserve, which records the accumulated revaluation gains on 
the annual revaluations of the Council’s shareholding in Port Otago Limited. The budgeted balance of the reserve at 30 
June 2021 was $528.2 million, whereas the actual balance is $592.3 million, a variance of $64.1 million. 
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Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense 
for the Year Ended 30 June 2021

Notes

Council
2021
$000

Council
Budget

$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Rates revenue 3 27,015 26,957 26,501 26,957 26,465
Grant revenue and subsidies 19,007 11,474 12,235         19,007 12,235
Other revenue 3 12,014 14,074 10,350 12,014 10,350

Revenue from exchange transactions
Dividends 2 10,439 10,100 9,830 339 330
Interest and investment revenue 138 1,000 563 138 999
Other revenue 3 3,361 2,678 3,567 93,182 104,580

Total revenue 71,974 66,282 63,046 151,637 154,959

Expenditure
Employee benefits expense 22 (21,956) (22,743) (18,089) (54,109) (52,814)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 11 (3,360) (2,967) (2,841) (15,395) (13,855)
Finance costs 15(b) - (2) - (2,608) (2,716)
Other expenses 19 (60,067) (46,156) (47,780) (83,533) (72,230)

Total operating expenditure (85,383) (71,868) (68,710) (155,645) (141,615)
Share of surplus from equity accounted joint 
ventures - - - - 203
Other gains/(losses) 4 4,955 417 1,557 86,980 30,948

Surplus/(deficit) before tax (8,454) (5,168) (4,107) 82,972 44,495
Income tax benefit/(expense) 18 100 - 101 (6,942) (7,444)

Surplus/(deficit) for the year (8,354) (5,168) (4,006) 76,030 37,051

Other comprehensive revenue and expenses
Items that may be reclassified to 
surplus/(deficit):

Available-for-sale financial assets:
Revaluation gain/(loss) – shares in subsidiary 2 75,966 7,000 2,129 - -
Available for sale financial asset gains 
reclassified to surplus/(deficit) during the year - - - - -

Cashflow hedges:
Unrealised movement in hedging interest
rate swaps - - - 1,598 (471)
Income tax relating to components of other 
comprehensive  revenue and expenses - - - - -
Total other comprehensive revenue and 
expense 75,966 7,000 2,129 1,598 (471)

Total comprehensive revenue and expense 67,612 1,832 (1,877) 77,628 36,580

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2021

Notes

Council
2021
$000

Council
Budget

$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4,380 6,985 7,898 4,621 8,205
Trade and other receivables 12 8,318 9,591 9,412 19,131 24,522
Property held for sale 8 - - - - -
Investment property inventories 9 - - - 21,495 27,554
Other financial assets 5 25,313 17,502 23,436 25,313 23,436
Other financial instrument - - - 1,021 -
Other current assets 698 442 514 4,955 1,951
Total current assets 38,709 34,520 41,260 76,536 85,668
Non-current assets
Shares in subsidiary 2 612,330 548,235 536,364 - -
Joint ventures accounted for using the equity 
method 28 - - - - -
Property, plant and equipment 6 96,236 98,254 92,945 316,317 318,321
Intangible assets 10 1,888 5,326 4,699 7,267 9,961
Investment property 7 16,490 14,323 14,948 495,780 393,437
Income tax receivable - - - 1,004 -
Deferred tax asset 18 98 98 98 - -
Total non-current assets 727,042 666,236 649,054 820,368 721,719
Total assets 765,751 700,756 690,314 896,904 807,387
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 17,031 12,503 10,318 23,980 18,426
Provisions 783 - - 783 228
Borrowings 15 - - - 5,240 5,140
Employee entitlements 14 2,143 1,639 1,815 6,315 7,500
Other financial instruments 31 - - - 636 1,009
Tax payable - - - - 590
Total current liabilities 19,957 14,142 12,133 36,954 32,893
Non-current liabilities
Employee entitlements 14 - - - 956 1,057
Borrowings 15 - - - 73,850 67,150
Deferred tax liabilities 18 - - - 16,404 13,747
Other financial instruments 31 - - - 619 2,047
Total non-current liabilities - - - 91,829 84,001
Total liabilities 19,957 14,142 12,133 128,783 116,894
Net assets 745,794 686,614 678,181 768,121 690,493
Equity
Reserves 16 635,622 569,244 557,650 387,695 301,851
Public equity 17(a) 110,172 117,370 120,531 380,426 388,642
Total equity 745,794 686,614 678,181 768,121 690,493

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity for the Year ended 30 June 2021

TOTAL COUNCIL 2021 TOTAL GROUP 2021

Notes

Opening
Balance

1 July 2020
$000

Other
Comprehensive

Revenue and 
Expense

$000

Transfers
In

$000

Transfers
Out

$000

Closing
Balance

30 June 2021
$000

Opening
Balance

1 July 2020
$000

Other
Comprehensive

Revenue and 
Expense

$000

Transfers
In

$000

Transfers
Out

$000

Closing
Balance

30 June 2021
$000

Equity

General Rate Equity 72,647 (8,354)           52,919 (53,451) 63,761 340,758 76,030 53,169 (135,866) 334,091

Targeted Rate Equity 47,884 - 48,510 (49,983) 46,411 47,884 - 48,434 (49,983) 46,335

Total Public Equity 120,531 (8,354) 101,429 (103,434) 110,172 388,642 76,030 101,603 (185,849) 380,426

Reserves:

Asset Replacement Reserve 3,756 - 1,736 (2,555) 2,937 3,756 - 1,736 (2,555) 2,937

Asset Revaluation Reserve 12,887 - 1,542 - 14,429 275,488 - 83,782 - 359,270

Available for Sale Revaluation 
Reserve 516,364 75,966 - - 592,330 - - - - -

Building Reserve 13,440 - 133 - 13,573 13,440 - 133 - 13,573

Emergency Response Reserve 3,901 - 575 - 4,476 3,901 - 575 - 4,476

Hedging Reserve - - - - - (2,036) 1,598 - - (438)

Water Management Reserve 897 - 8 - 905 897 - 9 - 906

Kuriwao Endowment Reserve 6,397 - 946 (381) 6,962 6,397 - 946 (381) 6,962

Environmental Enhancement 
Reserve 8 - 251 (250) 9 8 - 251 (250) 9

Total Reserves 557,650 75,966 5,191 (3,186) 635,622 301,851 1,598 87,432 (3,186) 387,695

Total Equity and Reserves 678,181 67,612 106,620 (106,620) 745,794 690,493 77,628 189,035 (189,035) 768,121

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity for the Year ended 30 June 2020

TOTAL COUNCIL 2020 TOTAL GROUP 2020

Notes

Opening
Balance

1 July 2019
$000

Other
Comprehensive

Revenue and 
Expense

$000

Transfers
In

$000

Transfers
Out

$000

Closing
Balance

30 June 2020
$000

Opening
Balance

1 July 2019
$000

Other
Comprehensive

Revenue and 
Expense

$000

Transfers
In

$000

Transfers
Out

$000

Closing
Balance

30 June 2020
$000

Equity

General Rate Equity 72,482 (4,006) 43,526 (39,355) 72,647 327,479 37,051 43,526 (67,298) 340,758

Targeted Rate Equity 51,955 - 36,444 (40,515) 47,884 51,955 - 36,444 (40,515) 47,884

Total Public Equity 124,437 (4,006) 79,970 (79,870) 120,531 379,434 37,051 79,970 (107,813) 388,642

Reserves:

Asset Replacement Reserve 5,034 - 1,302 (2,580) 3,756 5,034 - 1,302 (2,580) 3,756

Asset Revaluation Reserve 11,501 - 1,386 - 12,887 246,159 - 29,329 - 275,488

Available for Sale Revaluation 
Reserve 514,235 2,129 - - 516,364 - - - - -

Building Reserve 13,105 - 337 (2) 13,440 13,105 - 337 (2) 13,440

Emergency Response Reserve 4,325 - 111 (535) 3,901 4,325 - 111 (535) 3,901

Hedging Reserve - - - - - (1,565) (471) - - (2,036)

Water Management Reserve 875 - 22 - 897 875 - 22 - 897

Kuriwao Endowment Reserve 6,472 - 285 (360) 6,397 6,472 - 285 (360) 6,397

Environmental Enhancement 
Reserve 74 - 253 (319) 8 74 - 253 (319) 8

Total Reserves 555,621 2,129 3,696 (3,796) 577,650 274,479 (471) 31,639 (3,796) 301,851

Total Equity and Reserves 680,058 (1,877) 83,666 (83,666) 678,181 653,913 36,580 111,609 (111,609) 690,493

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Cash Flow Statement for the Year ended 30 June 2021

Notes

Council
2021
$000

Council
Budget

$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from non-exchange transactions
Receipts from customers 25,147 26,957 31,092 113,737 102,396
Grant income and subsidies 19,007 11,474 12,235 19,007 12,235
Other receipts 12,014 - - 12,014 -

Receipts from exchange transactions
Interest and investment income 138 1,000 563 138 998
Rental income 1,022 - 1,056 1,022 24,073
Subvention payment 100 - 101 - -
Dividends 10,439 10,100 9,830 339 330
Other receipts 5,290 16,759 8,458 5,290 8,458

Payments to suppliers and employees (72,761) (68,899) (65,257) (129,430) (126,285)
Interest and other costs of finance paid - (2) - (2,562) (2,347)
Income tax received/(paid) - - - (6,596) (10,674)
Donations (350) - (350) (350) (350)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating 
activities 46 (2,611) (2,272) 12,609 8,834
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest capitalised - - - (190) (567)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and 
equipment 1,399 410 182 1,435 855
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets - - - -
Sale of held for sale assets - - - -
Sale of investment property - - 2,433 20,744
Advances (to)/from subsidiaries - - 27 (2,162)
Proceeds from other financial assets 581 - (518) 581 (518)
Purchase of/improvements to investment  
property - - (14,144) (25,609)
Purchase of other financial assets - - - -
Purchase of property in development - - - -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (5,376) (5,401) (3,688) (12,048) (24,131)
Purchase of intangible assets (168) (900) (1,238) (1,087) (1,425)
Repayment of lease improvements - - - - -
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing 
activities (3,564) (5,891) (5,262) (22,993) (32,813)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings - - - 59,600 116,915
Repayment of borrowings - - - (52,800) (100,305)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing 
activities - - - 6,800 16,610
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents (3,518) (8,502) (7,534) (3,584) (7,369)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
the financial year 7,898 15,487 15,432 8,205 15,574
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year 4,380 6,985 7,898 4,621 8,205

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks and 
investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

The following terms are used in the Statement of Cash Flows:
 operating activities are the principal revenue producing activities of the Group and other activities that 

are not investing or financing activities;
 investing activities are the acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other investments not included 

in cash equivalents; and
 financing activities are activities that result in changes in the size and composition of the contributed 

equity and borrowings of the entity.

(a) Reconciliation of Cash and Cash Equivalents
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in bank and deposits 
in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.  Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial 
year as shown in the Cash Flow Statements are reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as 
follows:

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash at bank and on hand 4,380 7,898 4,621 8,205
Term deposits with maturities less than 3 months - - - -

4,380 7,898 4,621 8,205

 (b) Reconciliation of Surplus for the Year to Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Surplus/(deficit) for the year (8,354) (4,006) 76,030 37,051
Add/(less) non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation 3,360 2,841 15,396 13,855
(Gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (834) (53) (865) (77)
Write off of intangible assets 686 15 686 15
Provision for doubtful debts 10 4 9 4
(Gain)/loss on revaluation of investment property (1,542) (1,386) (83,782) (29,329)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of investment property - - - (1,656)
Net change in fair value of derivative financial instruments - - (602) 232
Net change in fair value of financial instruments (2,458) (416) (2,458) (416)
Non-current employee entitlements - - - 114
Share of surpluses retained by joint ventures - - - (203)
Movement in non-current employee entitlements - - (101) -
Deferred tax - - 2,035 (667)
Impairment of property plant and equipment (121) 298 727 298
Write-off of property plant and equipment work in progress 564 2,324 564 2,324

(8,689) (379) 7,639 (15,506)
Movement in working capital:
Trade and other receivables 1,094 192 5,392 (120)
Inventories - - 6,059 (1,275)
Other current assets (184) (72) (3,005) 127
Trade and other payables 6,713 (2,189) 5,490 (6,028)
Provisions 784 - 555 (39)
Employee entitlements 328 176 (1,185) 369
Tax Payable - - (1,594) (2,462)
Movement in working capital items classified as investing activities - - (6,742) (3,283)

8,735 (1,893) 4,970 (12,711)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 46 (2,272) 12,609 8,834
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year ended 30 June 2021

1. Statement of Accounting Policies

Reporting Entity

The Council is a regional local authority governed by the Local Government Act 2002.

The Council Group (Group) consists of the Council and its subsidiary Port Otago Limited (100% owned).  The Port Otago 
Limited Group consists of Port Otago Limited, its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

The primary objective of the Council is to provide goods or services for the community or social benefit rather than 
making a financial return.  The principal activities of the Group entities are described in Note 28.  Accordingly, the 
Council has designated itself and the Group as public benefit entities for financial reporting purposes.

The Financial Statements of Council are for the year ended 30 June 2021 and were authorised for issue by Council on 
27 October 2021.
 
Statement of Compliance

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 2002: 
Part 6, Section 98 and Part 3 of Schedule 10, which includes the requirement to comply with New Zealand generally 
accepted accounting practice (NZ GAAP). 

The financial statements comply with Public Benefit Entity Public Sector (PBE (PS)) standards.  The financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with Tier 1 PBE standards.  

Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for the revaluation of certain non-
current assets and financial instruments (including derivative financial instruments).  Cost is based on the fair values of 
the consideration given in exchange for assets.

The financial statements are presented in thousands of New Zealand dollars.  New Zealand dollars are the Council’s and 
Group’s functional currency.

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting financial information satisfies 
the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or other 
events is reported.

All foreign currency transactions during the financial year are brought to account using the exchange rate in effect at 
the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items at reporting date are translated at the exchange rate 
existing at reporting date. Exchange differences are recognised in the surplus/(deficit) in the period in which they arise. 

The financial statements are stated exclusive of GST, except for receivables and payables in the Statement of Financial 
Position which are recognised inclusive of GST.  The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing 
activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows in the Cash 
Flow Statement.

The budget amounts in these financial statements are for Council only and are those approved by the Council in the 
Long-Term Plan / Annual Plan and have been prepared using accounting policies that are consistent with those 
adopted by the Council for the preparation of the financial statements. 
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Adoption of New and Revised Standard and Interpretations

 All mandatory new or amended accounting standards and interpretations were adopted in the current 
year.  PBE IPSAS 41: Financial Instruments (early adopted)

None had a significant impact on these financial statements.

Standards and interpretations issued and not yet adopted

The following are new, revised, or amended standards that are applicable to the Group which are in issue by are 
not yet required to be adopted for the year end 30 June 2021.

 PBE IPSAS 40: PBE Combinations effective for periods commencing 1 January 2021
 PBE IPSAS 41: Financial Instruments effective for periods commencing 1 January 2022
 PBE FRS 48: Service Performance Reporting effective for periods commencing 1 January 2022

Council expects to adopt the above standard in the period in which they become mandatory. Council anticipates 
that the above standard are not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements in the period of 
initial application; however, a detailed assessment has yet to be performed.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared by combining the financial statements of all the entities that 
comprise the Group, being the Council entity and its controlled entities as defined in PBE IPSAS 35 Consolidated 
Financial Statements. A list of controlled entities appears in Note 28 to the financial statements. Consistent 
accounting policies are employed in the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Council and entities controlled 
by the Council and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Council:

 Has power over the other entity
 Has exposure, or rights, to variable benefits from its involvement with the other entity
 Has the ability to use its power over the other entity to affect the nature or amount of the benefits

from its involvement with the other entity

The Group financial statements are prepared by combining the financial statements of all the entities that comprise 
the Group, being the Council and its subsidiaries as defined by PBE IPSAS 35: Consolidated Financial Statements. 
Consistent accounting policies are employed in the preparation and presentation of the Group financial statements

On acquisition, the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of a controlled entity are measured at their fair values 
at the date of acquisition. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair values of the identifiable net assets 
acquired is recognised as goodwill. If, after reassessment, the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired 
exceeds the cost of acquisition, the deficiency is credited to profit and loss in the period of acquisition.

The interest of minority shareholders is stated at the minority’s proportion of the fair values of the assets and 
liabilities recognised.

The consolidated financial statements include the information and results of each controlled entity from the date 
on which the Council obtains control and until such time as the Council ceases to control the entity.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all inter-company balances and transactions, and unrealised 
profits arising within the Group, are eliminated in full.
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Accounting Policies

Accounting policies that summarise the measurement basis used and are relevant to the understanding of the 
financial statements, are provided throughout the accompanying notes.

The accounting policies adopted have been applied consistently throughout the periods presented in these 
financial statements.

Critical Estimates, Assumptions and Judgements

In preparing these financial statements the Council has made estimates, assumptions and judgements concerning the 
future. These estimates, assumptions and judgements may differ from the subsequent actual results. Estimates and 
judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations 
or future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates, assumptions and 
judgements that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are disclosed below:

Estimate of Fair Value of Investment Property – refer to Note 7

Estimate of Fair Value of Shares in Subsidiary – refer to Note 2

Property, Plant and Equipment – refer to Note 6

Classification of Property – refer to Note 7

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. These estimates and assumptions may differ 
from the subsequent actual results and are continually being evaluated based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are expected to be reasonable under the circumstances. Other 
than the COVID-19 impacts, referred to below, there are no estimates or assumptions in the view of Directors that 
have a risk of causing a significant adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets or liabilities within the next financial 
year. 

Further information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty that have the most significant effect on the 
amount recognised in the financial statements is disclosed in the relevant notes: 

 Fair value measurements of property portfolio assets refer to Note 7
 Property, plant and equipment refer to Note 6 

Refer to Note 26 for the impact of COVID-19 on estimates and judgements. 

2. Shares in Subsidiary and Dividend Income

Port Otago Limited is a 100% subsidiary of the Council.

Recognition and Measurement
The Council’s investment in Port Otago Limited is carried at fair value in the Council entity’s financial statements.  At 
each balance date the Council obtains an annual valuation of the Council’s shareholding in its subsidiary Port Otago 
Limited.  The Port Otago group consists of Port Otago Limited, its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

The annual valuation is determined by an independent firm of chartered accountants and business advisors.  

In assessing the valuation, the valuers adopt methodologies appropriate for the components of the Port Otago Limited 
group, employing the discounted cashflow methodology for Port Otago port operations and net tangible assets 
approach for Chalmers Properties Limited.  Changes in forecast cashflows and property values and other factors that 
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the fair value assessment is based on may result in the fair value of the shares in the subsidiary being different from 
previous estimates.  The fair value is a level 3 fair value measurement, as the valuation technique includes inputs that 
are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Significant Assumptions Used in Determining Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
The valuation for the shares in Port Otago Limited is a combination of a discounted cashflow and net tangible assets 
approach based on information provided by the entity and investment property valuations. The fair value of the shares 
in subsidiaries at 30 June 2021 was based on cashflows discounted using a weighted average cost of capital of 7.6% 
(2020: 7.2%), terminal growth rate 3% (2020: 2%) and discount for lack of marketability 5% (2020: 5%).  Refer to Note 7 
for revaluation inputs associated with the investment properties.

Sensitivity to WACC
 A decrease of 0.5% in WACC to 7.1% would result in a $35.176m increase in fair value
 An increase of 0.5% in WACC to 8.1% would result in a $28.296m decrease in fair value

Sensitivity to growth rate 
 A decrease of 0.5% in the terminal growth rate to 2.5% would result in a $19,341m decrease in fair value 
 An increase of 0.5% in the terminal growth rate to 3.5% would result in a $24,270m increase in fair value

Valuation uncertainty 
As at the valuation date, the valuer has considered there is market uncertainty. The valuation is current at the date of 
valuation only. The value assessed may change significantly and unexpectedly over a relatively short period of time and 
historical transactional data may not be reflective of how markets might move under differing economic, monetary and 
fiscal conditions.  There is the potential for market conditions to move rapidly in response to changes in the control or 
future spread of Covid-19.

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Balance at beginning of year 536,364 534,235 - -
Gain/(loss) recognised in other Comprehensive Revenue 
and Expense 75,966 2,129 - -

Balance at end of year 612,330 536,364 - -

Related party transactions

During the year the following receipts/(payments) were made from/(to) Port Otago Limited:

Council 2021
$000

Council 2020
$000

Dividend payment made to Council 10,100 9,500
Harbour Control Centre and other costs (60) (60)
Other expenses 175 90
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3. Revenue

Recognition and Measurement
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential will flow to the 
group and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made.

Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions
Rates revenue is recognised as income when levied.  Council levies general rates for those functions that are assessed 
as providing benefits to all ratepayers within each of the constituent districts and city, and levies targeted rates where 
functions benefit a defined group of ratepayers.

Grants and subsidies are recognised upon entitlement, as conditions pertaining to expenditure have been fulfilled.

Other fee income from non-exchange transactions is recognised when the supplies and services have been rendered.

Revenue from Exchange Transactions
Dividend income is recognised on the date of the dividend declaration.

Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis using the effective interest method.  

Revenue from port services is recognised in the accounting period in which the actual service is provided.

Revenue from the rendering of services, including relating to contracts and consent application that are in progress at 
balance date, is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at balance date, based on the 
actual service provided as a percentage of the total services to be provided.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial 
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased 
asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Fees and charges are recognised as income when supplies and services have been rendered. Fees received from the 
following activities are recognised as revenue from exchange transactions: resource consent processing, pest animal 
and plant contract work, grazing leases and licenses and enforcement work. 

Rates Revenue
Council

2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Rates revenue comprises:
General rates 11,201 11,311 11,143 11,275
Targeted rates 15,814 15,190 15,814 15,190

27,015 26,501 26,957 26,465

Other Revenue

Notes

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Revenue from exchange transactions
Port revenue - - 60,238 76,768
Consents and regulatory fees 2,338 2,511 2,338 2,511
Regional services revenue - - - -
Investment property rental income 673 693 27,822 18,161
Other property rental income 350 363 2,784 7,140

3,361 3,567 93,182 104,580
Revenue from non-exchange transactions
Consents and regulatory fees 904 432 904 432
Other activity fees and charges 11,110 9,918 11,110 9,918

12,014 10,350 12,014 10,350
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4. Other Gains/(Losses)

Notes

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Unrealised net change in value of investment 
property and property in development 7 1,542 1,386 83,782 29,329
Gain/(loss) on disposal of investment property - - - 1,656
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 834 53 865 77
Net change in fair value of financial assets carried 
at fair value through surplus or deficit 2,458 416 2,458 416
Impairment of Property, plant and equipment 6 121 (298) (727) (298)
Net change in fair value of derivative financial 
instruments classified at fair value through surplus 
or deficit (interest rate swaps) - - 602 (232)
Total other gains/(Losses) 4,955 1,557 86,980 30,948
Gains 4,955 1,855 87,707 31,478
Losses - (298) (727) (530)

Gains or losses on the sale of investment property and property, plant and equipment are recognised when an 
unconditional contract is in place, it is probable that the Group will receive the consideration due, and significant risks 
and rewards of ownership of assets have been transferred to the buyer.

5. Other Financial Assets

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Held for trading – carried at fair value
Current:
Managed funds – cash (i) 2,113 3,192 2,113 3,192
Managed funds – bonds (i)(ii) 10,108 8,741 10,108 8,741
Managed funds – equities (i) 13,092 11,503 13,092 11,503

25,313 23,436 25,313 23,436

Other financial assets are classified on initial recognition at fair value through surplus of deficit or loans and receivables.

Loans and Receivables at Amortised Cost
Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Surplus of Deficit
Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit where the financial asset:

 Has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future;
 Is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Council and Group manages together and 

has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or
 Is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense.  The net gain or loss is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Revenue and Expense and incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset.  Fair 
value is determined in the manner described later in this note. 

(i) The Council and Group have classified their managed funds held for trading. The Group holds a portfolio of 
floating and fixed interest deposits, bonds and equity securities that is managed externally.  This classification 
has been determined as all assets within this category are available for trading at any point. Financial assets held 
for trading purposes are classified as current assets and are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss 
recognised in the surplus/(deficit). 
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(ii) The Group holds fixed interest bonds via its managed fund portfolio, the maturity dates range between 2022-
2030.

Fair Value
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

Level 1 – the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on 
active liquid markets is determined with reference to quoted market prices.  Financial assets in this category include 
managed fund equities and shares in listed companies.

Level 2 – the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) is determined 
in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices from 
observable current market transactions and dealer quotes for similar instruments.

Level 3 – fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or 
liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Council Group
Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Total
$000

Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Total
$000

2021
Financial assets at FVTSD1:
Other financial assets 25,313 - - 25,313 25,313 - - 25,313

2020
Financial assets at FVTSD1:
Other financial assets 23,436 - - 23,436 23,436 - - 23,436

1 FVTSD: Fair Value through the surplus or deficit
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6. Property, Plant and Equipment

Council 2021

Cost
1 July 2020

$000
Additions

$000
Disposals

$000
Transfers 

$000

 

Reclass from 
intangible 

assets
$000

Cost
30 June 2021

$000

Accumulated
Depreciation

and
Impairment

Charges
1 July 2020

$000

Impairment 
Losses 

Charged in 
Profit or Loss 

$000

Depreciation
Expense

$000

Accumulated
Depreciation
Reversed on

Disposal
$000

Accumulated
Depreciation

and
Impairment

Charges
30 June 2021

$000

Book Value
30 June 2021

$000

Council operational assets

Land 12,550 - - - - 12,550 - - - - - 12,550

Endowment land 1,495 - (715) - - 780 - - - - - 780

Buildings 7,172 111 (3) 7 - 7,287 (1,816) - (320) 1 (2,135) 5,152

Plant and vehicles 9,540 1,483 (272) 116 23 10,890 (5,440) - (1,124) 226 (6,338) 4,552

Capital work in progress 337 365 (64) (123) - 515 - - - - - 515

Total operational assets 31,094 1,959 (1,054) - 23 32,022 (7,256) - (1,444) 227 (8,473) 23,549

Council infrastructural assets

Floodbanks 27,548 884 - - - 28,432 (165) 121 - - (44) 28,388

Protection works 9,741 - - - - 9,741 - - - - - 9,741

Structures 41,796 615 - 854 - 43,265 (18,340) - (850) - (19,190) 24,075

Drains 3,760 - - - - 3,760 - - - - - 3,760

Bridges 1,509 - (54) - - 1,455 (1,087) - (45) 47 (1,085) 370

Culverts 1,278 48 (6) - - 1,320 - - - - - 1,320

Transport Infrastructure & 
hardware 2,723 640 (2) - 1,938 5,299 (402)

-

(686) - (1,088) 4,211

Capital work in progress 746 1,230 (300) (854) - 822 - - - - - 822

Total infrastructural assets 89,101 3,417 (362) -   1,938 94,094 (19,994) 121 (1,581) 47 (21,407) 72,687

Total Council property, plant 
and equipment 120,195 5,376 (1,416) - 1,961 126,116 (27,250) 121 (3,025) 274 (29,880) 96,236

Council infrastructural assets represent Flood Protection and Control Works as defined in the Local Government (Financial Reporting and Prudence) Regulations 2014.  All infrastructure assets 
acquired during the year were constructed by Council.  There were no infrastructural assets transferred to the Council from external entities.  Included in the infrastructure capital disposals 
are assets which were vested to Dunedin City Council and general public of Otago.
IPSAS 21 Impairment of a non-cash generating assets requires an impairment assessment if there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.  During the February 2020 flood, flood 
protection assets in the Clutha and Queenstown regions were damaged.  In 2020 the book value of the damaged flood assets was impaired using the restoration cost approach.  During the 
2021 financial year the assets were repaired, and the impairment was reversed.
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Council 2020

Cost
1 July 2019

$000
Additions

$000
Disposals

$000
Transfers 

$000

Cost
30 June 2020

$000

Accumulated
Depreciation

and
Impairment

Charges
1 July 2019

$000

Impairment 
Losses 

Charged in 
Profit or Loss 

$1,000

Depreciation
Expense

$000

Accumulated
Depreciation
Reversed on

Disposal
$000

Transfers 
$000

Accumulated
Depreciation

and
Impairment

Charges
30 June 2020

$000

Book Value
30 June 2020

$000

Council operational assets

Land 12,545   5 - - 12,550 - - - - - - 12,550

Endowment land 1,495 - - - 1,495 - - - - - -  1,495

Buildings 7,031 117 - 24 7,172 (1,502) - (314) - - (1,816) 5,356

Plant and vehicles 8,822 1,478 (507) (253) 9,540 (4,958) - (992) 423 87 (5,440) 4,100

Capital work in progress 407 117 (40) (147) 337 - - - - - - 337

Total operational assets 30,300 1,717 (547) (376) 31,094 (6,460) - (1,306) 423 87 (7,256) 23,838

Council infrastructural assets

Floodbanks 27,548 - - - 27,548 - (165) - - - (165) 27,383

Protection works 9,383 - - 357 9,741 - - - - - - 9,741

Structures 40,042 199 - 1,555 41,796 (17,386) (133) (821) - - (18,340) 23,457

Drains 3,760 - - - 3,760 - - - - - - 3,760

Bridges 1,509 - - - 1,509 (1,043) - (45) - - (1,087) 422

Culverts 1,267 15 (4) - 1,278 - - - - - - 1,278

Transport Infrastructure & 
hardware 2,298 82 - 343 2,723 (53)

-
(262) - (87) (402) 2,320

Capital work in progress 3,276 1,674 (2,324) (1,880) 746 - - - - - - 746

Total infrastructural assets 89,083 1,970 (2,328) 376 89,101 (18,482) (298) (1,128) - (87) (19,994) 69,107

Total Council property, plant 
and equipment 119,383 3,688 (2,875) - 120,195 (24,942) (298) (2,433) 423 - (27,250) 92,945

Council infrastructural assets represent Flood Protection and Control Works as defined in the Local Government (Financial Reporting and Prudence) Regulations 2014.  All infrastructure assets 
acquired during the year were constructed by Council.  There were no infrastructural assets transferred to the Council from external entities.  Included in the infrastructure capital disposals 
are assets which were vested to Dunedin City Council and Aurora.

IPSAS 21 Impairment of a non-cash generating assets requires an impairment assessment if there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.  During the February 2020 flood, flood 
protection assets in the Clutha and Queenstown regions were damaged.  The book value of the damaged flood assets have been impaired using the restoration cost approach.  Refer to 
note 25 contingent liability and contingent asset for estimated restoration costs and estimated insurance proceeds.

Council Meeting 2021.10.27

Council Meeting Agenda - 27 October 2021 - MATTERS FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION

98



83

Group 2021

Cost
1 July 2020

$000
Additions

$000
Disposals

$000
Transfers

$000

Reclass from 
intangible 

assets
$000

Cost
30 June 2021

$000

Accumulated
Depreciation

and
Impairment

Charges
1 July 2020

$000

Impairment
Losses

Charged in
Profit

or Loss
$000

Depreciation
Expense

$000

Accumulated
Depreciation
Reversed on

Disposal
$000

Transfers
$000

Accumulated
Depreciation

and
Impairment

Charges
30 June 2021

$000

Book Value
30 June 2021

$000

Operational assets

Land – Council 12,550 - - - - 12,550 - - - - - - 12,550

Endowment land – Council 1,495 - (715) - - 780 - - - - - - 780

Buildings – Council 7,172 111 (3) 7 - 7,287 (1,816) - (320) 1 - (2,135) 5,152

Plant and vehicles – Council 9,540 1,483 (272) 116 23 10,890 (5,440) - (1,124) 226 - (6,338) 4,552

Capital work in progress – 
Council 337 365 (64) (123) - 515 - - - - - - 515

Land – Port 36,300 - - - - 36,300 - - - - - - 36,300

Buildings and improvements 
– Port 86,256 3,359 (760) - - 88,855 (26,590) - (3,197) 755 - (29,032) 59,823

Wharves and berths 
dredging – Port 91,030 305 - - - 91,335 (24,327) (848) (1,999) - - (27,174) 64,161

Plant, equipment and 
vehicles – Port 116,884 4,101 (279) - - 120,706 (59,022) - (5,917) 278 - (64,661) 56,045

Capital work in progress – 
Port 4,845 - (1,093) - - 3,752 - - - - - - 3,752

Total operational assets 366,409 9,724 (3,186) - 23 372,970 (117,195) (848) (12,557) 1,260 (129,340) 243,630

Council infra-structural 
assets

Floodbanks 27,548 884 - - - 28,432 (165) 121 - - - (44) 28,338

Protection works 9,741 - - - - 9,741 - - - - - - 9,741

Structures 41,796 615 - 854 - 43,265 (18,340) - (850) - - (19,190) 24,075

Drains 3,760 - - - - 3,760 - - - - - - 3,760

Bridges 1,509 - (54) - - 1,455 (1,087) - (45) 47 - (1,085) 370

Culverts 1,278 48 (6) - - 1,320 - - - - - - 1,320

Transport Infrastructure & 
hardware 2,723 640 (2) - 1,938 5,299 (402) - (686) - - (1,088) 4,211

Capital work in progress – 
Council 746 1,230 (300) (854) - 822 - - - - - - 822

Total infrastructural assets 89,101 3,417 (362) - 1,938 94,094 (19,994) 121 (1,581) 47 - (21,407) 72,687

Total Group property, plant 
and equipment 455,510 13,141 (3,548) - 1,961 467,064 (137,189) (727) (14,138) 1,307 - (150,747) 316,317
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Group 2020

Cost
1 July 2019

$000
Additions

$000
Disposals

$000
Transfers

$000
Reclass

$000

Cost
30 June 2020

$000

Accumulated
Depreciation

and
Impairment

Charges
1 July 2019

$000

Impairment
Losses

Charged in
Profit

or Loss
$000

Depreciation
Expense

$000

Accumulated
Depreciation
Reversed on

Disposal
$000

Transfers
$000

Accumulated
Depreciation

and
Impairment

Charges
30 June 2020

$000

Book Value
30 June 2020

$000

Operational assets

Land – Council 12,545 5 - - - 12,550 - - - - - - 12,550

Endowment land – Council 1,495 - - - - 1,495 - - - - - - 1,495

Buildings – Council 7,031 117 - 24 - 7,172 (1,502) - (314) - - (1,816) 5,356

Plant and vehicles – Council 8,822 1,478 (507) (253) - 9,540 (4,958) - (992) 423 87 (5,440) 4,100

Capital work in progress – 
Council 407 117 (41) (147)

-
337 - - - - - - 337

Land – Port 35,281 1,019 - - - 36,300 - - - - - - 36,300

Buildings and improvements 
– Port 72,769 14,142 (655) -

-
86,256 (24,079) - (2,919) 408 - (26,590) 59,666

Wharves and berths 
dredging – Port 89,634 1,404 (8) -

-
91,030 (22,326) - (2,009) 8 - (24,327) 66,703

Plant, equipment and 
vehicles – Port 114,523 3,506 (1,145) -

-
116,884 (54,964) - (5,181) 1,123 - (59,022) 57,862

Capital work in progress – 
Port 1,988 2,857 - -

-
4,845 - - - - - - 4,845

Total operational assets 344,495 24,645 (2,356) (375) - 366,409 (107,829) - (11,415) 1,962 87 (117,195) 249,214

Council infra-structural 
assets

-

Floodbanks 27,548 - - - - 27,548 - (165) - - - (165) 27,383

Protection works 9,383 - - 357 - 9,741 - - - - - 9,741

Structures 40,042 199 - 1,555 - 41,796 (17,386) (133) (821) - - (18,340) 23,547

Drains 3,760 - - - - 3,760 - - - - - 3,760

Bridges 1,509 - - - - 1,509 (1,043) (45) - - (1,087) 422

Culverts 1,267 15 (4) - - 1,278 - - - - - 1,278

Transport Infrastructure & 
hardware 2,298 82 - 343

-
2,723 (53) (262) - (87) (402) 2,320

Capital work in progress – 
Council 3,276 1,674 (2,324) (1,880)

-
746 - - - - - 746

Total infrastructural assets 89,083 1,970 (2,328) 375 - 89,101 (18,482) (298) (1,128) - (87) (19,994) 69,107

Total Group property, plant 
and equipment 433,578 26,615 (4,684) - - 455,510 (126,311) (298) (12,543) 1,962 - (137,189) 318,321
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Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment consist of:

Operational Assets
Operational assets include:
 Council-owned land, endowment land, buildings, and plant and vehicles; and 
 Port owned land, buildings and improvements, wharves and berths dredging, and plant, equipment and vehicles.

Infrastructural Assets
Infrastructural assets deliver benefits direct to the community and are associated with major flood protection and 
land drainage schemes. Infrastructural assets include floodbanks, protection works, structures, drains, bridges, 
culverts, bus hubs and shelters. 

Transport infrastructure assets and hardware deliver benefits to the transport bus network in Queenstown and 
Dunedin.

Restricted Assets
Endowment land is vested in the Council by the Otago Regional Council (Kuriwao Endowment Lands) Act. The Act 
restricts disposition of this land to freeholding initiated by lessees.

(a) Cost
Land and Buildings are recorded at cost or deemed cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

Other property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets. 
Where an asset is acquired for no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value at the date of 
acquisition. When significant, interest costs incurred during the period required to construct an item of 
property, plant and equipment are capitalised as part of the asset’s total cost.

(b) Depreciation
Operational assets with the exception of land, are depreciated on a straight-line basis to write-off the cost of 
the asset to its estimated residual value over its estimated useful life.

Infrastructural assets including floodbanks, protection works and drains and culverts are constructions or 
excavations of natural materials on the land and have substantially the same characteristics as land, in that 
they are considered to have unlimited useful lives, and in the absence of natural events, these assets are not 
subject to ongoing obsolescence or deterioration of service performance, and are not subject to depreciation. 
Other infrastructural assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of the asset to its 
estimated residual values over its estimated useful life.

Expenditure incurred to maintain these assets at full operating capability is charged to the surplus/(deficit) in 
the year incurred.

The following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation:

Operational Assets Life
Buildings – Council 10-50 years
Plant and vehicles – Council 3-20 years
Buildings and improvements – Port 10-50 years
Wharves – Port 15-70 years
Vessels and Floating Plant – Port 5-30 years
Plant, equipment and vehicles – Port 3-30 years
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Infrastructural Assets Life
Floodbanks Unlimited
Protection works Unlimited
Drains Unlimited
Culverts Unlimited
Structures 8-100 years
Bridges 33-100 years
Transport infrastructure and hardware 5-15 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual 
reporting period.

(c) Disposal
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or recognised as impaired when no 
future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.

Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the surplus/(deficit) in the period the asset is 
derecognised.

Critical Judgements and Assumptions

(a) Council and Group
The Council owns a number of properties that are held for service delivery objectives as part of the Council’s 
various flood protection schemes. The receipt of market-based rental from these properties is incidental to 
holding these properties. These properties are accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

(b) Group only
Port Otago Limited owns a number of properties that are classified and accounted for as property, plant and 
equipment rather than investment property if the property is held to meet the strategic purposes of the port, 
or to form part of buffer zones to port activity, or to assist the provision of port services, or to promote or 
encourage the import or export of goods through the port.

Impairment
At each reporting date, the Council and Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if 
any).  Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Council and Group 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. An impairment loss is 
recognised in the surplus or deficit whenever the carrying amount of the asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its 
recoverable amount. 

Useful Lives and Residual Values
At each balance date, the Group reviews the useful lives and residual values of its property, plant and equipment.  
Assessing the appropriateness of useful lives and residual value estimates of property, plant and equipment requires 
the Group to consider a number of factors, such as the physical condition of the asset, expected period of use of the 
asset by the Group, and expected disposal proceeds from the future sale of the asset.

An incorrect estimate of the useful life or residual value will impact on the depreciable amount of an asset, therefore 
impacting on the depreciation expense recognised in the surplus/(deficit), and carrying amount of the asset in the 
Statement of Financial Position.  The Group minimises the risk of this estimation uncertainty by physical inspection of 
assets, asset replacement programmes and analysis of prior asset sales. The Group has not made significant changes 
to past assumptions concerning useful lives and residual values. 
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7. Investment Property

Valuation Analysis

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Valued at 30 June balance date as determined by:
Jones Lang LaSalle - - 55,371 173,994
CVAS (NZ) Limited (Colliers) - - 182,075 204,495
Savills (NZ) Limited (Savills) - - 208,725 -
CBRE Limited (CBRE) - - 31,900 -
Tay and Tay Limited 16,490 14,948 16,490 14,948

16,490 14,948 494,561 393,437

Plus: investment property under construction and carried 
at cost - - 1,219 -

16,490 14,948 495,780 393,437

Investment property is property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation.  Investment property is measured 
initially at cost and subsequently at fair value.  Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment 
property are reported in the surplus/(deficit) in the period in which they arise.

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The fair 
value of investment property reflects the Director’s assessment of the highest and best use of each property and, 
amongst other things, rental income, from current leases and assumptions about rental income from future leases in 
light of current market conditions. The fair value also reflects the cash outflows that could be expected in respect of 
the property.

No depreciation or amortisation is provided for on investment properties. However, for tax purposes, depreciation is 
claimed on building fit-out and a deferred tax liability is recognised where the building component of the registered 
building exceeds the tax book value of the building. The deferred tax liability is capped at the amount of depreciation 
that has been claimed on each building. Gains or losses on the disposal of investment properties are recognised in the 
surplus/(deficit) in the period in which the risks and rewards of the investment property have been fully transferred 
to the purchaser. 

Borrowing costs are capitalised if they are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of a qualifying 
property. Capitalisation of borrowing costs will continue until the asset is substantially ready for its intended use. The 
rate at which borrowing costs are capitalised is determined by reference to the weighted average borrowing costs 
and the average level of borrowings. 

Note
Council

2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Balance at beginning of year 14,948 13,562 393,437 347,682
Acquisitions - - - -
Subsequent capital expenditure - - 10,328 16,059
Interest capitalised - - 190 394
Disposals - - - (426)
Net movement in incentives - - 121 (57)
Net movement in prepaid leasing costs - - 171 107
Transfer to property held for sale    8 - - - (2,719)
Transfer to investment property inventories 9 - - 7,751 -
Transfer from investment property inventories 9 - - - 3,068
Net gain/(loss) from fair value adjustments 4 1,542 1,386 83,782 29,329

Balance at end of year 16,490 14,948 495,780 393,437
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Due to the uncertainty related to the COVID-19 pandemic the investment property value may change unexpectedly 
over a relatively short time (including as a result of factors that the Valuer could not reasonably have been aware of 
as at the date of valuation). The valuations have been determined at 30 June 2021 based on a certain set of 
assumptions used by the valuers, however these could change in a short period due to ongoing property 
market transactions.

Critical Judgements

Fair Value of Property Portfolio Assets (includes investment property, property held for sale and property in 
development)
The fair value of the Council’s and Group’s investment property at 30 June 2021 requires estimation and judgement 
and has been arrived at on the basis of valuations carried out at that date by independent registered valuers who 
conform with the New Zealand Property Institute Practice Standards.  The valuers have extensive market knowledge 
in the types of investment properties owned by the Council and Group.

The fair value was determined using valuation techniques via a combination of the following approaches: 

 Direct Capitalisation: The subject property rental is divided by a market derived capitalisation rate to assess 
the market value of the asset. Further adjustments are then made to the market value to reflect under or 
over renting, additional revenue and required capital expenditure.

 Discounted Cash Flow: Discounted cash flow projections for the subject property are based on estimates of 
future cash flows, supported by the terms of any existing lease and by external evidence such as market rents 
for similar properties in the same location and condition, and using discount rates that reflect current market 
assessments of the uncertainty in the amount and timing of the cash flows.

 Sales Comparison: The subject property is related at a rate per square metre as a means of comparing 
evidence. In applying this approach a number of factors are taken into account, such as but not limited to, 
size, location, zoning, contour, access, development potential / end use, availability of services, profile and 
exposure, current use of surrounding properties, geotechnical and topographical constraints.

Significant inputs used together with the impact on fair value of a change in inputs:

Council Group
Range of Significant Unobservable 

Inputs
Range of Significant Unobservable 

Inputs

Market capitalisation rate (%) (i) 4.65% 6.0% 4.0% 7.8%
Market rental ($ per Sqm) (ii) $48 $203 $10.50 $456
Discount rate (%) (iii) 6.75% 8.0% 5.8% 9.3%
Rental growth rate (%) (iv) 2.0% 25% 1.6% 25%
Terminal capitalisation rate (%) (v) 5% 6.5% 4.0% 8.0%
Profit and risk rate (vi) N/A N/A 5.0% 5.0%
Development sell down period (years) (vii) N/A N/A 2 2

(i) The capitalisation rate applied to the market rental to assess a property's value, determined through similar 
transactions taking into account location, weighted average lease term, size and quality of the property.

(ii) The valuer assessment of the net market income that a property is expected to achieve under a new arm's 
length leasing transaction.

(iii) The rate applied to future cash flows relating transactional evidence from similar properties.
(iv) The rate applied to the market rental over the future cash flow projection.
(v) The rate used to assess the terminal value of the property.

(vi) The rate providing an allowance for the risks and uncertainties associated with similar activities in 
conjunction with current market conditions.

(vii) The length of time in years anticipated to complete the sell down of developed land.
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8. Property Held for Sale

Note

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Balance at beginning of year - - - 2,105
Transfer from (to) investment property 7 - - - 2,719
Disposals - - -   (4,824)

Balance at end of year - - - -

Property classified as held for sale is measured at:

 Fair value for items transferred from investment property, and
 Fair value less estimated costs of disposal, measured at time of transfer, for items transferred from property, plant 

and equipment.

Property is classified as held for sale if the carrying amount will be recovered through a sales transaction rather than 
through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the property is 
available for immediate sale in its present state.  There must also be an expectation of completing the sale within one 
year from the date of classification.  Property is not depreciated nor amortised while it is classified as held for sale.

9. Investment Property Inventories

Note

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Balance at beginning of year - - 27,554 28,829
Transfer (to) from investment property 7 - - (7,751) -
Transfer (to) from property held for sale 8 - - - -
Transfer to investment property 7 - - - (3,068)
Land acquired from joint venture partner - - 2,499 -
Disposals - - (1,640) (6,974)
Subsequent capital expenditure - - 833 8,594
Interest capitalised - - - 173

Balance at end of year - - 21,495 27,554

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Comprising
Developed land for sale - - 21,371 21,720
Units and warehouse developments - - 124 5,834

- - 21,495 27,554

Transfers to investment property from investment property inventories occur when there is a change in use 
evidenced by the commencement of a development with a view to sale. Future development stages that have not 
yet commenced and are being held for capital appreciation are accounted for in investment property.

Investment property inventories are accounted for as inventory and initially recognised at deemed cost represented 
by the fair value at the time of commencement of the development. Further costs directly incurred through 
development activities are capitalised to the cost of the investment property inventories.

Investment property inventories are valued annually and are measured at the lower of cost and fair value. Where 
costs exceed the fair value of the investment property inventories the resulting impairments are included in the 
Income Statement in the period in which they arise.
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Developed Land for Sale
The $21.4 million carrying value at balance date reflects the cost of 10.4 hectares of developed land for sale. In their 
June 2021 valuation, Jones Lang LaSalle stated a net realisable value of $33.2 million for this land on hand. At June 
2020, the $21.7 million carrying value of developed land reflects the Groups 11.1 hectare share of the developed land. 
Jones Lang LaSalle stated a net realised value for the Groups share of developed land on hand at June 2020 of $31.7 
million.

10. Intangible Assets
Council

Computer
Software

$000

Council
Total
$000

Group
Computer
Software

$000

Group
Resource
Consents 

$000

Group
Total
$000

Gross carrying amount

Balance at 30 June 2019 7,167 7,167 7,579 5,641 20,387
Additions

302 302 183 4 489
Capital WIP additions 1,136 1,136 - - 1,136
Capital WIP write off (15) (15) - - (15)
Transfer to complete asset (200) (200) - - (200)
Disposals (32) (32) (30) - (62)

Balance at 30 June 2020 8,358 8,358 7,732 5,645 21,735
Additions 1,070 1,070 914 4 1,988
Capital WIP additions 40 40 - - 40
Capital WIP write off - - - - -
Transfer to complete asset (941) (941) - - (941)
Transfer to Property plant and 
equipment (1,961) (1,961) - - (1,961)
Write off to statement of 
comprehensive income (686) (686) - - (686)

Balance at 30 June 2021 5,880 5,880 8,646 5,649 20,175

Accumulated amortisation and 
impairment

Balance 30 June 2019 (3,283) (3,283) (5,895) (1,430) (10,608)
Amortisation expense (408) (408) (563) (257) (1,228)
Disposals 32 32 30 - 62

Balance 30 June 2020 (3,659) (3,659) (6,428) (1,687) (11,774)
Amortisation expense (335) (335) (546) (255) (1,136)
Disposals 2 2 - - 2

Balance at 30 June 2021 (3,992) (3,992) (6,974) (1,942) (12,908)

Net book value

As at 30 June 2021 1,888 1,888 1,672 3,707 7,267

As at 30 June 2020 4,699 4,699 1,304 3,958 9,961

The cost of acquiring an intangible asset is amortised from the date the asset is ready for use on a straight-line basis 
over the periods of expected benefit.

Computer Software
Computer software assets are stated at cost, less accumulated amortisation and impairment. The amortisation 
periods range from 1 to 5 years.
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Resource Consents
For resource consents the amortisation periods range from 3 to 25 years. Where the periods of expected benefit or 
recoverable values have diminished, due to technological change or market conditions, amortisation is accelerated or 
the carrying value is written down. 

Resource consents relate to the granting of the consents which will allow Port Otago Limited to deepen to 15 metres 
and widen the channel in Otago Harbour so larger ships will be able to call at Port Chalmers. Consents were granted 
in January 2013 and were activated in March 2015. Amortisation of the carrying amounts commenced on the 
activation of the consents and will be amortised over the life of the consents which is either 3 years or 20 years. An 
additional 25 year consent was granted in June 2017 to undertake maintenance dredging and disposal of dredge spoil.

Impairment
At each reporting date, the Council and Group reviews the carrying amounts of intangible assets to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset 
does not generate cash flows that are independent from other assets, the Council and Group estimates the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.  

11. Schedule of Depreciation and Amortisation

Notes

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6 3,025 2,433 14,138 12,543
Amortisation of intangible assets 10 335 408 1,136 1,227
Amortisation of leasing costs - - 121 85

3,360 2,841 15,395 13,855

Depreciation and Amortisation by Activity (Council Only)

Notes

Actual

2020/2021
$000

Annual
Plan

2020/21
$000

Actual

2019/20
$000

 Annual
Plan

2019/20
$000

Environment 235 271 225 234
Regional Leadership 11 - 47 -
Regulatory 164 206 211 212
Flood Protection and Control Works 863 898 843 831
Safety and Hazards 19 13 15 20
Transport 700 282 271 72
Corporate 1,368 1,297 1,229 1,163

3,360 2,967 2,841 2,532
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12. Trade and Other Receivables 

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Trade and other receivables from exchange
transactions

Trade receivables (i) 2,270 5,132 13,329 20,353
Provision for doubtful debts (103) (86) (348) (197)

2,167 5,046 12,981 20,156
Sundry accruals - 97 - 97

Goods and Services Tax receivable 298 290 298 290

2,465 5,433 13,279 20,543

Trade and other receivables from non-
exchange transactions

Trade receivables (i) 4,754 2,222 4,753 2,222
Provision for doubtful debts (12) (18) (12) (18)

4,742 2,204 4,741 2,204
Accrued Income 1,111 1,775 1,111 1,775
Goods and Services Tax receivable - - - -

5,853 3,979 5,852 3,979

Total 8,318 9,412 19,131 24,522

(i) Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and generally on monthly terms.  

Trade and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are 
classified as ‘loans and receivables’.  Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method less impairment.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.   A provision for doubtful debts is established when there 
is objective evidence that the Council or Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original 
terms of the receivables.  The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate.  The amount of the provision 
is expensed in the surplus/(deficit).

13. Trade and Other Payables

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Trade payables for Exchange transactions (i) 11,519 6,548 14,042 10,623
Other accrued charges 5,512 3,770 9,938 7,803
Property deposits received - - -

17,031 10,318 23,980 18,426

(i) The average credit period on purchases is 30 days.  

Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the Council and Group becomes obliged to make 
future payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services.  Trade and other payables are initially recognised 
at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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14. Employee Entitlements

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Accrued salary and wages 266 145 933 1,356
Annual leave 1,855 1,648 5,230 6,013
Long service leave - - 919 1,016
Retiring allowances 22 22 59 64
Sick leave - - 130 108

2,143 1,815 7,271 8,557
Disclosed in the financial statements as:
Current 2,143 1,815 6,315 7,500
Non-current - - 956 1,057

2,143 1,815 7,271 8,557

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, long service leave, 
and sick leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

Provisions made in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at their 
nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Provisions made in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured 
as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the Council and Group in respect of services 
provided by employees up to reporting date.

15. Borrowings and Finance Costs

15 (a) Borrowings

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Secured – at amortised cost
Bank borrowings -  - 79,090 72,290

- - 79,090 72,290
Analysed as:
Current - - 5,240 5,140
Non-current - - 73,850 67,150

- - 79,090 72,290

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition, borrowings are stated at amortised 
cost, with any difference between cost and redemption value being recognised in the Income Statement over the 
period of the borrowings, using the effective interest method.

The carrying amount of borrowings reflects fair value as the borrowing finance rates approximate market rates.

The Group has a $81 million Short Term Advances Facility with ANZ Bank New Zealand Limited which the Group may 
draw from for terms ranging from call to the termination of the agreement, which is 1 July 2023 (2020: 1 July 2022). 
In addition the Group has a $29 million Commercial Flexi Facility with ANZ Bank New Zealand Limited which is subject 
to an annual review. The next review is due on 30 June 2022 (2020: 30 June 2021).
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The security for advances is a cross guarantee and indemnity between Port Otago Limited, Chalmers Properties 
Limited and Te Rapa Gateway Limited in favour of the lender, general security agreement over the assets of Port 
Otago Limited and Chalmers Properties Limited and registered first-ranking mortgages over land.

15 (b) Finance Costs

Notes

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Interest on loans - - 2,798 3,283

Capitalised borrowing costs - - (190) (567)
Other - - - -

- - 2,608 2,716

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition and/or construction of property, plant and equipment and 
long-term investment property development projects are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. Other 
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
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16. Reserves

COUNCIL

Available for 
Sale 

Revaluation 
Reserve

$000

Asset Replace-
ment Reserve

$000

Emergency 
Response 
Reserve

$000

Kuriwao 
Endowment 

Reserve
$000

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve
$000

Water Manage-
ment Reserve

$000

Building 
Reserve

$000

Environmental 
Enhancement 

Reserve
Total Reserves

$000

Opening balance 1 July 2019 514,235       5,034      4,325      6,472  11,501          875      13,105             74      555,621

Transfers in:
Transfers from general rate equity - 1,183 - 121 - - - 250 1,554
Interest received - 119 111 164 - 22 337 3 756
Revaluation gain 2,129 - - - 1,386 - - - 3,515

2,129 1,302 111 285 1,386 22 337 253 5,825

Transfers out:
Transfers to general rate equity - (2,580) - (110) - - (2) (319) (3,011)
Transfers to targeted rate equity - - (535) (250) - - - - (785)

- (2,580) (535) (360) - 0 (2) (319) (3,796)

Closing balances 30 June 2020 516,364 3,756 3,901 6,397 12,887 897 13,440 8 557,650

Transfers in:
Transfers from general rate equity -   1,702            - 878          -           -             -          250 2,830
Transfers from targeted equity -            -         535 -          -           -             -             - 535
Interest received -          34          40  68          -         8        133            1 285
Revaluation gain 75,966             -             -   - 1,542          -            -            - 77,508

75,966     1,736         575 946 1,542          8       133         251 81,158 

Transfers out:
Transfers to general rate equity -     (2,555)            - (131)            -         -        (250) (2,936)
Transfers to targeted rate equity -              -            - (250)            -         -              - (250)

-       (2,555)           - (381)            -        -       (250) (3,186)

Closing balances 30 June 2021 592,330        2,937        4,476 6,962    14,429     905       13,573           9 635,622

Closing balances 30 June 2020 516,364 3,756 3,901        6,397 12,887            897 13,440                 8 557,560
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GROUP

Available for 
Sale 

Revaluation 
Reserve

$000

Asset Replace-
ment Reserve

$000

Emergency 
Response 
Reserve

$000

Kuriwao 
Endowment 

Reserve
$000

Asset 
Revaluation 

Reserve
$000

Water 
Management 

Reserve
$000

Building
Reserve

$000

Environmental 
Enhancement 

Reserve

Hedging 
Reserve

$000
Total Reserves

$000

Opening balances at 1 July 2019 - 5,034 4,325 6,472 246,159 875 13,105 74 (1,565)    274,479

Transfers in:
Transfers from general rate equity - 1,183 - 121 - - 250 - 1,554
Interest received - 119 111 164 22 337 3 - 756
Revaluation gain - - - - 29,329 - - - - 29,329
Change in fair value of interest rate 
swaps - - - - - - - (654) (654)

- 1,302 111 285 29,329 22 337 253 (654) 30,985

Transfers out: -
Transfers to general rate equity - - - (110) - - (2) (319) - (431)
Transfers to targeted rate equity - (2,580) (535) (250) - - - - - (3,182)
Deferred tax arising on fair value 
movement - - - - - - - - 183 -

Realised on sale of assets - - - - - - - - - -

- (2,580) (535) (360) - - (2) (319) 183 (3,613)

Closing balances 30 June 2020 - 3,756 3,901 6,397 275,488 897 13,440 8 (2,036) 301,851

Transfers in:
Transfers from general rate equity - 1,702 - 878 - - - 250 - 2,830
Transfers from targeted rate equity - 535 - - - - - 535
Interest received - 34 40 68 - 8 133 1 - 285
Revaluation gain - - - - 83,782 - - - - 83,782
Change in fair value of interest rate 
swaps - - - - - - - - 2,220 2,220

- 1,736 575 946 83,782 8 133 251 2,220 89,652
Transfers out:
Transfers to general rate equity - (2,555) - (131) - - - (250) (2,936)
Transfers to targeted rate equity - - - (250) - - - - (250)
Deferred tax arising on fair value 
movement - - - - - - - - (622) (622)
Realised on sale of assets - - - - - - - -

- (2,555) - (381) - - - (250) (622) (3,808)

Closing balances 30 June 2021 - 2,937 4,476 6,962 359,270 905 13,573 9 (438) 387,695

Closing balances 30 June 2020 - 3,756 3,901 6,397 275,488 897 13,440 8 (2,036) 301,851
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Restricted and Council Created Reserves

Restricted reserves are a component of equity generally representing a particular use to which various parts of equity 
have been assigned.  Reserves may be legally restricted or created by the Council.

Restricted reserves are those subject to specific conditions accepted as binding by the Council and which may not be 
revised by the Council without reference to the Courts or a third party.  Transfers from these reserves may be made 
only for certain specified purposes or when certain specified conditions are met.

Also included in restricted reserves are reserves restricted by Council decision.  The Council may alter them without 
references to any third party or the Courts.  Transfers to and from these reserves are at the discretion of the Council.

Available-for-Sale Revaluation Reserve

The available-for-sale revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of the shares in subsidiary (Council only) and 
shares in listed companies (Group).  

Asset Replacement Reserve

This reserve represents funds held for the replacement of Council operational assets. 

Emergency Response Reserve

This reserve is separately funded to enable Council to respond appropriately to emergency situations.

Kuriwao Endowment Reserve – Restricted 

This reserve represents the accumulation of net income from Kuriwao Endowment land less any distribution of that 
income.  The reserve is available to fund works for the benefit of the Lower Clutha District.

Asset Revaluation Reserve

This reserve arises on the revaluation of investment property.

Water Management Reserve

The purpose of this reserve is to provide funding for water management initiatives in Otago.

Hedging Reserve

This reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging 
instruments relating to interest payments that have not yet occurred. 

Building Reserve

The purpose of this reserve is to set aside funding for a new head office for the Council.

Environmental Enhancement Reserve

The purpose of this reserve is to provide funding for the maintenance or enhancement of areas of the natural 
environment within the Otago region.
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17 (a) Public Equity
Council

2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Public Equity – General Rates

Balance at beginning of year 72,647 72,482 340,758 327,479

Net surplus (8,354) (4,006) 76,030 37,051

Transfers in
Transfer from Public Equity Targeted Rates 49,983 40,515 49,983 40,515
Kuriawo endowment reserve 131 110 131 110
Asset replacement reserve 2,555 2,580 2,555 2,580
Asset revaluation reserve - - - -
Water Management Reserve - - - -
Environmental Enhancement Reserve 250 319 250 319
Building Reserve - 2 - 2

52,919 43,526 52,919 43,526

Transfer out
Transfer to Public Equity Targeted Rates (48,260) (35,659) (48,260) (35,659)
Kuriwao endowment reserve (946) (285) (946) (285)
Asset replacement reserve (1,736) (1,302) (1,736) (1,302)
Emergency response reserve (575) (111) (575) (111)
Asset revaluation reserve (1,542) (1,386) (83,783) (29,329)
Water management reserve (9) (22) (9) (22)
Building Reserve (133) (337) (133) (337)
Environmental Enhancement Reserve (250) (253) (250) (253)
Available-for-sale asset gains reclassified to surplus/-
(deficit) - - - -

(53,451) (39,355) (135,692)       (67,298)

Balance at end of year 63,761 72,647 334,015            340,758

Public Equity – Targeted Rates

Balance at beginning of year 47,884 51,955 47,884 51,955

Transfers in
Transfer from Public Equity General Rates 48,260 35,659 48,260 35,659
Kuriwao endowment reserve 250 250 250 250
Emergency response reserve - 535 - 535

48,510 36,444 48,510 36,444

Transfers out
Transfer to Public Equity General Rates (49,983) (40,515) (49,983) (40,515)

(49,983) (40,515) (49,983) (40,515)

Balance at end of year – refer note 17 (b) 46,411 47,884 46,411 47,884

Total Public Equity

Balance at beginning of year 120,531 124,437 388,642 379,434

Net surplus (8,354) (4,006) 79,064 37,051
Transfers (2,005) 100 (84,246) (27,843)

Balance at end of year 110,172 120,531 380,426 388,642

Equity is the community’s interest in the Council and Group and is measured as the difference between total assets 
and total liabilities. Equity is disaggregated and classified into a number of reserves. 
Reserves are a component of equity generally representing a particular use to which various parts of equity have been 
assigned. Reserves may be legally restricted or created by Council.
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17 (b) Public Equity Targeted Rates – Reserve Movements

Council and Group - 2021 Council and Group – 2020
Opening 

balance 1 July 
2020
$000

Transfers in
$000

Transfers out
$000

Closing balance 
30 June 2021

$000

Opening 
balance 

1 July 2019
$000

Transfers in
$000

Transfers out
$000

Closing balance 
30 June 2020

$000

Targeted Rating District Equity
River Management Reserves
Central Otago River Management 460 313 (339) 434 395 315 (248) 460
Clutha River Management 183 332 (332) 183 38 333 (188) 183
Dunedin River Management 1,462 268 (350) 1,380 1,479 287 (304) 1,462
Queenstown River Management 745 176 (214) 707 684 170 (109) 745
Waitaki River Management 512 407 (390) 529 222 411 (121) 512
Wanaka River Management 571 209 (1,054) (274) 571 234 (234) 571
Shotover Delta Flood Mitigation 204 84 (39) 249 133 86 (15) 204
Stoney Creek 152 2 - 154 148 4 - 152

Flood and Drainage scheme reserves
Alexandra Flood Protection 146 96 (186) 56 231 99 (184) 146
East Taieri Drainage 346 658 (550) 454 199 485 (338) 346
Leith Flood Protection (15,734) 1,614 (856) (14,976) (14,665) 1,629 (2,698) (15,734)
Lower Clutha Flood and Drainage (101) 3,256 (3,842) (687) (197) 1,639 (1,543) (101)
Lower Taieri Flood Protection 955 1,577 (1,195) 1,337 632 839 (516) 955
Lower Waitaki Flood Protection 4 203 (213) (6) (9) 162 (149) 4
Tokomairiro Drainage 244 144 (145) 243 150 129 (35) 244
West Taieri Drainage (1,926) 889 (872) (1,909) (1,844) 664 (746) (1,926)

Other Reserves
Clean Heat Clean Air 47 - (47) - 209 3 (165) 47
Dunedin Transport Services (4,504) 18,792 (20,777) (6,489) (2,539) 16,030 (17,995) (4,504)
Queenstown Transport Services (359) 8,029 (8,513) (843) (188) 7,096 (7,267) (359)
Rural Water Quality 1,189 696 (271) 1,614 509 1,167 (487) 1,189
Dairy Monitoring 80 192 (198) 74 74 190 (184) 80
Wilding Pines (205) 6,030 (6,114) (289) (144) 1,892 (1,953) (205)
Emergency Management (669) 2,852 (2,617) (434) (63) 2,564 (3,170) (669)
Lake Hayes Restoration (365) - (4) (369) (372) 16 (9) (365)
Infrastructural Assets 64,447 1,691 (865) 65,273 66,304 - (1,857) 64,447

47,884 48,510 (49,983) 46,411 51,955 36,444 (40,515) 47,884
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River Management Reserves
Targeted rating is used to fund river management works across the city and districts within Otago.

Flood and Drainage Scheme Reserves
Targeted rating is used to fund the costs associated with maintaining the level of flood and drainage protection 
provided by these schemes.

Transport Reserves
Targeted rating is used in Dunedin and Queenstown to fund the Council’s costs associated with the provision of bus 
services. 

Clean Heat Clear Air Reserve
The purpose of this reserve is to fund costs associated with the provision of funding associated with the 
improvement of insulation and heating in homes located within the targeted rating district.

Schedule of Internal Borrowing for Public Equity Targeted Rates – Reserve

Council 2021

Amount 
borrowed

as at 30
June 2020

$000

Funds 
borrowed 

during
the year

$000

Funds
repaid 
during

the year
$000

Interest 
charged

$000

Amount 
borrowed

as at 30
June 2021

$000

Flood Protection and Control Works 17,761 5,590 (5,962) 194 17,583

Environment 570 6,111 (6,030) 7 658

Safety and Hazards 669 2,608 (2,852) 6 431

Transport 4,863 29,224 (26,822) 67 7,332

23,863 43,533 (41,666) 274 26,004

Council 2020

Amount 
borrowed

as at 30
June 2019

$000

Funds 
borrowed 

during
the year

$000

Funds
repaid 
during

the year
$000

Interest 
charged

$000

Amount 
borrowed

as at 30
June 2020

$000

Flood Protection and Control Works 16,706 4,555 (3,932) 432 17,761

Environment 516 1,949 (1,908) 13 570

Community 9 149 (162) 0 (4)

Safety and Hazards 63 3,161 (2,564) 9 669

Transport 2,727 25,167 (23,126) 90 4,863

20,021 34,981 (31,692) 544 23,859
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18. Income Taxes

Income Tax Recognised in Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense

Notes

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Income tax (expense)/benefit comprises:
Current year – current tax - - (4,914) (6,885)
Current year – deferred tax 100 101 (2,035) 667
Prior period adjustment current tax - - 7 (108)
Prior period adjustment deferred tax - - - -
Income tax (expense)/benefit reported in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and 
Expense 100 101 (6,942) (7,444)
The prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax 
accounting surplus reconciles to the income tax 
expense in the financial statements as follows:
Surplus/(deficit) before income tax (8,454) (4,107) 82,972 44,495
Imputation credits - - - -

(8,454) (4,107) 82,972 44,495

Income tax expense (credit) calculated at 28% (2,367) (1,150) 23,232 12,459
Non-deductible expenses 23,807 19,141 23,856 19,178
Non-assessable income (18,712) (15,429) (40,348) (15,950)
Unrealised change in investment property - - (100) (6,998)
Deferred tax expense relating to the origination 
and reversal of temporary differences - - 92 (326)
Prior period adjustment - - 210 (919)
Imputation credits utilised (2,828) (2,660) - -

Income tax expense (credit) (100) (101) 6,942 7,444

Council entered into an agreement for the Council to transfer 2020 tax year losses to its subsidiary Port Otago 
Limited. In conjunction with the tax loss transfer of $257,857 (2020 tax year: $359,850), by way of a tax loss offset, 
Port Otago Limited made a subvention payment of $100,278 (2020 tax year: $100,758) to the Council. 

The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax, except to the extent that it relates 
to items recognised directly in equity, in which case the tax expense is also recognised in equity.

Current tax payable is based on taxable profit for the period.  Taxable profit differs from net surplus/(deficit) before 
tax, as reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue and Expense, because it excludes items of income or 
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or 
deductible. The Council’s and Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted by 
the balance sheet date. 

Deferred Tax Balances
Deferred tax comprise taxable and deductible temporary differences arising from the following: 

COUNCIL 2021

Council
Opening
Balance

$000

Council
Charged to

Surplus/(Deficit)
$000

Council
Charged to other
Comprehensive 

Revenue and 
Expense

$000

Council
Closing
Balance

$000

Gross deferred tax asset:
Tax losses 101 (3) - 98

101 (3) - 98
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COUNCIL 2020

Council
Opening
Balance

$000

Council
Charged to

Surplus/(Deficit)
$000

Council
Charged to Other
Comprehensive 

Revenue and 
Expense

$000

Council
Closing
Balance

$000

Gross deferred tax asset:
Tax losses 98 - - 98

98 - - 98

GROUP 2021

Group
Opening
Balance

$000

Group
Charged to

Surplus/(Deficit)
$000

Group
Charged to Other
Comprehensive 

Revenue and 
Expense

$000

Group
Closing
Balance

$000

Gross deferred tax liability:
Other financial assets (854) 169 622 (64)
Property, plant and equipment 11,365 (606) - 10,759
Investment property 5,110 2,199 - 7,309
Other (1,874) 273 - (1,600)

13,747 2,035 622 16,404

GROUP 2020

Group
Opening
Balance

$000

Group
Charged to

Surplus/(Deficit)
$000

Group
Charged to Other
Comprehensive 

Revenue and 
Expense

$000

Group
Closing
Balance

$000

Gross deferred tax liability:
Other financial assets             (606) (65) (183) (854)
Property, plant and equipment 12,498 (1,133) - 11,365
Investment property 4,559 551 - 5,110
Other (1,854) (20) - (1,874)

14,597 (667) (183) 13,747

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.  
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised.

Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither 
the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period(s) when the 
asset and liability giving rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax 
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Council and Group expects, at the reporting date, to 
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the surplus/(deficit), except when it relates to items 
credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity. 
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Imputation Credit Account Balances

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Balance at end of year 47,693 45,993

Imputation credit balances available directly and indirectly to the Council through subsidiaries are $47,791,000 as at 
30 June 2021, and $46,091,000 as at 30 June 2020.

19. Other Expenses

Notes

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Net bad and doubtful debts 16 43 16 59
Donations 350 350 544 466
Operating lease rental expenses:
-  Minimum lease payments 454 341 1,239 829
Company Directors’ remuneration - - 387 356
Purchased materials and services 58,311 44,249 77,988 64,985
Fuel and electricity 372 417 2,795 3,155
Write-off of property, plant and equipment work in 
progress 564 2,380 564 2,380

60,067 47,780 83,533 72,230

Included in the write-off of property, plant and equipment work in progress are assets which were vested to Dunedin 
City Council and the Otago community.

20. Remuneration (Council Only)

Employee Staffing Levels
The number of all employees, employed by the Council on the last day of the financial year was as follows:

Number of Employees 
30 June 2021

Number of Employees 
30 June 2020

Full-time employees 231 186
Full-time equivalent number of other employees 19.8 20.6

Council regards one full-time equivalent as an employee who works 37.5 hours weekly.

Employee Remuneration
The following table classifies the number of all employees employed on the last day of the financial year into 
remuneration bands, calculated as the total annual remuneration (including the value of non-financial benefits) being 
received as at the last day of the financial year.

Total Annual
Remuneration

Number of Employees
30 June 2021

Number of Employees
30 June 2020

Less than $60,000 44 36
$60,000 to $79,999 74 77
$80,000 to $99,999 76 55
$100,000 to $119,999 33 21
$120,000 to $139,999 14 14
$140,000 to $199,999 10 5
$200,000 to $299,999 5 5
$300,000 to $319,999 1 1

257 214
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Chief Executive Remuneration

The Chief Executive of the Council is appointed under Section 42 of the Local Government Act 2002.  During the 
period to 30 June 2021 the Chief Executive Sarah Gardner received salary payments amounting to $316,631 (2020: 
$281,770), and the total cost including fringe benefit tax of the remuneration package received during that period is 
calculated at $360,026 (2020: $322,550).

Elected Representatives’ Remuneration
The following tables disclose the total annual remuneration (including the value of non-financial benefits) received 
by or payable to the Chairperson and other Councillors of the Council.

Council Remuneration 2021

Councillor

Meetings 
attended / 

eligible 
meetings 1

Remuneration Meeting fees Allowances 
and mileage Other Total

$ $ $ $ $
Andrew Noone (Chairperson) 45/47 140,522 - 550 12,729 153,801
Michael Laws (Deputy Chairperson) 39/43 83,920 - 10,102 324 94,346
Hilary Calvert 46/47 62,239 - 550 - 62,789
Michael Deaker 41/43 62,239 - 1,045 - 63,284
Alexa Forbes 41/43 62,239 2,690 11,849 281 77,059
Marian Hobbs  40/43 62,239 - 3,415 - 65,654
Carmen Hope 37/43 62,239 - 10,701 97 73,037
Gary Kelliher 39/43 62,239 240 11,442 - 73,921
Kevin Malcolm 41/47 62,239 - 13,344 - 75,583
Gretchen Robertson 40/43 62,239 2,050 1,967 19 66,275
Bryan Scott 41/43 62,239 - 2,642 251 65,132
Kate Wilson 44/47 62,239 - 550 - 62,789

846,832 4,980 68,157 13,701 933,670
1 Eligible meetings include attendance at Council and Committee Meetings and Subcommittee Audit and Risk 
(for Crs Calvert, Noone, Malcolm and Wilson).  Councillors may have been absent on council business

Council Remuneration 2020

Councillor Month 
in term

Meetings 
attended / 

eligible 
meetings 1

Remuneration Meeting 
fees

Allowances 
and mileage Other Total

$ $ $ $ $
Stephen Woodhead
(Chairperson to Oct 19) 4 14/14 40,494 - - 3,814 44,308
Gretchen Robertson
(Deputy Chairperson to Oct 19) 

12
39/40 65,469 8,053 1,354 422 75,298

Marian Hobbs
(Chairperson from Oct 19) 

8
26/26 102,246 - 725 - 102,971

Michael Laws
(Deputy Chairperson from Oct 19) 

12
37/40 74,033 - 10,918 321 85,272

Alexa Forbes 8 25/26 43,400 - 5,164 646 49,210
Graeme Bell 4 9/14 15,763 - 2,165 35 17,963
Douglas Brown 4 14/14 18,128 - 3,132 362 21,622
Michael Deaker 12 37/40 61,528 - 750 - 62,278
Gary Kelliher 8 24/26 43,400 - 6,631 - 50,031
Hilary Calvert 8 26/26 43,400 - 275 - 43,675
Carmen Hope 12 39/40 59,163 - 5,500 64 64,727
Kate Wilson 8 26/26 43,400 - 275 - 43,675
Trevor Kempton 4 14/14 18,128 - 475 - 18,603
Kevin Malcolm 8 26/26 43,400 - 1,214 - 44,614
Ella Lawton 4 11/14 15,763 4,187 4,079 455 24,484
Samuel Neill 4 14/14 15,763 - 475 - 16,238
Andrew Noone 12 37/40 61,528 4,837 1,646 108 68,119
Bryan Scott 12 40/40 61,528 520 1,196 27 63,270

826,534 17,597 45,974 6,254 896,359
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Severance Payments
For the year ended 30 June 2021, the Council had one (2020: one) severance payments totalling $95,000 (2020: 
$7,000).

21. Key Management Personnel Compensation

The compensation of the Councillors, Chief Executive and General Managers of the Council, and of the Directors and 
other senior management of the Port Otago Limited Group was as follows:

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Management personnel

Short-term employee benefits 1,584 1,329 4,915 4,639
Post-employment benefits - - - -

1,584 1,329 4,915 4,639
Full-time equivalent number of key management 
personnel 6 6 24 24

Governing personnel
Councillors remuneration 860 858 860 858
Directors’ fees - - 387 356

860 858 1,247 1,214

22. Employee Benefits Expense

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Salaries and wages 20,886 17,133 51,487 50,230
Defined contribution plans 916 745 2,468 2,373
Termination benefits 154 211 154 211

21,956 18,089 54,109 52,814

Superannuation Schemes

Recognition and Measurement
Contributions to defined contribution superannuation schemes are expensed when incurred.

23. Subsequent Events

On 5 October 2021 the Directors of Port Otago declared a final dividend of $1.0 million for the year ended 30 June 
2021. As the final dividend was approved after balance date, the financial effect of the dividend payable of $1.0 million 
has not been recognised in the Balance Sheet.

On 21 September 2021 Council entered into the New Zealand Local Government Funding Agency (NZLGFA) as a 
guarantor.  The NZLGFA was incorporated in December 2021 with the purpose of providing debt funding to local 
authorities in New Zealand and it has a current credit rating from Standard and Poor’s of AA+.
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24. Commitments for Expenditure

Capital Expenditure Commitment
At 30 June 2021 the Group had commitments for capital expenditure of $20.4 million (2020: 4.78 million).  Included 
in the above amounts are Council commitments of $0.2 million (2020: $0.77 million) relating to property, plant and 
equipment acquisitions and contracts for capital expenditure.  Port Otago Limited had commitments for capital 
expenditure of $20.2 million (2020: $4.01 million) which relates to purchases and refurbishments of port assets and 
investment property.

Lease Commitments
Finance lease liabilities and non-cancellable operating lease commitments are disclosed in Note 27 to the financial 
statements.

25. Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

Council Only Contingent Liabilities

The Council has been advised of potential claims in relation to the issue of resource consents.  The Council does not 
expect any material uninsured liability to arise from these potential claims, (2020: $Nil).

2020: During the February 2020 flood event our flood assets on the Taieri and Lower Clutha performed to the expected 
level of service, however minor damage was incurred to these assets.  Council performed urgent repairs of $535,000 
and recorded a $289,000 impairment to the value of the flood protection fixed assets in the 30 June 2020 Statement 
of Comprehensive Income.

Council has performed an assessment of the damaged assets and forecasted that $5,700,000 future costs are required 
to restore the flood protection assets back to their expected level of service.  This forecasted cost is likely to be 
incurred in the 2021 financial period but is dependent on COVID-19 restrictions and river levels allowing work to 
proceed.

Consistent with the nature of the Council’s activities, the Council is involved in Environment, High and District Court 
proceedings resulting from decisions made by the Council as a planning and consenting authority under the Resource 
Management Act.

Council Only Contingent Assets 
The Council does not have any contingent assets as at 30 June 2021.

2020: Council has assessed the insurance proceeds which are likely to be available in relation to the flood protection 
asset damaged from the February 2020 flood event.  National Emergency Management Agency (NEMA) on preliminary 
insurance assessments has indicated that they will fund $2,400,000 of the cost of repairs.  Council’s external insurance 
provider on preliminary assessments have indicated that they will fund the entire cost of repair to pump stations 
which is estimated to be $177,000.  Certainty on the insurance proceeds is dependent on repairs being performed 
and actual costs being determined and are likely to be received in 2021 financial period.

Group
There are no contingent liabilities or assets at 30 June 2020 (30 June 2019: $Nil) other than those arising in the normal 
course of business.
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26. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on Council
There has been a minor impact on Council as a result of COVID-19 pandemic. 

Council’s subsidiary Port Otago Limited is held in Council financial statements at fair value.   The valuation of Port 
Otago is based on current year performance and forecasted future performance.  The global COVID-19 pandemic and 
resulting impacts on trade, the cruise industry and property markets has increased the level of uncertainty around 
certain estimates in the future performance of Port Otago.  This has had a minor impact on the valuation of our 
subsidiary Port Otago.

During the period March to June 2020 the New Zealand Transport Agency (NZTA) required Council it provide free bus 
fares for all users (this continued into the 2021 financial period).  Bus fare revenue was funded during this period 
directly by NZTA with $2,300,000 received to compensate Council for lost bus fare revenue from customers.  This was 
treated in the same manner as bus fare revenue and was recorded as other income on the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.  

The impact COVID-19 has had on Council levels of service has been recorded in the Statement of Service Performance 
section.

Group
An assessment of the impact of COVID-19 on the Group’s Statement of Comprehensive Income and Statement of 
Financial Position is set out below, based on the information available at the time of preparing these financial 
statements.

Other Revenue
The New Zealand government banned cruise ships from entering New Zealand waters from 14 March 2020 resulting 
in no arrivals during the 2021 financial year compared to 112 cruise ship arrivals in the 2020 financial year. At this 
stage it is unlikely cruise ships will visit for the coming 2021/22 cruise ship season (2022 financial year).

Investment Property
As at June 2020, the independent valuations of the Group's investment property portfolio were reported on the basis 
of 'material valuation uncertainty', meaning less certainty and a higher degree of caution should be applied to the 
valuations. As at June 2021, the 'material valuation uncertainty' clause has been removed from all of the independent 
valuations.
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27. Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Council and/or Group as Lessor
Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the net investment in 
the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return 
on the net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Council and/or Group as Lessee
Assets held under finance leases are recognised at their fair value or, if lower, at amounts equal to the present value 
of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the 
lessor is included in the Statement of Financial Position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a 
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly against income, 
unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised. 

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant 
lease.
Lease Incentives
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are also spread on a straight line 
basis over the lease term.

Disclosures for lessees

Leasing Arrangements
Operating leases relate to property, vehicles and equipment leases. All operating lease contracts contain market 
review clauses in the event that the Council/Group exercises its option to renew. The Council/Group does not have 
an option to purchase the leased asset at the expiry of the lease period.

Non-cancellable Operating Lease Payments

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Not longer than 1 year 491 346 1,029 702
Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 860 385 2,672 551
Longer than 5 years - - 1,939 109

1,351 731 5,640 1,362
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Disclosures for Lessor

Operating Lease Commitments as Lessor
The Group has entered into commercial property leases.  These non-cancellable leases have remaining non-
cancellable lease terms of up to 21 years.

Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases as at 30 June are as follows:

GROUP
2021
$000

2020
$000

Rentals receivable
Within one year 24,329 22,675
After one year but not more than five years 83,197 78,762
More than five years 86,869 91,146

Minimum future lease receivable 194,395 192,583

28. Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures

Ownership Interest
Country of Incorporation 2021

%
2020

%

Council – Otago Regional Council New Zealand - -
Subsidiaries – Port Otago Limited New Zealand 100 100

Otago Regional Council is the head entity within the consolidated group.  Port Otago Limited holds the Group’s interest 
in the other subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures detailed below.

The principal activities of the entities are:

Ownership Interest
Principal activities 2021

%
2020

%

Subsidiaries
Chalmers Properties Limited Property investment 100 100
Te Rapa Gateway Limited Property investment 100 100
Fiordland Pilot Services Limited Shipping services 100 100

Joint Ventures and Associates
Hamilton Porter JV Property investment - 66.7

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities that are controlled, either directly or indirectly, by the Council.  The results of subsidiaries 
acquired or disposed of during the period are included in the consolidated surplus/(deficit) from the effective date of 
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Joint Ventures
The remaining 33.3% interest in Hamilton Porter JV was purchased during the financial year.  Refer to Note 29 for 
transaction details.
 
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 
the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, 
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing 
control.
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The results, assets and liabilities of joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using 
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated 
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the surplus or deficit 
and other comprehensive income of the joint venture. In assessing the Group’s share of the surplus or deficit or other 
comprehensive income of the joint venture, the Group’s share of any unrealised profits or losses on transactions 
between Group companies and the joint venture is eliminated. Dividends or distributions received from a joint venture 
reduce the carrying amount of the investment in that joint venture in the Group financial statements. When the 
Group’s share of losses of a joint venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint venture, the Group discontinues 
its share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or 
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the investee 
becomes a joint venture until the date it ceases to be a joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in a joint 
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying value of the 
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the 
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit in the period in which the 
investment is acquired.

On 30 April 2020 South Freight Limited, a subsidiary of Port Otago Limited, sold its 50% ownership interest in Icon 
Logistics Limited to Harbour Logistics Limited, the remaining shareholder. This investment was previously accounted 
for in the Group financial statements using the equity method. Icon Logistics Limited was allowed to use the equity 
method due to this better reflecting the substance of the economic reality of the Group’s interest in the joint 
controlled entity Icon Logistics Limited.  

On 30 June 2020 South Freight Limited and Port Otago Limited were amalgamated with Port Otago Limited becoming 
the amalgamated company. The shares of South Freight Limited were cancelled without payment or other 
consideration.

All companies in the Group have 30 June balance dates.

Joint Ventures Accounted for Using the Equity Method

Note

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Balance at beginning of year - - - 2,003
Share of profit from joint ventures recognised 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Revenue 
and Expenses - - - 203
Shareholder advances - - - -
Less Net assets sold - (2,206)

Balance at end of year - - - -

Joint Operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 
the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. 

The Group’s interest in joint arrangements is incorporated into the Group’s financial statements and has been 
accounted in the Balance Sheet on the basis of the Group’s proportionate interest in the fair value of each of the 
assets and liabilities of the joint arrangements, and in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on the basis of the 
Group’s proportionate interest in the income and expenses incurred in relation to the joint arrangement. In 
determining the fair value of its share of the net assets and its share of net income of the joint arrangement, the 
Group applies the accounting policies set out in these financial statements.
Summarised financial information of jointly operations:
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Group 2021
$000

Group 2020
$000

Current assets - 3,303
Non-current assets - 5

Total assets - 3,308
Current liabilities - (115)
Non-current liabilities - -

Total liabilities - (115)

Net assets - 3,193

Any capital commitments and contingent liabilities arising from the Group’s interests in joint ventures are disclosed 
in Notes 24 and 25 respectively.

29. Related Party Disclosures

Council
Otago Regional Council is the ultimate parent of the Group and controls one entity, being Port Otago Limited, including 
its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.  

During the 30 June 2021 year, Councillors as part of a normal customer relationship, were involved in minor arm’s 
length transactions with the Council, such as the payment of rates.

Related Party entity Relationship to 
related party 
entity

Total paid by 
the entity to 

Council

Total paid by 
the entity to 

Council

Outstanding 
balance owed 

by Entity

Outstanding 
balance owed 

by Council
Councillor Hilary Calvert
Auripo Holdings Limited Shareholder 273 - - 4,862
Councillor Marian Hobbs
Otago Natural History Trust Trustee - - - 115,000
Orokonui Ecosanctuary 
Limited

Director - 11,885 - -

Councillor Gary Kelliher
Springvale Downs Limited Director/

Shareholder
76 - - -

Springvale Water Supply 
Company Limited

Director 94 - - -

Councillor Kevin Malcolm -
J & E Soper Family Trust Trustee 121 - - -
Poltalloch South Trust Trustee 121 - - -
Councillor Andrew Noone
Ravensdown Limited Shareholder 26,908 - - -
Silver Fern Farms Limited Shareholder 11,610 - - -
Councillor Kate Wilson
Predator Free Dunedin Trustee 

(Ceased Dec 2020)
- 690,000 - -

Strath Taieri Agriculture and 
Rural Tourism Trust

Trustee 232 - - -
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During the 30 June 2020 year, Councillors as part of a normal customer relationship, were involved in minor arm’s 
length transactions with the Council, such as the payment of rates.

Related Party entity Relationship 
to related 

party entity

Total paid by the 
entity to Council

Total paid to the 
entity to Council

Outstanding 
balance owed by 

Council
Councillor Graeme Bell
Meridian Energy Limited Shareholder - 273,752 4,862
Councillor Douglas Brown
Alliance Group Limited Shareholder 3,301 - -
Contact Energy Limited Shareholder 208,074 - -
Farmlands Co-operative Society Shareholder - 5,975
Meridian Energy Limited Shareholder - 273,752 4,862
North Otago Irrigation Company 
Limited

Shareholder 1,070 - -

PGG Wrightsons Limited Shareholder - 720 1,072
Ravensdown Limited Shareholder 7,366 - -
Councillor Hilary Calvert
Auripo Holdings Limited Shareholder 273 - -
Councillor Gary Kelliher
Springvale Downs Limited Director/ 

shareholder
76 - -

Springvale Water Supply Company 
Limited

Director 38 - -

Councillor Trevor Kempton
Delta Utility Services Limited Director 750 11,747 7,493
Naylor Love Limited Director - 61,133 -
Councillor Kevin Malcolm
J & E Soper Family Trust Trustee 121 - -
Poltalloch South Trust Trustee 5,142 - -
Councillor Andrew Noone
Ravensdown Limited Shareholder 7,366 - -
Silver Fern Farms Limited Shareholder 15,436 - -
Councillor Kate Wilson
Predator Free Dunedin Trustee - - 350,000
Strath Taieri Agriculture and Rural 
Tourism Trust

Trustee 574 - -

Group

Refer to Note 2 for transactions between Council and Port Otago Limited.

Transactions with Icon Logistics Limited
Port Otago Limited had a 50% interest in Icon Logistics Limited through its wholly owned subsidiary, South Freight 
Limited. This interest was sold on 30 April 2020. 

Icon Logistics Limited is a tenant and purchaser of services from Port Otago Limited. The amount received from Icon 
Logistics Limited during 2020 for property rentals and sale of services was $121,732 with $684 receivable at 30 June 
2020.

Icon Logistics Limited also provides transport services to Port Otago Limited. The amount paid to Icon Logistics Limited 
during 2020 for the supply of transport services was $1,326,499 with $128,749 payable at 30 June 2020. South Freight 
Limited provided a $200,000 shareholder advance to Icon Logistics Limited during the 2019 financial year. For the 
period ended 30 April 2020, interest revenue of $5,340 was accrued.
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Transactions with Hamilton Porter JV
Port Otago Limited had a 66.7% interest in the Hamilton Porter JV through its wholly owned subsidiary, Te Rapa 
Gateway Limited (TGL). During the year, TGL acquired the remaining 33.3% interest held by R&M Corporation Limited 
for $2.4 million through a share sale and purchase, resulting in TGL being the sole shareholder of Hamilton Porter JV 
Company Limited (HPJVL) and sole beneficiary of the bare trust. Subsequently, all assets held by HPJVL were 
transferred to TGL and HPJVL was liquidated and wound up.

At June 2020, Te Rapa Gateway Limited provided an advance of $103,000 to Hamilton Porter JV. Hamilton Porter JV 
also has an accounts payable balance owing for recharged costs of $2,842. 

Chalmers Properties Limited provided accounting and administration services to Hamilton Porter JV for which $5,000 
was charged for the 2020 financial year. At 30 June 2020 there were no balances owing to Chalmers Properties 
Limited.

Transactions Eliminated on Consolidation
Related party transactions and outstanding balances with other entities in a group are disclosed in an entity’s financial 
statements. Intra-group related party transactions and outstanding balances are eliminated in the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements of the group.

30. Remuneration of Auditors

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Audit fees for financial statement audit 125 121 125 121
Audit fees for audit of Annual Plan/Long-Term Plan  70 - 70 -
Other services - - - -
Fees for tax and advisory services – Council - - - -

195 121 195 121
Audit fees to other auditors for audit of financial 
statements of group entities - - 127 129

- - 127 129

195 121 322 250

The auditor for and on behalf of the Controller and Auditor-General, of the Otago Regional Council, is Deloitte Limited, 
and of the Port Otago Limited Group is Audit New Zealand.

31. Financial Instruments

Financial Risk Management Objectives
The Council has established a Treasury Management Policy, which combines the Local Government Act 2002 
requirement for local authorities to adopt a Liability Management Policy and an Investment Policy. These provide a 
framework for prudent debt management and the management of financial resources in an efficient and effective 
way.

The Council and Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, 
for speculative purposes.  

Significant Accounting Policies for Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Council’s or Group’s Statement of Financial Position when 
the Council and/or Group becomes a party to contractual provisions of the instrument.
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Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where purchase or sale of an investment is under a 
contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, 
and are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as fair value 
through surplus or deficit which are initially valued at fair value.

Financial Assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through surplus or 
deficit’, ‘available-for-sale’ financial assets, and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and 
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Impairment of Financial Assets
Financial assets, other than those at fair value through surplus or deficit, are assessed for indicators of impairment at 
each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that as a result of one or more 
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset the estimated future cash flows of the 
investment have been impacted. For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate.

Derivative Financial Instruments
The Council and Group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate 
and foreign exchange rate risk, including foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate swaps. 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
re-measured to their fair value at each balance date. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on 
whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged.

The Group designates hedges of highly probable forecast transactions as cash flow hedges.  Changes in the fair value 
of derivatives qualifying as cash flow hedges are recognised in other comprehensive revenue and expense and 
transferred to the cash flow hedge reserve in equity.  The ineffective component of the fair value changes on the 
hedging instrument is recorded directly in the surplus/(deficit).

When a hedging instrument expires or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any 
cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction 
is ultimately recognised in the surplus/(deficit).  When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the 
cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the surplus or deficit.  Changes in 
the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recognised immediately in 
the surplus/(deficit).

For qualifying hedge relationships, the Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between 
hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective.  The Group also documents its 
assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging 
transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in cash flows of hedged items.

The net differential paid or received on interest rate swaps is recognised as a component of interest expense over the 
period of the swap agreement.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument 
is more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months.  Other derivatives are 
presented as current assets or current liabilities.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The group carries interest rate derivatives (derivative financial instruments) at fair value. The fair value of interest rate 
swaps is the estimated amount that the Group would receive or pay to terminate the swap at the reporting date, 
taking into account current interest rates. These instruments are included in Level 2 of the fair value measurement 
hierarchy. Interest rate derivative fair values are valued and are calculated using a discounted cash flow model using 
FRA rates provided by ANZ Bank New Zealand Limited based on the reporting date of 30 June 2021.

COUNCIL GROUP
Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Total
$000

Level 1
$000

Level 2
$000

Level 3
$000

Total
$000

2021
Financial asset at FVTSD:
Other financial instruments - - - - - 1,021 - 1,021

Financial liabilities at FVTSD:
Other financial instruments - - - - - (1,255) - (1,255)

2020
Financial liabilities at FVTSD:
Other financial instruments - - - - - (3,056) - (3,056)

Categories of Financial Instruments

COUNCIL 2020

Loans and 
Receivables

$000

Fair Value 
Through 

Surplus or 
Deficit – Held 

for Trading
$000

Fair Value 
Through Other 
Comprehensive 

Revenue and 
Expense

$000

Financial 
Liabilities at 
Amortised 

Cost
$000

Total
$000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7,898 - - - 7,898
Trade and other receivables (note 12) 9,412 - - - 9,412
Other financial assets (note 5) - 23,436 - - 23,436
Shares in subsidiary - - 536,364 - 536,364

Total financial assets 17,310 23,436 536,364 - 577,110
Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables (note 13) - - - 10,318 10,318

Total financial liabilities 10,318 10,318

COUNCIL 2021

Loans and 
Receivables

$000

Fair Value 
Through 

Surplus or 
Deficit – Held 

for Trading
$000

Fair Value 
Through Other 
Comprehensive 

Revenue and 
Expense

$000

Financial 
Liabilities at 
Amortised 

Cost
$000

Total
$000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4,380 - - - 4,380
Trade and other receivables (note 12) 8,318 - - - 8,318
Other financial assets (note 5) - 25,313 - - 25,313
Other current assets 698 - - - 698
Shares in subsidiary - - 612,330 - 612,330

Total financial assets 13,396 25,313 612,330 - 651,039
Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables (note 13) - - - 17,031 17,031
Provision - - - 783 783

Total financial liabilities - - - 17,814 17,814
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GROUP 2021

Loans and 
Receivables

$000

Fair Value 
Through 

Surplus or 
Deficit – Held 

for Trading
$000

Fair Value 
Through Other 
Comprehensive 

Revenue and 
Expense

$000

Financial 
Liabilities at 
Amortised 

Cost
$000

Total
$000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4,621 - - - 4,621
Trade and other receivables (note 12) 19,131 - - - 19,131
Other financial instruments - 1,021 - - 1,021
Other financial assets (note 5) - 25,313 - - 25,313

Total financial assets 23,752 26,334 - - 50,086
Financial Liabilities
Other financial instruments - 1,255 - - 1,255
Trade and other payables (note 13) - - -   23,980 23,980
Borrowings (secured) (note 15) - - - 79,090 79,090

Total financial liabilities 1,255 -      103,070 104,325

GROUP 2020

Loans and 
Receivables

$000

Fair Value 
Through 

Surplus or 
Deficit – Held 

for Trading
$000

Fair Value 
Through Other 
Comprehensive 

Revenue and 
Expense

$000

Financial 
Liabilities at 
Amortised 

Cost
$000

Total
$000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8,205 - - - 8,205
Trade and other receivables (note 12) 24,522 - - - 24,522
Other financial assets (note 5) - 23,436 - - 23,436

Total financial assets 32,727 23,436 - - 56,163
Financial Liabilities
Other financial instruments - 3,056 - - 3,056
Trade and other payables (note 13) - - - 18,426 18,426
Borrowings (secured) (note 15) - - - 72,290 72,290

Total financial liabilities - 3,056 - 90,716 93,772

Market Risk 
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in market prices of other financial assets 
(principally Managed Funds – Equities and Shares in Listed Companies), foreign currency exchange rates and interest 
rates.  

There has been no change during the year to the group exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages 
and measures the risk.

(a) Currency Risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange 
rates.  The Group is exposed to currency risk in relation to the purchase of certain capital items denominated in foreign 
currencies. Foreign currency forward purchase contracts are used to manage the Group’s exposure to movements in 
exchange rates on foreign currency denominated liabilities and purchase commitments.  The Council is exposed to 
currency risk in relation to the investments denominated in foreign currencies forming part of the managed fund 
portfolio.  The policy governing Managed Funds places restrictions on the currencies in which the fund manager may 
invest, and the amount of exposure to any one currency.
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Amount of Exposure to Currency Risk
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk for each class of financial instruments is as follows:

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Managed funds 8,340 6,734   8,340 6,734

Total Managed funds 8,340 6,734    8,340 6,734

The only significant sensitivity the group has in relation to changes in foreign currency relates to the Council’s 
Managed funds.  The carrying value of investments in equity securities held in AUD, USD and Euro denominated 
currency may fluctuate with changes in the exchange rate between the New Zealand dollar and the foreign currency.

A favourable movement of 10% in the exchange rates at 30 June 2021 would have the impact of increasing the carrying 
value of the Managed funds, and the Council surplus, by $926,579 (2020: $780,000), and an unfavourable movement 
of 10% would impact unfavourably to the extent of $758,532 (2020: $638,000).

(b) Interest Rate Risk
The Council and Group is exposed to interest rate risk as it borrows funds at floating interest rates.  The risk is managed 
by the use of floating-to-fixed interest rate swaps contracts.  These swaps have the economic effect of converting 
borrowings from floating rate to fixed rates.

Under interest rate swap contracts, the Group agrees to exchange the difference between fixed and floating rate 
interest amounts calculated on agreed notional principal amounts. Such contracts enable the Group to mitigate the 
risk of changing interest rates on borrowings. The fair value of interest rate swaps are based on market values of 
equivalent instruments at the reporting date.

The Council is also exposed to interest rate risk to the extent that it holds funds on demand, at call or in floating 
interest rate instruments as part of cash and cash equivalent balances and the managed funds portfolio.

The policy governing management of the managed funds places restrictions on how the funds may be invested, and 
the amount of exposure to interest rates from funds held at call and on a floating rate basis.  Council invests surplus 
funds with Council-approved financial institutions, and holds sufficient funds on call as part of its cash management 
procedures.

The following table discloses the impact of a movement of plus and minus 100 basis points in interest rates applicable 
to those instruments.

Sensitivity to Interest Rate Risk

2021 2020

GROUP

Profit
-100bps

$000

Other
Equity

-100bps
$000

Profit
+100bps

$000

Other
Equity

+100bps
$000

Profit
-100bps

$000

Other
Equity

-100bps
$000

Profit
+100bps

$000

Other
Equity

+100bps
$000

Financial Liabilities
Borrowings 790 - (790) 723 - (723) -
Derivatives – hedge accounted - (2,271) - 823 - (4,435) - (1,478)
Derivatives – non-hedge accounted (229) - 923 (895) - 373 -

Total sensitivity to interest rate risk 561 (2,271) 133 823 (172) (4,435) (350) 1,478
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Equity Price Risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market prices.  The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk on its investments held in publicly traded 
securities.

The following information discloses the Group’s exposure and sensitivity to equity price risk.

Exposure to Equity Price Risk

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Financial Assets
Other financial assets 15,945 13,846 15,945 13,846

Exposure to equity price risk 15,945 13,846 15,945 13,846

Sensitivity to Equity Price Risk

2021 2020

COUNCIL and GROUP -10%
Profit
$000

-10%
Other
Equity
$000

+10%
Profit
$000

+10%
Other
Equity
$000

-10%
Profit
$000

-10%
Other
Equity
$000

+10%
Profit
$000

+10%
Other
Equity
$000

Financial Assets
Other financial assets (1,595) - 1,595 - (1,385) - 1,385 -

Total sensitivity equity price risk (1,595) - 1,595 - (1,385) - 1,385 -

The sensitivity analysis shows the impact a movement of plus or minus 10% in the price of equities would have on the 
fair value of the equities.

Credit Risk 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counter party will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to 
the Group.  

The Council has no significant concentrations of credit risk arising from trade receivables, as it has a large number of 
credit customers, mainly ratepayers, and Council has powers under the Local Government (Rating) Act 2002 to recover 
outstanding debts from ratepayers.

Council trade and other receivables mainly arise from the Council’s statutory functions, therefore there are no 
procedures in place to monitor or report the credit quality of debtors and other receivables with reference to internal 
or external credit ratings.

The Council Treasury Management Policy details the objectives, policies and restrictions for management of the fund.  
The policy includes the key objective of capital preservation, placing restrictions on the exposure to credit risk.

The Group is predominantly exposed to credit risk arising from a small number of shipping line and warehouse clients 
comprising the majority amount of subsidiary trade receivables. Regular monitoring of trade receivables is undertaken 
to ensure that the credit exposure remains within the Group’s normal trading terms of trade.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowance for impairment, 
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral 
obtained.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks 
with credit-ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies.
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Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk
The Group’s maximum exposure for each class of financial instrument is as follows:

Council
2021
$000

Council
2020
$000

Group
2021
$000

Group
2020
$000

Cash at bank and term deposits 4,380 7,898 4,380 8,205
Trade and other receivables 8,318 9,412 8,318 24,522
Other financial assets (Note 5) 25,313 23,436 25,313 23,436
Other financial instrument- asset - - 1,004 -
Other financial instrument- liability - - (1,255) (3,056)
Shares in subsidiary 612,330 536,364 612,330 -

650,341 577,110 650,090 53,107

Liquidity Risk Management

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they 
fall due. Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through 
adequate committed credit facilities, and the ability to close out market positions.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities 
by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and 
liabilities. 
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Contractual Maturity Analysis of Financial Instruments

The following contractual maturity information analyses the Group’s financial instruments into the relevant grouping based on the remaining period at balance date to the 
contractual maturity date.  Future interest payments on floating rate debt are based on the floating rate of the instrument at balance date.  The amounts disclosed are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows.

C O U N C I L    2 0 2 1 C O U N C I L    2 0 20
Ageing of Cash Flows Ageing of Cash FlowsWeighted

Average
Effective
Interest

Rate

Carrying
Amount

$000

Contractual
Cash Flows

$000

Less Than
1 Year
$000

1 Year or
Greater

$000

Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest

Rate

Carrying
Amount

$000

Contractual
Cash Flows

$000

Less Than
1 Year
$000

1 Year or
Greater

$000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - 4,380 4,380 4,380 - 0.05 7,898 7,898 7,898 -
Trade and other receivables - 8,318 8,318 8,318 - - 9,412 9,412 9,412 -
Managed fund:
Cash and call deposits - 2,113 2,113 2,113 - - 3,192 3,192 3,192 -
Fixed interest securities 2.18 10,108 10,620 2,982 7,638 3.00 8,741 8,752 2,342 6,410
Equity securities - 13,092 13,092 13,092 - - 11,503 11,503 11,503 -

Shares in subsidiary - 612,330 612,330 - 612,330 - 536,364 536,364 - 536,364

Total financial assets 650,341 650,853 30,885 619,968 577,110 577,121 34,347 542,774

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables - (17,031) (17,031) (17,031) - (10,318) (10,318) (10,318) -
Provision - (784) (784) (784) -

Total financial liabilities (17,815) (17,815) (17,815) - (10,318) (10,318) (10,318) -
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G R O U P    2 0 2 1 G R O U P    2 0 20
Ageing of Cash Flows Ageing of Cash FlowsWeighted

Average
Effective
Interest

Rate

Carrying
Amount

$000

Contractual
Cash Flows

$000

Less Than
1 Year
$000

1 Year or
Greater

$000

Weighted
Average
Effective
Interest

Rate

Carrying
Amount

$000

Contractual
Cash Flows

$000

Less Than
1 Year
$000

1 Year or
Greater

$000

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - 4,621 4,621 4,621 - 0.05 8,205 8,205 8,205 -
Trade and other receivables - 19,131 19,131 19,131 - - 24,522 24,522 24,522 -
Managed fund:
Cash and call deposits - 2,113 2,113 2,113 - - 3,192 3,192 3,192 -
Fixed interest securities 2.18 10,108 10,620 2,982 7,638 3.00 8,741 8,752 2,342 6,410
Equity securities - 13,092 13,092 13,092 - - 11,503 11,503 11,503 -

Total financial assets 49,065 49,577 41,939 7,638 - 56,163 56,174 49,764 6,410

Financial Liabilities
Trade and other payables - (23,980) (23,980) (23,980) - - (18,426) (18,426) (18,426) -
Borrowings (secured) 2.70 (79,090) (84,340) (16,495) (67,845) 2.9 (72,290) (77,148) (44,140) (33,008)
Provision - (783) (783) (783) - - - - - -
Other financial instruments - (234) (271) (716) 445 3.48 (3,056) (3,160) (1,112) (2,048)

Total financial liabilities (104,087) (109,374) (41,974) (67,400) (93,772) (98,734) (63,678) (35,056)
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Annual Report Disclosure Statement for year ending 30 June 2021

Purpose of this statement

The purpose of this statement is to disclose the Council’s financial performance in relation to various 
benchmarks to enable the assessment of whether the Council is prudently managing its revenues, expenses, 
assets, liabilities, and general financial dealings.

The Council is required to include this statement in its Annual Report in accordance with the Local 
Government (Financial Reporting and Prudence) Regulations 2014 (the regulations).  Refer to the regulations 
for more information, including definitions of some of the terms used in this statement.

Rates affordability benchmark

The Council meets the rates affordability benchmark if:

• Its actual rates income equals or is less than each quantified limit on rates; and
• Its actual rates increases equal or are less than each quantified limit on rates increases.

Rates (income) affordability

The following graph compares the Council’s actual rate income with a quantified limit on rate contained in 
the financial strategy included in the Council’s Long-Term Plan.  

The quantified limit is set in the Council financial summary statement and measured in thousands of dollars.  
The quantified limits for rates are from the long-term plan 2018-2028.  The quantified limit is $35 million or 
50% of total revenue.
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Rates (increases) affordability

The following graph compares the Council’s actual rate increases with a quantified limit on rate increases 
included in the financial strategy included in the Council’s Long-Term Plan.  The quantified limit is an 
increase of 7% per annum, (2017, 2018, 2019, 2020: 12%).

Rates affordability commentary

The Rates (Income) affordability graph shows the quantified limit was exceeded in 2018 and 2020. The 
quantified limit included in the Long-Term Plan was $20,700,000 and the actual amount of revenue was 
$20,908,000 in 2018. The Annual Plan for 2017/18 budgeted for rates of $20,910,000.

The Rates (increases) affordability graph shows the quantified limit was exceeded in 2018 and in the 2020. 
The quantified limit included in the Long-Term Plan was an increase of 12% in 2018 and 2020, and the actual 
amount of the increase was 31% and 14%. The Annual Plan 2019/20 provided for additional general rate 
funded expenditure, primarily in the Environmental activity area and specifically associated with the water 
programmes.
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Debt affordability benchmark

The Council meets the debt affordability benchmark if its actual borrowing is within each quantified limit on 
borrowing.  The Council specifies the quantified limit on borrowing as being the interest cost on borrowing as a 
percentage of revenue (percentage of rates income in PY).

The following graph compares the Council’s actual interest costs as a percentage of borrowing with a quantified 
limit specified in the financial strategy included in the Council’s Long-Term Plan.  The quantified limit is interest 
costs being a maximum of 20% of rates income, (2017-2020 20%).
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Balanced budget benchmark

The following graph displays the Council’s revenue (excluding development contributions, financial 
contributions, vested assets, gains on derivative financial instruments, and revaluations of property, plant, or 
equipment) as a proportion of operating expenses (excluding losses on derivative financial instruments and 
revaluations of property, plant, or equipment).

The Council meets this benchmark if its revenue equals or is greater than its operating expenses.

Balanced budget benchmark commentary

The balanced budget benchmark graph shows that in 2021-2017, Council’s revenue was less than operating 
expenses.  The Council is required to ensure that estimated revenue is sufficient to cover estimated operating 
costs unless Council resolves that in any particular year, it is financially prudent to fund a portion of operating 
costs from other sources, including reserve funds.

In the 2017 year, Council resolved to fund costs associated with particular activities from reserve funds, 
including funding from the general reserve for regional economic development, research and development, 
biodiversity restoration, stock truck effluent disposal sites and transport reserves for developmental 
transport activity.

In the 2018-2021 years, Council resolved to fund costs associated with particular activities from reserves, with 
the activities most affected being the Environmental, Community and Transport activities.
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Essential services benchmark

The following graph displays the Council’s capital expenditure on network services as a proportion of 
depreciation on network services.

The Council’s network services comprise flood protection and river management.

The Council meets this benchmark if its capital expenditure on network services equals or is greater than 
depreciation on network services.
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Debt servicing benchmark

The following graph displays the Council’s borrowing costs as a proportion of revenue (excluding development 
contributions, financial contributions, vested assets, gains on derivative financial instruments, and revaluations 
of property, plant, or equipment).

Because Statistics New Zealand projects the Council’s population will grow more slowly than the national 
population growth rate, Council meets the debt servicing benchmark if its borrowing costs equal or are less than 
10% of its revenue.
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Debt control benchmark

The following graph displays the Council’s actual net debt as a proportion of planned net debt.  In this 
statement, net debt means financial liabilities less financial assets (excluding trade and other receivables).

The Council meets the debt control benchmark if its actual net debt equals or is less than its planned net debt.

During the period 2016/17 to 2020/21, Council had budgeted net assets rather than net debt.  For Council, the 
debt control benchmark is met if its actual net assets (financial assets, excluding trade and other receivables), 
less financial liabilities, equals or is more than its planned net assets.
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Operations control benchmark

This graph displays the Council’s actual net cash flow from operations as a proportion of its planned net cash 
flow from operations.

The Council meets the operations control benchmark if its actual net cash flow from operations equals or is 
greater than its planned net cash flow from operations.

Operations Control benchmark commentary

The Operations Control benchmark graph shows the actual net cash flow from operations as a percentage of the 
planned net cash flow from operations.

In the 2021 year, the actual cash flow from operations was a net inflow of $271,000 compared to the planned 
net outflow of $2,661,000.  The major cause of this variance was an increase in grant revenue.

In the 2020 year, the actual cash flow from operations was a net outflow of $2,272,000 compared to the planned 
net outflow of $82,000.  The major cause of this variance was an increase in service on water policy, science, and 
our emergency response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

In the 2019 year, the actual cash flow from operations was a net inflow of $129,000 compared to the planned 
net outflow of $1,357,000.  The major cause of this variance was an increase in spending on capital projects, 
investment activities, in the current year.

In the 2018 year, the actual net cash flow from operations was a net outflow of $5,729,000 compared to the 
planned net inflow of $293,000. The major cause of this variance is associated with a lower revenue level than 
budgeted and an increased level of receivables than budgeted, concentrated on receivables from a small number 
of major organisations associated with transport projects. 

In the 2017 year, the actual net cash flow from operations was a net inflow of $3,173,000 compared to the 
planned net outflow of $1,978,000.
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Additional information

Rates Revenue

The rating base information in the table below is as at the preceding 30 June to the financial year shown in the 
table, and comprises the rating base for the region as a whole.

Otago Region
Rating Base Information

for the Year Ended
30 June 2021

Rating Base Information
for the Year Ended

30 June 2020
Total number of rating units 119,591 117,753
Total capital value of rating units $92,993,220,030 $80,888,981,000
Total land value of rating units $49,147,606,280 $41,964,349,700

Insurance of Assets

The total carrying value of all assets of the Council as at 30 June 2021 that are covered by insurance contracts 
amounts to $16.978 million (2020: $16.535 million) and the maximum amount to which they are insured is 
$52.751 million (2020: $48.008 million).

The total value of all assets of the Council as at 30 June 2021 that are self-insured amounts to $97.637 million 
(2020: $96.056 million).

Included in the value of self-insured assets are flood protection and drainage infrastructural assets of $64.477 
million (2020: $62.822 million), land of $29.060 million (2020: $28.215 million), transport infrastructural assets 
and hardware of $2.212 million (2020: $0.321 million) and software of $1.888 million (2020: $4.699 million).

Flood protection and drainage infrastructural assets include floodbanks, protection works and drains and 
culverts.  Assets of this nature are constructions or excavations of natural materials on the land, and have 
substantially the same characteristics of land, in that they are considered to have unlimited useful lives.

The Council does not maintain separate self-insurance funds, and considers that the level of reserve funds held 
is sufficient for the purpose of self-insuring assets that are not covered by insurance contracts.

As at 30 June 2021 the Council had not entered into any financial risk sharing arrangement for any assets held 
(2020: $Nil).
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Section four: The Organisation 
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Directory

Otago Regional Council councillors

Chairperson A Noone 
Deputy Chairperson M Laws
Regional Councillors H Calvert

M Deaker
A Forbes
M Hobbs
C Hope
G Kelliher

         K Malcolm
G Robertson
B Scott
K Wilson

Otago Regional Council executive staff

Chief Executive S Gardner
General Manager Corporate Services and Chief Financial Officer N Donnelly
General Manager Strategy, Policy and Science G Elsum
General Manager Operations G Palmer
General Manager Regulatory and Communications R Saunders
General Manager Governance, Culture and Customer A Vercoe

Otago Regional Council details 

Bankers Bank of New Zealand

Auditors Deloitte Limited on behalf of the 
Auditor-General, Wellington

Solicitors Ross Dowling Marquet and Griffin 
PO Box 1144, Dunedin

Principal office Philip Laing House, Level 2, 144 
Rattray Street, Dunedin 9016

Website www.orc.govt.nz

Phone 0800 474 082
0800 800 033 (Pollution hotline)

Email customerservices@orc.govt.nz

Port Otago Limited 

Chairperson Paul Rea
Deputy Chairperson Pat Heslin
Directors Tom Campbell

Tim Gibson
Jane Taylor
Bob Fulton
Becky Lloyd

Chief Executive Kevin Winders
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Office and depot locations

Offices
Dunedin office- Philip Laing House 
Monday to Friday. 8.00am to 5pm
Closed on public holidays.
Level 2
144 Rattray Street
Dunedin 9016

Queenstown office
Monday to Friday. 8.00am to 4.30pm.
Closed on public holidays.
Terrace Junction
1092 Frankton Road
Queenstown 9300

Depots
We have staff located at depots throughout the region. 
Please note that depots do not service general enquiries or accept payments. Please contact us by 
email or phone for guidance or general enquiries.

Stafford Street Dunedin
70 Stafford Street
Private Bag 1954
Dunedin 9054

Taieri
173 Dukes Road North
North Taieri

Balclutha
Hasborough Place
Balclutha 9230

Oamaru
32 Ribble Street
Oamaru 9400

Palmerston
54 Tiverton Street
Palmerston 9430

Alexandra office
William Fraser Building
Dunorling Street
Alexandra 9340 

Cromwell
14 Rogers Street
Cromwell 9310

Wanaka
185 Riverbank Road
Wanaka 9382

Statement of compliance
In accordance with Part 3 of Schedule 10, Clause 34 of the Local Government Act 2002, the Council 
and management of Otago Regional Council confirm that all the statutory requirements in relation to 
the Annual Report have been complied with.

Andrew Noone                                                                                  Sarah Gardner
Chairperson                                                                                        Chief Executive
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Section five: Independent auditors’ report
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[Public entity letterhead] 
 
27 October 2021 
 
Heidi Rautjoki 
Deloitte 
Chartered Accountants 
PO Box 1245 
Dunedin 9054 
  
REPRESENTATION LETTER FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021 
 
This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit, carried out on behalf of the Auditor-General, of the 
financial statements and statement of performance of Otago Regional Council and group for the year ended 30 June 
2021 for the purpose of expressing an independent opinion about whether: 
 
The financial statements: 
 
- present fairly, in all material respects: 
 

- the financial position as at 30 June 2021; and 
 
- the financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and 

 
- comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance with New Zealand 

Public Benefit Entity Public Sector Standards.  
 
The statement of performance: 
 
- presents fairly, in all material respects, the performance for the year ended 30 June 2021, including: 
 

- the performance achievements as compared with forecasts included in the statement of  
performance expectations for the financial year; and 

 
- the actual revenue and expenses as compared with the forecasts included in the statement of 

performance expectations for the financial year. 
 
- complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. 
 
We understand that your audit was carried out in accordance with the Auditing Standards issued by the Auditor-
General, which incorporate the International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand).  
 
General representations 
 
To the best of our knowledge and belief: 
- the resources, activities, and entities under our control have been operating effectively and efficiently; 
- we have complied with our statutory obligations including laws, regulations, and contractual requirements; 
- we have carried out our decisions and actions with due regard to minimising waste; 
- we have met Parliament’s and the public’s expectations of appropriate standards of behaviour in the public 

sector (that is, we have carried out our decisions and actions with due regard to probity); and 
- any decisions or actions have been taken with due regard to financial prudence. 
 
We also acknowledge that we have responsibility for designing, implementing, and maintaining internal control (to the 
extent that is reasonably practical given the size of Otago Regional Council and group) to prevent and detect fraud (a 
requirement of paragraph NZ40.1(a) in ISA (NZ) 240). 
 
Representations on the financial statements and the statement of performance 
 
We confirm that all transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial 
statements and statement of performance, and that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such 
inquiries as we considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves: 
- we have fulfilled our responsibilities for preparing and presenting the financial statements and the 

statement of performance as required by New Zealand Public Benefit Entity Public Sector Standards and, 
in particular, that: 

 The financial statements: 
 

- present fairly, in all material respects: 
 

- the financial position as at 30 June 2021; and 
 
- the financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and 

 
- comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand in accordance with New 

Zealand Public Benefit Entity Public Sector Standards.  
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The statement of performance: 
 

- presents fairly, in all material respects, the performance for the year ended 30 June 2021, 
including: 

 
- the performance achievements as compared with forecasts included in the statement 

of  performance expectations for the financial year; and 
 
- the actual revenue and expenses as compared with the forecasts included in the 

statement of performance expectations for the financial year. 
 
- complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. 

 
- we believe the significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those 

measured at fair value, are reasonable (a requirement of paragraph NZ22.1 in ISA (NZ) 540); 
- we have appropriately accounted for and disclosed the related party relationships and transactions in the 

financial statements (a requirement of paragraph NZ26.1(b) in ISA (NZ) 550); 
- we have adjusted or disclosed all events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and the 

statement of performance that require adjustment or disclosure (a requirement of paragraph NZ9.1 in ISA 
(NZ) 560); and 

- we believe the effects of uncorrected misstatements are immaterial, both individually and in the aggregate, 
to the financial statements and statement of performance as a whole. A list of the uncorrected 
misstatements is attached to this representation letter (a requirement of paragraph NZ14.1 in ISA (NZ) 
450). 

- we have disclosed all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered 
when preparing the financial statements. Where applicable, such litigation and claims have been 
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with New Zealand Public Benefit Entity Public Sector Standards 
(a requirement of paragraph NZ12.1 in ISA (NZ) 501). 

 
Investment Property 

Investment property is valued using the fair value model as detailed in the notes to the Council and consolidated 

financial statements.   

We believe that the measurement methods and significant assumptions adopted in determining the fair value of 

investment property are appropriate and consistently applied. 

 
Investment in Shares in Port Otago Limited 

Investment in Shares in Port Otago Limited is valued using the fair value model as detailed in the notes to the Council 

financial statements.   

We believe that the measurement methods and significant assumptions adopted in determining the fair value of 

investment in shares in Port Otago Limited are appropriate and consistently applied. 

 
Representations about the provision of information 
 
We confirm that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such enquiries as we considered necessary 
for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves: 
- we have provided you with: 

- all information, such as records and documentation, and other matters that are relevant to 
preparing and presenting the financial statements and the statement of performance; and 

- unrestricted access to persons within the entity from whom you determined it necessary to obtain 
audit evidence. 

- we have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial statements and 
statement of performance may be materially misstated as a result of fraud (a requirement of paragraph 
NZ40.1(b) in ISA (NZ) 240); 

- we have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we are aware of and 
that affects the entity and involves: 
- management; 
- employees who have significant roles in internal control; or 
- others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements and the 

statement of performance (a requirement of paragraph NZ40.1(c) in ISA (NZ) 240). 
- we have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the 

entity’s financial statements and statement of performance communicated by employees, former 
employees, analysts, regulators, or others (a requirement of paragraph NZ40.1(d) in ISA (NZ) 240); 

- we have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws 
and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing financial statements and the 
statement of performance (a requirement of paragraph NZ17.1 in ISA (NZ) 250 (Revised));  

- we have provided you with all the other documents (“other information”) which will accompany the financial 
statements and the performance information which are consistent with one another, and the other 
information does not contain any material misstatements. 

- we have disclosed the identity of the related parties, all of their relationships, and all of their transactions of 
which we are aware (a requirement of paragraph NZ26.1(a) in ISA (NZ) 550); and 
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Publication of the financial statements and statement of service performance and related audit report on a 
website 
 
- The Council accepts that it is responsible for the electronic presentation of the audited financial statements 

and statement of service performance. 
- The electronic version of the audited financial statements and statement of service performance and the 

related audit report presented on the website are the same as the final signed version of the audited 
financial statements and statement of service performance and audit report. 

- We have clearly differentiated between audited and unaudited information on the website and understand 
the risk of potential misrepresentation without appropriate controls. 

- We have assessed the security controls over audited financial and service performance information and 
the related audit report, and are satisfied that procedures are adequate to ensure the integrity of the 
information provided. 

- Where the audit report on the full financial statements and statement of service performance is provided on 
a website, the financial statements and statement of service performance are also provided in full. 

 
 
Going concern basis of accounting 
 
We confirm that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the Otago Regional Council and group has adequate 
resources to continue operations at its current level for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the Councillor’s 
continues to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements and the statement of 
performance for the year ended 30 June 2021. We have reached this conclusion after making enquiries and having 
regard to circumstances that we consider likely to affect the Otago Regional Council and group during the period of 
one year from the date of this letter and to circumstances that we know will occur after that date which could affect 
the validity of the going concern basis of accounting.  
 
We consider that the financial statements and the statement of performance adequately disclose the circumstances, 
and any uncertainties, surrounding the adoption of the going concern basis of accounting by the Otago Regional 
Council and Group. 
 
Throughout the year, the Otago Regional Council and group has complied with the requirements of its banking 
arrangements, debenture trust deeds, or negative pledge agreements, including those relating to its net tangible 
assets ratios (a requirement of paragraph NZ 16.1 in ISA (NZ) 570). 
 
The representations in this letter are made at your request, and to supplement information obtained by you from the 
records of the Otago Regional Council and group and to confirm information given to you orally. 
 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
 
 
 

Chairperson 
 
 
 
 

Chief Executive 
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Appendix 1: Summary of Unadjusted Misstatements 
 
 
COUNCIL: 
 
   

 
 
 
GROUP: 
 

Unadjusted 
misstatements 
identified 

Assets 
Dr/(Cr) 
($‘000) 

Liabilities 
Dr/(Cr) 
($‘000) 

Equity 
Dr/(Cr) 
($‘000) 

Profit or loss 
Dr/(Cr) 
($‘000) 

Current year:     

Incorrect 
classification of 
vested assets 

(190) - - 190 

Over accrual of ACC 
expense in the 
current year by POL 

- 427 - (427) 

Prior year     

Interest accrual not 
reversed 

- - 97 (97) 

Accrued expenses 
not accrued 

- - 192 (192) 

POL fair value 
adjustment  

- - (1,748) 1,748 

Total (190) 427 (1,459) 1,222 

  

Unadjusted 
misstatements 
identified 

Assets 
Dr/(Cr) 
($‘000) 

Liabilities 
Dr/(Cr) 
($‘000) 

Equity 
Dr/(Cr) 
($‘000) 

Profit or loss 
Dr/(Cr) 
($‘000) 

Current year:     

Incorrect 
classification of 
vested assets 

(190) - - 190 

Prior year:     

Interest accrual not 
reversed 

- - 97 (97) 

Accrued expenses 
not accrued 

- - 192 (192) 

Total (190) - 289 (99) 
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Appendix 2: Summary of Omitted Disclosures   
 
 

Omitted disclosures assessed by management as not being material 

Operating Leases as Lessor -  Council - No commitments schedule in required bands (less than 1 year, 1 – 

5 years, > 5 years)  

Financial Instruments – contractual maturity analysis expanded into time bands (less than 1 year, 1- 5 

years, >5 years) 

Financial Instruments – Council - Interest rate sensitivity analysis  

Financial Instruments – Derivative Financial Instrument disclosures 

Statement of Changes in Net Assets/Equity – there is no budget column included in the statement of 

changes in net assets/equity 
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7.2. Mana to Mana - Update

Prepared for: Council

Report No. GOV2142

Activity: Governance Report

Author: Amanda Vercoe, GM Governance, Culture and Customer 

Endorsed by: Cr Andrew Noone, Chairperson

Date: 27 October 2021

PURPOSE
[1] To provide an opportunity for Council to reaffirm its shared commitment to its 

partnership with local iwi and the Treaty of Waitangi, to share the updated Mana to 
Mana Terms of Reference with Council, and seek agreement to ask Mana to Mana to 
consider expanding the membership to all Councillors. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
[2] The ORC has a long-standing relationship with local iwi, which was formalised via a 

Memorandum on Understanding in 2003, and by the establishment of a governance 
group called Mana to Mana in 2011. 

[3] At the most recent Mana to Mana meeting (14 September 2021), Chair Noone 
undertook to ensure there was a relationship-building commitment going forward by 
Council, and a shared understanding of the Mana to Mana Terms of Reference, ORC’s 
Treaty of Waitangi commitments, as well as Te Mana o Te Wai by ORC Councillors. 

RECOMMENDATION
That the Council:

1) Notes this report.

2) Reaffirms Councillors’ commitment to ORC’s partnership with iwi, and the Treaty of 
Waitangi.

3) Notes the updated Mana to Mana Terms of Reference.

4) Requests the Chair to request Mana to Mana to consider expanding the membership to all 
12 Councillors. 

5) Notes that Mana to Mana operates on the basis of consensus. 

6) Notes Councillors’ commitment to ongoing bicultural competency learning.

BACKGROUND
[4] Mana to Mana was established in 2011, in order to serve as a forum for structured and 

robust Governance level engagement between Kāi Tahu and the Otago Regional Council, 
and to strengthen collaboration on environmental management.
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[5] It sits alongside the legislative requirements of local government to engage with Māori, 
to support the building of relationships in order to work together. It has historically been 
the forum for partnership discussion and raising issues. 

[6] This year the rōpu (group) reviewed its Terms of Reference (ToR) and committed to 
resigning them, in order to demonstrate the strengthening of the partnership [this has 
been delayed due to COVID Alert Levels]. The updated ToR are attached. 

[7] Mana to Mana has met quarterly this year, with meetings focussed on developments in 
the Proposed Regional Policy Statement, the development of the Land and Water 
Regional Plan, local government reform, and emerging priorities in the shared 
environmental management space. At its most recent meeting, concerns were raised by 
iwi about the ORC governors’ response to the Manuherekia minimum flows Notice of 
Motion. 

[8] In response, Chair Noone undertook to ensure there was a relationship-building 
commitment going forward, a shared understanding of the Mana to Mana Terms of 
Reference, Treaty of Waitangi commitments, as well as Te Mana o Te Wai by ORC 
Councillors going forward.

DISCUSSION
Commitment to Principles of the Relationship
[9] The Mana to Mana ToR outline core principles that both Kāi Tahu and the Council are 

committed to:
a. To give effect to the Treaty of Waitangi and the key principles determined by the 

Courts
b. To work collaboratively in good faith and in a spirit of cooperation
c. To address any conflict or tension openly and constructively, and 
d. To act in ways that enhances the Mana of each party

[10] Support for resigning the ToR reflects a shared commitment to the principles above.

ORC membership of Mana to Mana 
[11] The ToR currently provide for the ORC Chair, plus six Councillors to be members. At a 

meeting on 29 September 2021, Council resolved to:

“Request that staff arrange that all Councillors will become members of Mana to Mana, 
subject to Chair’s consultation with Mr Ellison”
[12] Following discussion with Mr Edward Ellison and the Chair, it would be appropriate to 

ask Mana to Mana to consider expanding the membership at its next meeting on 9 
November 2021. Mana to Mana is a consensus based rōpu and it will be important to 
protect the integrity of that, if an expanded membership is agreed. 

Council commitment to bicultural competency 
[13] In order to fulfil the Council’s commitments to the partnership, Councillors also 

requested via resolution on 29 September 2021, that staff organise a bicultural 
competency workshop. 

[14] Bicultural competency is the ability to work alongside Te Ao Māori (Māori worldview) 
with confidence and understand how it is relevant to the work ORC does.  People who 
are biculturally competent are usually able to relate to other ideas and people in a more 
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flexible and adaptable manner, in addition to working towards a greater relationship 
between Council and mana whenua.  It can include Te Reo, Tikanga, Treaty of Waitangi 
and how it is honoured in practice, Te Mana O Te Wai, and marae protocols. 

[15] Staff are working with Aukaha to set up a learning opportunity. In consultation with the 
Chair, a noho marae (overnight stay at the marae) is being arranged for early 2022. This 
will enable a number of learning modules to be discussed to support Councillors’ 
engagement. 

OPTIONS
[16] The Treaty of Waitangi and various acts provide a legislative requirement for the Council 

to engage with Māori, and mana whenua, in the case of the Resource Management Act. 

[17] The ORC Chair undertook to seek a governance commitment to the partnership, in order 
to support the work that Council has underway.

[18] Council can choose how it expresses its support for the partnership. 

CONSIDERATIONS
Strategic Framework and Policy Considerations
[19] There are legislative requirements throughout the Local Government Act, Resource 

Management Act and others that require ORC to engage with Māori and mana whenua. 
ORC Strategic Directions has the partnership with Kāi Tahu embedded throughout the 
work ORC does. The draft He Mahi Rau Rika (Significant, Engagement and Māori 
Participation Policy) also outlines why and how we work with Māori and mana whenua. 

[20] A strong governance partnership is important to the success of these strategic and 
policy documents.  

Financial Considerations
[21] Nil.

Significance and Engagement
[22] A strong partnership with Māori and mana whenua is important to support ORC’s 

significance and engagement considerations. 

Legislative and Risk Considerations
[23] There are legislative requirements throughout the Local Government Act, Resource 

Management Act and others that require ORC to engage with Māori and mana whenua. 

[24] Not engaging, or not engaging well, risks poorer outcomes for the community, and 
legislative challenge. 

Climate Change Considerations
[25] Nil. 

Communications Considerations
[26] Follow up on the Council decisions will need to be communicated to iwi partners 

through Mana to Mana. 
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NEXT STEPS
[27] As above.

ATTACHMENTS
1. Mana to Mana Terms of Reference Updated 24 March 2021 Ver 2 [7.2.1 - 5 pages]
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Mana-to-Mana
Kāi Tahu ki Otago Papatipu Rūnanga & Otago Regional Council

Terms of Reference
Reviewed April 2021

1. Background 
1.1 Kāi Tahu Papatipu Rūnanga ki Otago (Kāi Tahu) and the Otago Regional 

Council (the Council) have a mutual and common interest in exercising 
effective and sustainable kaitiakitanga/stewardship over the diverse and 
unique Otago environment. Accordingly, both parties are committed to 
actively developing and implementing initiatives that strengthen the 
relationship of the two parties in order to achieve enhanced intergenerational 
outcomes within the natural and developed environments of the Otago 
region. 

1.2 In 2003, Kāi Tahu and the Council entered into a Memorandum of 
Understanding that recognized and sought to provide for increased 
participation of Kāi Tahu in Otago’s environmental management. This 
document seeks to further progress the relationship of the parties, and in 
particular, to provide for a process wherein the intent and expectations 
underlying the Memorandum of Understanding may be more effectively 
advanced.

1.3 Given the mutual desire of both parties to work collaboratively in a more 
structured and effective manner, a Mana-to-Mana governance level forum is 
being pursued as a key element of the relationship. These Terms of 
Reference seek to provide greater clarity on the role, objectives and 
operations of this forum. 

2. Mana-to-Mana
2.1 The parties to the Mana-to-Mana Group shall consist of Kāi Tahu Papatipu 

Rūnanga and the Otago Regional Council.

2.2 Kāi Tahu representation shall consist of:

a. Te Rūnanga o Moeraki; as represented by the Chairperson or delegate
b. Kati Huirapa Rūnaka ki Puketeraki; as represented by the Chairperson, or 

delegate
c. Te Rūnanga o Ōtākou; as represented by the Chairperson, or delegate
d. Hokonui Rūnanga; as represented by the Chairperson, or delegate
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2.3 Council representation shall consist of:

a. Chairperson, Otago Regional Council; and
b. Six (6) additional Councillors.

3. In Attendance
3.1 The Chief Executive, Otago Regional Council, Chief Executive, Aukaha, and 

Kaupapa Taiao Manager, Te Ao Marama Inc, shall attend meetings in a 
supporting capacity in order to deliver and report upon outcomes agreed to 
by the Mana-to-Mana Group and report on progress on the joint work 
programme. 

4. Mana-to-Mana Aims and Objectives 
4.1 The overarching aims of the Mana-to-Mana Group are to strengthen the 

collaboration of the parties in environmental management, and to serve as a 
forum for structured and robust Governance level engagement between Kāi 
Tahu and the Council.

4.2 Specific objective of the Mana-to-Mana Group are:

a. to provide a forum for relationship strengthening and collaboration on 
improving environmental sustainability; 

b. identifying opportunities and mechanisms for Kāi Tahu to contribute to 
Council decision-making processes:

c. to ensure the Council is aware of and responsive to Tangata Whenua 
values, aspirations and priorities in respect to the environment;

d. to explore, develop and implement protocols for a multi-level structured 
engagement process between Kāi Tahu and the Council;

e. to explore, develop and implement institutional arrangements that 
enhance the Council’s responsiveness to and engagement with Kāi Tahu;

f. to explore, develop and implement institutional arrangements that 
enhance Kai Tahu responsiveness to and engagement with the Council;

g. to set and oversee a broad ranging and robust joint work programme that 
covers; Resource Management, Resource Inventory, Working Protocols, 
Iwi Values and Statutory Processes;

h. the joint work programme will be incorporated into the Council Annual 
Plan and Rūnanga Plans at appropriate times; and

i. to review and amend, as required, the Memorandum of Understanding 
and other relevant documents to reflect shared outcomes sought under 
these Terms of Reference. 

5. Mana-to-Mana Principles of Relationship
5.1 To fulfill the objectives of the Group, both Kāi Tahu and the Council are 

mutually committed:
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a. To give effect to the Treaty of Waitangi and the key principles determined 
by the Courts;

b. To work collaboratively in good faith and in a spirit of cooperation;
c. To address any conflict or tension openly and constructively; and
d. To act in ways that enhances the Mana of each party.

6. Timeframe
6.1 The group was established on 22 March 2011. The Terms of Reference for 

the group will be reviewed periodically at the mutual agreement of the 
parties. 

7.  Acknowledgements of Parties
7.1 The parties acknowledge:

a. The Treaty of Waitangi is a founding document of Aotearoa and Te 
Waipounamu. It lays an important foundation for relationships between 
Iwi, the Crown and by delegation Local Government;

b. The Chairpersons of Kāi Tahu ki Otago Papatipu Rūnanga have been 
mandated by their respective Rūnanga to engage with the Council and to 
serve on the Group on behalf of their respective Rūnanga; and

c. The Chairperson and Nominated Councillors are mandated as the Council 
representatives on the Group.

d. Upoko may choose to attend meetings.

Standard Operating Procedures

8. Meetings, Administration, & Costs
8.1 The meetings will be co-Chaired by one Rūnaka member and one Councillor.

8.2 Wherever possible, the parties shall seek to rotate hosting responsibilities for 
each meeting, with the aim of holding some meetings at one of the Kai Tahu 
Marae.

8.3 The Council shall provide administrative support to the Group, including:

a. convening meetings,
b. providing a minute taker; and
c. circulating meeting agendas.

9. Notice of Meetings
9.1 Written notice of all meetings shall be agreed upon and notified 14 working 

days before the date of the meeting.

9.2 The Group shall convene a minimum of 4 meetings per annum. 
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9.3 Every notice of a meeting shall state the place, day and time of the meeting 
and shall also state the subject matter in the form of an agenda. 

10. Agenda
10.1 Both parties shall be responsible for development of and contribution to 

the agenda for each Group meeting

10.2 The agenda shall be circulated no later than 7 days working days before 
the date of the meeting.

10.3 Agenda items are to align with the Aims and Objectives of the Group.

11. Minutes
11.1 Administrative support shall keep a record of items discussed at meetings, 

to be noted by the Group at the subsequent meeting.

12. Decision Making Process
12.1 Will operate on the basis of consensus.

13. Costs
13.1 Each party shall cover individual expenses, unless by prior agreement.

14. Interested Parties 
14.1 The parties to this agreement recognise that the relationship enshrined in 

these Terms of Reference are not exclusive, and that both parties may 
develop and maintain relationships with other interested parties that may 
assist in the furtherance of individual or shared objectives. 

14.2 For the purposes of clause 14.1, interested parties may include;

a. Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu
b. Murihiku / Te Ao Marama
c. Councils of Otago
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Signed on behalf of: 
Te Rūnanga o Moeraki

Name: ………………………………

Date: ……………………………….

Signed on behalf of: 
Kāti Huirapa Rūnaka ki Puketeraki 

Name: ………………………………

Date: ……………………………….

Te Rūnanga o Ōtākou 
(Inc)

Signed on behalf of:

Te Rūnanga o Ōtākou 

Name: ………………………………

Date: ………………………………

Signed on behalf of: 

Hokonui Rūnanga

Name: ………………………………

Date: ……………………………….

Signed on behalf of: 
The Otago Regional Council

Name:

Date:
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7.3. He Mahi Rau Rika - Significance, Engagement and Māori Participation Policy - Adoption

Prepared for: Council

Report No. COMS2105

Activity: Community: Governance & Community

Author: Richard Saunders, General Manager Regulatory and Communications

Endorsed by: Richard Saunders, General Manager Regulatory and Communications

Date: 27 October 2021

PURPOSE
[1] This report presents Otago Regional Council’s (ORC) draft He Mahi Rau Rika – 

Significance, Engagement and Māori Participation Policy for adoption.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
[2] At the Strategy and Planning Committee on 7 July 2021 a draft He Mahi Rau Rika – 

Significance, Engagement and Māori Participation Policy was approved for consultation. 

[3] ORC has completed public consultation on the draft He Mahi Rau Rika. Two submissions 
were received, and a hearing was held on 16 September 2021. The Hearings Panel 
recommended that the draft He Mahi Rau Rika be approved for adoption.

RECOMMENDATION
That the Council:

1) Notes this report.

2) Adopts He Mahi Rau Rika – Significance, Engagement and Māori Participation Policy. 

3) Acknowledges and thanks the submitters on the draft He Mahi Rau Rika – Significance, 
Engagement and Māori Participation Policy. 

4) Acknowledges and thanks Councillors Deaker, Wilson and Scott for their work on the 
Hearings Panel.

5) Notes that the staff will include a discussion on engagement with Maata Waaka at a 
future Mana to Mana meeting.

6) Notes that staff will engage with submitters to discuss opportunities to improve 
engagement with Maata Waka.

7) Notes that performance against He Mahi Rau Rika – Significance, Engagement and Māori 
Participation Policy will be evaluated annually.

BACKGROUND
[4] The Local Government Act 2002 (LGA2002) outlines the requirement for every local 

authority to adopt a Significance and Engagement Policy setting out an approach to 
identifying the degree of significance attached to issues, proposals, assets, decisions, 
and activities and providing clarity about how and when communities can expect to be 
engaged in decisions. 
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[5] Work on ORC’s Strategic Directions in 2020 identified the need to better meet ORC’s 
responsibilities to our mana whenua partners and confirmed a commitment to 
undertake effective engagement with our communities.

[6] Additionally, a review of the overall approach to communications and engagement at 
ORC is being implemented. This process included a series of interviews with councillors, 
senior managers, mana whenua and key stakeholders to identify opportunities to 
improve our delivery.

[7] Through these workstreams an opportunity was identified to embed our commitment to 
partnership with mana whenua within a new Significance and Engagement Policy. This 
policy would also provide a clear and updated framework on when and how we will 
engage with Iwi more broadly, and the wider community as part of decision-making 
processes. 
 

[8] The Governance, Communications and Engagement Committee noted the drafting of 
the new Significance, Engagement and Māori Participation Policy at the 10 February 
2021 meeting. The requirement to complete a Special Consultative Procedure was also 
noted.  

[9] A draft He Mahi Rau Rika – Otago Regional Council Significance, Engagement and Māori 
Participation Policy (He Mahi Rau Rika) was developed in partnership with mana whenua 
and with the principles of Te Tiriti o Waitangi being front of mind. These principles are 
set out in the Crown Treaty Framework and include partnership, participation and 
protection. 

[10] The draft SEMP was approved for consultation at the Strategy and Planning meeting on 
7 July 2021. Councillors Deaker, Wilson and Scott were appointed to hear and consider 
submissions.

DISCUSSION
[11] Public consultation on the draft policy commenced on 19 July 2021 and closed on 16 

August 2021. Two submissions were received with one submitter wishing to be heard. 

[12] A hearing was held on 16 September 2021. A copy of the report from the Hearings Panel 
is included as Attachment 1. 

[13] The Hearings Panel recommended that the policy be adopted by Council. Additionally, 
the panel requested that a discussion occurs at Mana to Mana to explore opportunities 
for the appropriate inclusion of Maata Waka in ORC governance groups and 
engagement activities. The panel also requested that staff engage directly with a 
submitter, Mr Kiore, to discuss options for increasing engagement with Maata Waka in 
Otago.

[14] The full list of recommendations from the Hearings Panel were:
a. Receives the submissions from Mathew Kiore and Aukaha.
b. Thanks Mathew Kiore and Aukaha for their submissions on the draft He Mahi Rau 

Rika – Significance, Engagement and Māori Participation Policy.
c. Recommends the draft He Mahi Rau Rika – Significance, Engagement and Māori 

Participation Policy is adopted by Council without changes.
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d. Requests that staff include at a future Mana to Mana meeting a discussion on the 
appropriate inclusion of Maata Waka in He Mahi Rau Rika and/or governance 
groups.

e. Requests that staff engage with Mr Kiore to discuss options for increasing 
engagement with Mata Waka in Otago.

f. Requests that ORC’s performance against He Mahi Rau Rika is evaluated annually 
and reported to the Governance, Communications and Engagement Committee.

[15] He Mahi Rau Rika has been through a design process in partnership with mana whenua 
and is now ready for adoption. A copy of the final draft He Mahi Rau Rika – Significance, 
Engagement and Māori Participation Policy is included at Attachment 2.

OPTIONS
[16] Option 1 – Adopt the Policy, He Mahi Rau Rika – Significance, Engagement and Māori 

Participation Policy

Advantages:
 The new policy makes a public commitment to partnership and engagement which 

is consistent with the strategic directions approved by Council.
 The adopted policy will confirm the ORC’s commitment to a closer partnership with 

mana whenua.
 Engagement and communication with Iwi, stakeholders and the Otago community 

will be consistent and meet the public commitments set out in the policy

Disadvantages
 It is anticipated that some projects will incur additional costs to ensure they 

undertake engagement consistent with the new policy.

[17] Option 2 – Adopt the Policy with Changes
Subject to the nature of the changes the advantages and disadvantages of this option 
are considered to be the same as option 1.

[18] Option 3 – The Policy is not adopted
Advantages:
 There will be no potential additional costs incurred to upcoming projects in ensuring 

they meet the new policy.

Disadvantages
 ORC will not have a policy which supports the achievement of the approved 

strategic directions.
 ORC will not confirm its public commitment to a partnership with mana whenua 

through this updated policy
 Engagement and communication with Iwi, stakeholders and the community will 

remain inconsistent in the absence of a clear policy.

[19] The recommended option is Option 1, to adopt He Mahi Rau Rika – Significance, 
Engagement and Māori Participation Policy 
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CONSIDERATIONS
Strategic Framework and Policy Considerations
[20] He Mahi Rau Rika – Significance, Engagement and Māori Participation Policy is 

consistent with the recently approved strategic directions. It directly delivers on our 
commitments to ‘partner with mana whenua and make Mātauranga Kāi Tahu an integral 
part of our decision making’ and to ‘effectively engage communities’.

Financial Considerations
[21] There are no financial considerations associated with this report.

Significance and Engagement
[22] The policy will replace the existing Significance and Engagement policy. Legal Services 

has confirmed that the new policy meets the requirements of the Local Government Act.

[23] In accordance with the Local Government Act a special consultative process was 
completed.

Legislative and Risk Considerations
[24] ORC is required to have a Significant and Engagement Policy. This policy will fulfil this 

requirement. 

Climate Change Considerations
[25] There are no climate change considerations associated with this report.

Communications Considerations
[26] He Mahi Rau Rika – Significance, Engagement and Māori Participation Policy is ORC’s 

public commitment to partner with mana whenua and engage with our community. 
Following adoption, guidance will be provided to staff to ensure that the commitments 
within the policy are met. 

NEXT STEPS
[27] Following adoption, the new policy will be shared with mana whenua and key 

stakeholder groups to make them aware of the commitments ORC are making to 
partnership and engagement.

[28] Performance against the policy will be evaluated annually and reported to the 
Governance, Communications and Engagement Committee.

[29] Staff will include a discussion at an upcoming Mana to Mana meeting on future 
engagement opportunities with Maata Waaka. 

ATTACHMENTS
1. Hearing Panel Report He Mahi Rau Rika [7.3.1 - 3 pages]
2. He Mahi Rau Rika: ORC Significance, Engagement and Māori Participation Policy [7.3.2 - 

17 pages]
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Report from the Hearings Committee: He Mahi Rau Rika – Significance, Engagement and Maori 
Participation Policy

Author: Councillor Michael Deaker, Hearings Committee Chair

Date: 28 September 2021

PURPOSE

[1] This report presents the outcome of the hearing committee’s consideration of 
submissions received on the draft He Mahi Rau Rika – Significance, Engagement and Maori 
Participation Policy (SEMP). 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

[2] The draft SEMP was approved for consultation at the Strategy and Planning meeting on 7 
July 2021. 

[3] Two submissions were received with one submitter wishing to be heard. A late change of 
availability meant that this submitter could not attend on the date arranged. In lieu of 
attendance the submitter sent some further information for the consideration of the 
hearings panel.

[4] The hearings panel considered the submissions received at a meeting on 16 September 
2021 and recommended that the draft SEMP be adopted by Council.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Hearings Panel:

1) Receives the submissions from Mathew Kiore and Aukaha.

2) Thanks Mathew Kiore and Aukaha for their submissions on the draft He Mahi Rau Rika 
– Significance, Engagement and Maori Participation Policy.

3) Recommends the draft He Mahi Rau Rika – Significance, Engagement and Maori 
Participation Policy is adopted by Council without changes.

4) Requests that staff include at a future Mana to Mana meeting a discussion on the 
appropriate inclusion of Maata Waka in He Mahi Rau Rika and/or governance groups.

5) Requests that staff engage with Mr Kiore to discuss options for increasing engagement 
with Mata Waaka in Otago.

6) Requests that ORC’s performance against He Mahi Rau Rika is evaluated annually and 
reported to the Governance, Communications and Engagement Committee.

BACKGROUND

[5] The Local Government Act 2002 (LGA2002) outlines the requirement for every local 
authority to adopt a Significance and Engagement Policy setting out an approach to 
identifying the degree of significance attached to issues, proposals, assets, decisions, and 
activities and providing clarity about how and when communities can expect to be 
engaged in decisions. 
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[6] Work on ORC’s Strategic Directions in 2020 identified the need to better meet ORC’s 
responsibilities to our mana whenua partners and confirmed a commitment 
to undertake effective engagement with our communities. 

[7] Additionally, a review of the overall approach to communications and engagement at 
ORC is being implemented. This process included a series of interviews with councillors, 
senior managers, mana whenua and key stakeholders to identify opportunities to 
improve our delivery.  

[8] Through these workstreams an opportunity was identified to embed our commitment to 
partnership with mana whenua within a new Significance and Engagement Policy. This 
policy would also provide a clear and updated framework on when and how we will 
engage the wider community as part of decision-making processes. 

[9] The Governance, Communications and Engagement Committee noted the drafting of the 
new Significance, Engagement and Māori Participation Policy at the 10 February 2021 
meeting. The requirement to complete a Special Consultative Procedure was also noted. 

[10] A draft He Mahi Rau Rika – Otago Regional Council Significance, Engagement and Māori 
Participation Policy was developed in partnership with mana whenua. 

[11] The draft SEMP was approved for consultation at the Strategy and Planning meeting on 7 
July 2021. 

DISCUSSION

[12] Public consultation of the draft SEMP was undertaken between 19 July 2021 and 16 
August 2021 and was advertised in the ODT and community papers during the week of 
the 24 July 2021.

[13] At the end of the consultation period two submissions were received. 

[14] One submission was received from Aukaha supporting the draft SEMP. This submission 
was received by the panel who also thanked Aukaha for their ongoing support of ORC’s 
work programme. 

[15] A submission was received from Mathew Kiore. Mr Kiore wished to be heard in support 
of his submission. A hearing was set up accordingly however other commitments 
prevented Mr Kiore from attending. An additional email was received from Mr Kiore 
outlining key points to support his submission.

[16] The panel received and thanked Mr Kiore for his articulate submission. The issue of 
engagement with Maata Waka was of interest to the panel and a recommendation will 
be made for staff to follow that up.

[17] Mr Kiore’s submission was in support of the strong relationship established between ORC 
and mana whenua. Further to that Mr Kiore’s submission strongly advocates for increased 
focus on Maata Waka relationships as many Māori live outside their tribal area. Mr Kiore 
would like to see provision for the inclusion of Maata Waka on governance groups at ORC. 
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[18] The panel questioned Mr Saunders on whether Maata Waka was provided for in the draft 
SEMP. Mr Saunders confirmed that there was no specific reference to Maata Waka in the 
document. The draft SEMP does make reference to ORC’s obligations under the Local 
Government Act 2002 (LGA) which includes a responsibility to facilitate participation by 
Māori in local decision making processes. 

[19] The panel support exploring the options available to increase engagement with Maata 
Waka. It was agreed by the panel to request that staff refer this issue to Mana to Mana 
for a discussion on the options available and engage with Mr Kiore to seek his opinion on 
suitable options. 

Meeting Concluded

Signed:

Date:   14 October 2021
Councillor Michael Deaker (Hearing Panel Chair)
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Draft ORC Significance, Engagement and Māori Participation Policy V4. FEB 20211

Nāu te rourou, nāku te rourou, ka ora ai te iwi.
By the contributions from your food basket and mine, the people will flourish.

ORC Significance, Engagement and Māori Participation Policy V4. FEB 2021

HE MAHI RAU RIKA: 
Otago Regional Council Significance, 
Engagement and Māori Participation Policy 

Credit: Chris McCormack
Pukekura Pou

Council Meeting 2021.10.27

Council Meeting Agenda - 27 October 2021 - MATTERS FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION

172



ORC Significance, Engagement and Māori Participation Policy V4. FEB 2021 2

Kupu Whakataki

Introduction

The purpose of Otago Regional Council’s (the Council’s) engagement with mana whenua, stakeholders, and the 
community is to enable people to contribute to Council decision making in a transparent and equitable way, enabling 
better outcomes for the region.

The Council’s Significance, Engagement and Māori Participation Policy sets out how engagement and 
communications will occur, including with Māori in recognition of our partnership approach. The policy: 

•	 sets out the Council’s approach to 
engagement, including commitments 
and practice principles;

•	 outlines how the Council will 
facilitate working with and partnering 
with Māori;

•	 identifies how and when 
stakeholders and communities 
can expect to be engaged in, or 
specifically consulted on, decisions 
about issues, proposals, assets, 
decisions, and activities; and

•	 enables the Council and our 
communities to understand the 
significance that the Council places 
on certain issues, proposals, assets, 
decisions, and activities. This 
enables us to meet the requirements 
of the Local Government Act 2002 

Section 76AA.

The Significance, Engagement and Māori 
Participation Policy applies across the Council. 
When assessing the degree of significance 
and deciding on appropriate engagement or 
consultation processes, Council must comply 
with all relevant legislative requirements for 
consultation and honour any agreements it has 
entered into.

Engagement with Māori is a requirement of 
legislation and a key part of engagement for 
the Council. We aspire to go beyond statutory 
responsibilities to ensure meaningful engagement 
with mana whenua based on the principles of 
partnership of the Treaty of Waitangi / Te Tiriti o 
Waitangi.

Mana whenua are Māori who are of this place, 
whose whakapapa, traditions, and histories are 
provenanced to the Otago Region. To recognise 
the value that engagement with mana whenua 
adds through the sharing of their knowledge 
and wisdom, the policy sets out how the Council 
works with Kāi Tahu, as mana whenua and 
representatives of the Treaty partner in the region, 
to develop a trusted and enduring relationship, 
and to enable the development of mana whenua 
capacity to contribute to decision making.

As an overall principle, the greater involvement of Māori in local government activity, including Māori whose 
whakapapa to land and place is elsewhere in New Zealand, is recognised and supported. However, such involvement 
does not substitute for the role of Kāi Tahu as mana whenua and Treaty partners.

This policy does not apply to decision making under the Resource Management Act 1991 and/or other legislation that 
includes a prescribed consultative or engagement process. Such processes are often minimum process requirements 
and do not preclude other, informal methods of consultation and engagement.

1
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Kā Kika Tauraki me kā Wero

Commitments and Challenges

Our organisational vision is that “Otago’s communities, through engagement, trust us to make well-informed 
decisions and enable solutions.”

This requires an effective approach to engagement and communications so that the people of Otago can have trust 
and confidence in our decision-making processes and our actions.

To enable this vision, Council has made a commitment to the following areas:

•	 Implement central government directions in the regional context;
•	 Partner with mana whenua and make mātauranga  Kāi Tahu an integral part of our decision-

making;
•	 Deliver integrated environmental management;
•	 Effectively engage communities;
•	 Collaborate to deliver;
•	 Make decisions which are evidence-based and timely; and
•	 Focus on customer needs.

Credit: ORC
Middlemarch
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Various Acts provide a legislative requirement 
for the Council to engage with Māori. The Local 
Government At 2002 (LGA) requires local 
authorities to facilitate participation by Māori in 
local decision-making processes. This recognises 
and respects the Crown’s responsibility to take 
account of the principles of the Treaty of Waitangi 
/Te Tiriti o Waitangi and to maintain and improve 
opportunities for Māori to contribute to and partner 
in local government decision making processes.  
These requirements are additional to general 
policies and processes for community engagement.

Mana whenua are the tāngata whenua who hold 
traditional customary authority and maintain 
contemporary relationships within an area 
determined by whakapapa, resource use and 
ahīkaroa (the long burning fires of occupation). In 
Otago, Kāi Tahu are mana whenua. The four Kāi 
Tahu ki Otago Rūnaka are Te Rūnanga o Mōeraki, 
Kāti Huirapa Rūnaka ki Puketeraki, Te Rūnanga o 
Ōtākou and Hokonui Rūnanga, with three marae 
located in the region. Awarua Rūnanga, Waihopai 
Rūnaka and Ōraka Aparima Rūnaka also share 
interests in South Otago, the Mata-au Clutha River, 
and the inland lakes and mountains. Enabling mana 
whenua engagement will help ensure that Council 
can take into account the relationship of Māori and 
their culture and traditions with their ancestral 
land, water, sites, wāhi tapu, valued flora and fauna 
and other taonga as required by legislation (LGA, 
Section 77(1)(c)).

The LGA has many references to the participation of 
Māori including actively fostering the development 
of Māori capacity to enable their contribution to 
decision making and working with Māori to further 
community outcomes (in particular LGA  sections 4, 
14, 77, 81 and 82).

For the Council, these legislative requirements 
are considered a bottom line.  We aspire to go 
beyond these statutory responsibilities to ensure 
meaningful engagement with mana whenua 
which recognises the principles of partnership 
of the Treaty. This also recognises the value that 
engagement with mana whenua adds through the 
sharing of their knowledge and wisdom.

3

Credit: Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu
Ōtākou Marae

Mahi Kātahi ki te Mana Whenua

Māori participation

Credit: Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu
Mōeraki Marae
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ORC Significance, Engagement and Māori Participation Policy V4. FEB 20215 Credit: Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu

Credit: Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu

Credit: Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu

Credit: Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu

Credit: Te Rūnanga o Ngāi Tahu

Waihopai Marae

Hokonui Marae

Ōraka Aparima Marae

Awarua Marae

Puketeraki Marae
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Engagement with Mana Whenua                

Our commitment is to partner with mana whenua and make mātauranga Kāi Tahu an integral part of our 
decision-making. This recognises the status of mana whenua as the Treaty partner in the Otago region and 
the need to continue the journey that Council has begun to more effectively involve Māori in decision making.  
This includes acknowledging historic grievances and respecting Kāi Tahu ki Otago customs and beliefs when 
engaging with mana whenua.

The process of engagement is based on continuing to build trusted and enduring relationships which requires 
an ongoing commitment. Council has committed to a range of channels and relationships to enable mana 
whenua participation, support the development of capability, and build relationships.

These include the following activities and commitments:  

Table 1: Council relationship arrangements with mana whenua

Mahi Kātahi ki te Mana Whenua

Relationship element Key aspects 

Mana to Mana agreement and relationship This enables councillors and Rūnanga Chairs / Upoko 
to regularly meet to identify and agree key areas for 
engagement and partnership.

Iwi representation on Strategy and Planning 
Committee

Two mana whenua representatives with full voting rights 
have been appointed on the Strategy and Planning 
Committee.

Mana Whakahono a Rohe (Future work 
programme)

This RMA partnership agreement will provide a process 
for development of relationships and building a 
partnership approach to RMA processes and decision 
making.

2003 Memorandum of Understanding and Protocol 
between Otago Regional Council, Te Rūnaka 
Kāi Tahu and Kāi Tahu ki Otago for Effective 
Consultation and Liaison

This agreement helps to clarify how Council will engage 
with Kāi Tahu ki Otago on a range of issues.

There are four Kāi Tahu ki Otago Rūnaka being: 
•	 Te Rūnanga o Mōeraki;  
•	 Kati Huirapa Rūnaka ki Puketeraki;  
•	 Te Rūnanga o Ōtākou; and 
•	 Hokonui Rūnanga.          

Land and Water Regional Plan Governance 
Structure

This includes both mana whenua representatives on the 
Governance Group as well as the regional working group 
level.
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Relationship element Key aspects 

Charter of understanding with Te Ao Marama and 
Southland Rūnaka; and participation in Southland 
Te Rōpū Taiao hui

There are three Ngāi Tahu ki Murihiku Rūnaka with 
interests in the Otago region: 
•	 Awarua Rūnaka;
•	 Waihopai Rūnaka; and 
•	 Ōraka-Aparima Rūnaka.

The Charter of Understanding is the relationship 
document with Council and Ngāi Tahu ki Murihiku 
Rūnaka with a common goal to sustainably manage the 
region’s environment for the social, cultural economic 
and environmental wellbeing of the community for now 
and into the future. Quarterly meetings of Te Rōpū Taiao 
are held to manage and support our common goal. 
Council engage with Te Ao Marama Inc. and Papatipu 
Rūnaka on a range of issues.

Internal cultural awareness and training / induction Developing and implementing a programme of cultural 
competency enhancement to offer organisational 
training in Te Reo, Treaty of Waitangi training, and 
tikanga from a Kāi Tahu perspective. 

Engagement with Mana Whenua on a range of key 
issues

Including working with and through Aukaha and Te 
Ao Marama Inc (the Papatipu Rūnaka consultancy 
services, Aukaha, representing Kāi Tahu ki Otago, and 
Te Ao Marama Inc, representing Ngāi Tahu ki Murihiku, 
to provide a first point of contact and to facilitate 
engagement in resource management processes) we 
actively engage with mana whenua on a range of issues, 
including land, water and air quality, biodiversity, climate 
change and emergency management.

Regional Engagement: Te Rōpū Taiao Otago 
Charter and Hui

A regional coordinating group involving Otago Mayors 
and the ORC Chair and Kāi Tahu ki Otago Rūnaka Chairs 
to identify and agree key areas for engagement and 
partnership across Otago.
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ORC Significance, Engagement and Māori Participation Policy V4. FEB 2021 8

Ko te Mahi Rau Rika
Significance, Engagement and Maori Participation Policy

Decision making

Engagement with our communities and stakeholders supports effective and informed decision making. When making 
decisions, Council needs to be satisfied that:

•	 We have sufficient information on the relevant issues and options, including:
		  - The requirements of legislation
		  - Technical matters and available information
		  - Financial implications and affordability
		  - Costs and benefits (whether financial or otherwise)
		  - Formal plans previously consulted on
•	 The implications of an issue or decision for mana whenua of the region have been fully considered; and
•	 We know enough about and have given adequate consideration to the views and preferences of affected and 

interested parties.

Our engagement policy and practice principles

This Policy supports us to meet these requirements and our wider policy commitments through delivery of best 
practice communications and engagement based on an approach that is:

•	 Sharing and open 
•	 Enables ownership of issues; and 
•	 Builds trust and understanding.

In delivering this approach:

•	 We want to identify interested and affected persons.
•	 We want to work in partnership with mana whenua and have good, robust conversations with communities and 

stakeholders to ensure we are making decisions that reflect not only the legislation that drives our work, but also 
the views and aspirations of the people of Otago

•	 We will consider where engaging with the community is needed to understand the views and preferences of 
people likely to be affected by or interested in a proposal or decision. This helps us to consider the social, 
cultural, economic, and environmental well-being of our communities and region.

•	 We need to engage with the right people at the right time in line with our practice principles

When we will engage

We will work in partnership with mana whenua when:
 
•	 It is a matter of significant importance to mana whenua (see Significance section below)

We will involve mana whenua and engage with communities and stakeholders when:

•	 There is a statutory requirement
•	 The matter is considered significant (see Significance section below)
•	 We need the input of community and stakeholders to ensure we make the best decision for the community
•	 We need to use an open engagement process to build relationships, ownership of issues and solutions or trust 

and understanding 
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The right conversations – our practice principles

We will apply our values and practice principles to inform what type of communication or engagement we should be 
having on any issue:

•	 We are Team ORC and speak with one consistent voice
•	 We deliver on our commitments to mana whenua  
•	 We know who to engage and communicate with based on our relationships and understanding of our 			

	 stakeholders and communities (which may vary on a case by case basis)
•	 We know why we are engaging and communicate this clearly. This will evolve as a process moves forward
•	 We know how and when to engage and communicate so that this is timely and tailored to the audience and 		

	 context and meets our statutory obligations and any agreements and memorandum of understandings 
•	 We are genuine, confident and clear so that our communications and engagement:  
	 - Sets clear expectations
	 - Is evidence based
	 - Set out options available, including pros and cons (if applicable)
	 - Include any content required by statute
	 - Reflects our responsibilities and accountabilities
•	 We are collaborative and two way 
	 – we share, listen and use stakeholder and community input to inform our decisions

In order to ensure that the appropriate level of mana whenua engagement is undertaken, it is crucial that as 
assessment of the degree of significance of proposals and decisions is undertaken in the early stages of a proposal. 
This assessment will elicit a suitable framework for mana whenua. 

Our approach recognises that engagement is a process and so the type of conversation evolves as a proposal 
develops. Engagement includes the following aspects:

•	 Vision / issues – open and aspirational conversations to understand the issues and capture ideas.
•	 Checking understanding – concept sharing and checking to ensure we have listened and there is a shared 

understanding.
•	 Formal feedback – engagement or consultation on a draft plan or policy
•	 Sharing the direction / decision
•	 Delivery – working through implementation.

How we will engage

We undertake engagement in a range of ways. This will depend on the type of conversation to be had, who is 
involved, time and cost allowed for and any legislative requirements.  

The International Association for Public Participation (IAP2) has developed a Public Participation Spectrum to 
demonstrate the possible types of engagement with the community. This model outlines an increasing level of public 
impact as you progress through the spectrum from left to right, ‘inform’ through to ‘empower’. In simply ‘informing’ 
stakeholders there is no expectation of receiving feedback, and consequently there is a low level of public impact. 
At the other end of the spectrum, ‘empowering’ stakeholders to make decisions implies an increase in expectations 
and therefore an increased level of public impact. Differing levels of engagement may be required during the varying 
phases of decision making on an issue and for different stakeholders.
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It will not always be appropriate or practicable to conduct processes at the ‘collaborate’ or ‘empower’ end of the 
spectrum. Many issues will not warrant such an involved approach. Time and money may also limit what is possible 
on some occasions.

Engagement approaches and tools will be reviewed as a proposal or process develops and as community views, 
preferences, and values become better understood.

In general, the more significant an issue, the greater the need for community engagement. When engaging with the 
community, the Council will:

•	 seek out and encourage contributions from people who will or may be affected by or have 
an interest in a decision or matter.

•	 provide reasonable access to relevant, timely and balanced information in a manner and 
format that is appropriate to the preferences and needs of those persons.

•	 provide people who are invited or encouraged to present their view with information 
concerning the purpose of the consultation and the scope of the decisions to be taken 
following consideration of the views presented.

•	 Provide people who wish to have their views on the decision or matter considered by 
the Council with an opportunity to present those views in a manner or format that is 
appropriate to the preferences and needs of those persons.

•	 Receive the views presented with an open mind and give due consideration to those views.
•	 provide a clear record or description of the relevant decisions made by Council and 

explanatory material relating to the decision.

9

INFORM CONSULT INVOLVE COLLABORATE EMPOWER

INFORM INVOLVE EMPOWER

Ko te Mahi Rau Rika
Significance, Engagement and Maori Participation Policy

How we will engage

© International Association for Public Participation www.iap2.org
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Informed by IAP2 best practice, examples of types of engagement and ways of engaging are shown below in Table 
2.Each situation will be assessed on a case-by-case basis

Table 2: IAP2 best practice principles and methods of engagement

INFORM CONSULT INVOLVE COLLABORATE EMPOWER

What 
Engagement 
Involves

One-way 
communication 
to provide 
the public 
with balanced 
and objective 
information 
about the 
problems, 
alternatives and 
/ or solutions, or 
about something 
that has 
happened or is 
going to happen

Two-way 
communication 
to obtain public 
feedback on 
ideas, analysis, 
alternatives, or 
proposals to 
inform decision 
making

Participatory 
process to help 
identify issues 
and views and 
ensure these 
are understood 
and considered 
prior to decision 
making.

Working together 
to develop an 
understanding 
of the issues and 
interests to work 
out alternatives 
and potential 
solutions and to 
inform decision 
making process.

To place final 
decision-making 
in the hands of 
the public.
Noting that, 
under the Local 
Government 
Act 2002, the 
regional council 
chair and 
councilors are 
elected to make 
decisions on 
behalf of their 
communities

Types of 
issues we 
might use 
this for

Annual Report
Low significance 
policies

Consultation 
document for 
the Long Term 
Plan

Regional Plan Catchment 
planning

Local Body 
elections

Tools we 
might use

Websites
Fact sheets / 
newsletters
Social media
Adverts
Email
Text alerts

Formal 
submissions and 
hearings
Display 
advertising
Websites
Public notices
Focus groups
Surveys

Workshops
Focus groups
Citizens panels
Follow statutory 
processes 

Collaborative 
stakeholder 
groups
Technical alliance
Participatory 
decision-making
 

Binding 
referendum
Local body 
elections

What this 
looks like

We will keep you 
informed.

We will keep 
you informed, 
listen to and 
acknowledge 
concerns 
and provide 
feedback on 
how public input 
was considered 
in makingthe 
decision.

We will work 
with you to 
ensure that 
your concerns 
and issues 
are directly 
reflected in the 
alternatives 
developed 
and provide 
feedback on 
how public input 
was considered 
in making the 
decision.

 We will look to 
you for direct 
advice and 
innovation in 
formulating 
solutions and 
incorporate 
your advice and 
recommendations
into the decisions 
to the maximum 
extent possible.

We will 
implement what 
you decide / we 
will enable you 
to decide
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Many of the Council’s decisions are prompted or guided by particular legislation, and some of the legislation will 
dictate the process for consultation and decision making1. This includes how the public should be informed, how 
public submissions are considered, and how decisions are made.  

Even if a decision is clearly a significant one, this policy does not apply to the requirements for decision-making 
prescribed in any other enactments, such as the Resource Management Act 1991 (RMA) and the Biosecurity Act 
1993.

 There are a number of decisions that can only be made if they are explicitly provided for in the Council’s Long-Term 
Plan as set out by the LGA. These are: 

1Such as Resource Management Act 1991, Biosecurity Act 1993 or the Civil Defence and Emergency Management Act 2002

Legislative Considerations 

In addition, the Council is required to use the Special Consultative Procedure set out in section 83 of the LGA (with 
the modifications set out in section 93A) in order to adopt or amend a Long-Term Plan or make, amend or revoke a 
Bylaw. If the Council is carrying out consultation in relation to an amendment to its Long-Term Plan at the same time 
as, or combined with, consultation on an Annual Plan, the Special Consultative Procedure must be used for both 
matters. 

There may be other situations where the Council considers it appropriate to use a Special Consultative Procedure.

For all other issues requiring a decision, the Council must determine the appropriate level of engagement (refer 
section 82 of LGA) on a case by case basis.

•	 To significantly alter the intended level of service provision for any significant activity 
undertaken by or on behalf of the Council, including a decision to commence or cease any 
such activity;

•	 To transfer the ownership or control of a strategic asset to or from the Council. 

11
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Aromatawai ana i te Hirika
Assessing Significance

Council staff will consider each issue, proposal, decision, or matter before them to determine the degree of 
significance attached to it. The degree of significance will influence our approach to decision making and 
engagement. In the context of this policy, mana whenua perspectives on the significance of these issues will be 
sought in order to identify the appropriate level of engagement.

In general, the more significant the matter, the greater the need for community engagement, recognising that 
sometimes operational work the Council is undertaking will be highly significant to those immediately impacted but 
may not otherwise trigger ‘significance’ under this policy.

Significance assessment - Key criteria and thresholds for significance

Council has identified key criteria and indicative thresholds to assist in determining significance (Table 2 below).  If 
the indicative threshold is met on any of the key criteria, the matter is deemed to have high significance and further 
assessment should be undertaken. The additional criteria and factors in Table 3 guide further assessment.

There may be instances where even though the criteria for significance are met that engagement or consultation is 
not required, for example, when the views of the community are well understood, or the decision is required in a very 
short timeframe. In that instance, any decision made by the Council may need to comply with section 80 of the LGA.  
Section 80 applies where a decision of Council is significantly inconsistent with any policy adopted by the Council 
(including this policy) or any plan required by the LGA or any enactment. Section 80 requires Council to identify:

•	 the inconsistency; and
•	 the reasons for the inconsistency; and
•	 any intention of the Council to amend the policy or plan to accommodate the decision.

Significance is defined under the LGA as:

“… the degree of importance of the issue, proposal, decision, or matter, as assessed by the local 
authority, in terms of its likely impact on, and likely consequences for,—

	 (a)	 the current and future social, economic, environmental, or cultural well-being of 	
		  the district or region:
	 (b)	 any persons who are likely to be particularly affected by, or interested in, the	
		   issue, proposal, decision, or matter:
	 (c)	 the capacity of the local authority to perform its role, and the financial and 	
		  other costs of doing so”
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Table 3: Key criteria for assessment of significance

Key Criteria Indicative Threshold

Impact on community including costs directly or indirectly 
to the community or part of the community, whether 
through rates, fees or otherwise

Major impacts on the well-being (social, cultural, economic, 
or environmental) of a community of interest in the region 
or the population of a specific area within the region; or

Potential effect on Council’s ability to undertake statutory 
functions

Likely to be an adverse effect on Council’s ability to 
undertake any statutory function or role; or

Financial impacts A decision involves an unbudgeted expenditure exceeding 
10% of Council’s total annual expenditure.

Excludes the following:
•	 Civil Defence emergency event response expenditure
•	 Expenditure funded from external funding
•	 Emergency works (for example section 330 of the RMA)

Table 4: Additional criteria for assessment of significance

Additional 
Criteria

Factors to consider

Mana Whenua •	 The interests and values of mana whenua including relationship, interests, or traditions in relation 
to land, water, wāhi tapu and other taoka Kāi Tahu interests and values include, but are not 
confined to, those described in:

•	 The Ngāi Tahu Claims Settlement Act 1998
•	 The Kāi Tahu Resource Management Plan 2005
•	 Te Tangi a aTauira, the Cry of the People – Ngāi Tahu ki Murihiku Natural Resource and 

Environmental Management Plan 2008
•	 The Regional Policy Statement 2019 and the proposed Regional Policy Statement 2021

Policy and 
outcomes

•	 Potential impacts on the delivery or outcomes of Council’s policy and strategies
•	 The degree to which the proposal or decision contributes to promoting or achieving particular 

community outcomes
•	 The degree of benefits that may be achieved
•	 The magnitude of costs to the Council or / and to affected community groups
•	 The extent to which the proposal or decision flows consequentially from a decision already made 

or decision made in the Long Term or Annual Plan
•	 Any inconsistency with any existing policy, plan, or legislation

Communities 
and 
stakeholders 

•	 If the issue, proposal, or decision involves a strategic asset as listed in this policy or changes the 
level of services of any significant activity

•	 Level of community interest in the proposal, issue, or decision
•	 Any wider national or international interest or views
•	 The extent to which the views of the community are already understood
•	 The timeframes for community engagement, including any other concurrent engagement 

processes or matters involving the same or similar communities
•	 Potential intergenerational impacts of policies or decisions
•	 The impacts on people’s ability to use property or essential services
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Yes

YesNo

No

No

Are there any key 
criteria met?

Are there any additional 
criteria met?

Are there valid 
reasons not to 

engage?

Inform the 
community 
of reasons

Undertake 
Engagement

Don't 
undertake 

engagement

Additional 
Criteria

Factors to consider

Context and 
implications

•	 The extent to which the proposal or decision could have an adverse effect on the environmental 
outcomes as set out in the Council’s plans and policies

•	 If the proposal or decision impacts upon a physical or community resource that is scarce, rare, or 
unique and / or under threat

•	 If the proposal or decision would be irreversible
•	 If there are high levels of controversy around the proposal or decision
•	 The practical requirements of efficient decision making in situations of urgency

Aromatawai ana i te Hirika
Assessing Significance
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Kā Rawa Whai Rautaki
Strategic Assets

A strategic asset is defined in the LGA as:

“in relation to the assets held by a local authority, means an asset or group of assets that the local authority needs to 
retain if the local authority is to maintain the local authority’s capacity to achieve or promote any outcome that the 
local authority determines to be important to the current or future well-being of the community; and includes —

Under the LGA, any decision to transfer the ownership or control of a strategic asset to or from Council would be 
considered significant and must be provided for in the Long Term Plan (and therefore consulted on through a Special 
Consultative Procedure in the Long Term Plan or in an amendment to the Long Term Plan).

The Council’s strategic assets are considered to be:

•	 Council shares held in Port Otago Limited
•	 Flood Protection and Drainage Schemes*

* - The flood protection and drainage schemes, managed as a whole, are considered to be strategic. However not all 
trading decisions made about these assets are regarded as significant, nor do they affect the asset’s strategic nature, 
e.g., the Lower Taieri Flood Protection Scheme is strategic, but some bridges within the scheme area may not be, and 
the purchase or sale of such bridges may not amount to a significant decision. 

Acquisition or disposal of a component of a strategic asset will not trigger this provision, unless it is considered that 
the component is an integral part of the strategic asset and that its acquisition or disposal would substantially affect 
the operation of the strategic asset.

(a) any asset or group of assets listed in accordance with section 76AA(3) by the local 	
	 authority; and
(b) any land or building owned by the local authority and required to maintain the local 	
	 authority’s capacity to provide affordable housing as part of its social policy; and
(c) any equity securities held by the local authority in—
(i) a port company within the meaning of the Port Companies Act 1988:
(ii) an airport company within the meaning of the Airport Authorities Act 1966”

Otago Community Event 
Alexandra

Otago Community Event 
Head of the Lake
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Kā Hereka
Limitations

In committing to effective engagement and consultation, the Council must also recognise that there is a time and 
financial cost to seeking the views and input of stakeholders and the community. The time and level of engagement 
undertaken needs to be appropriate to the decision / actions to be taken by Council. It will not be possible to engage 
extensively on every decision that the Council makes nor will the engagement bind the Council to the views of any 
particular community or affected party.

There will also be times where the Council does not engage such as:

•	 where time does not allow due to the need to make an urgent decision such as in an 
emergency

•	 where the views of the community are well understood
•	 in relation to operational, administrative and personnel decisions. This policy does not 

apply to such matters.

MosgielC
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d
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R

C

Otago Community Event
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7.4. Otago South River Care Group - Councillor Appointment

Prepared for: Council

Report No. GOV2146

Activity: Governance Report

Author: Amanda Vercoe, GM Governance, Culture and Customer

Endorsed by: Cr Andrew Noone, Chairperson

Date: 27 October 2021

PURPOSE
[1] To provide further information on the request to appoint a councillor representative on 

the Otago South River Care project governance group. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
[2] The Otago South River Care Group has been successful in receiving $1.8million funding 

from the Ministry of Primary Industries to help achieve their vision “To engage our 
communities to protect and enhance water quality now and for future generations”.

[3] The key outcomes being sought from the project are:
a. Support for farmer lead catchment group to achieve on the ground outcomes to 

improve their environmental health.
b. Wider community engagement and wellness.
c. Increased innovation.

[4] The group has asked for an ORC governor to join the project governance group 
overseeing the project.  

[5] As requested at the 29 September 2021 Council meeting, further information has been 
sought about the appointment from the Otago South River Care group as below:
a. ORC involvement was referenced in the funding application.
b. The funding is not contingent on an ORC representative being part of the project 

governance group.
c. The project governance group has been set up to oversee the project and report 

back to the Otago South River Care catchment group. It does not have decision 
making responsibilities (for staffing or expenditure for example).

d. The project governance group membership includes a young farmer, a 
communications representative, an iwi representative, plus members of the 
Catchment Group. ORC was asked to nominate a representative in order to be kept 
in the loop about the project’s progress. The ORC is welcome to also nominate an 
alternate. 

e. The group had its first meeting on 14 October 2021. 
f. Should ORC choose not to nominate a councillor to join the group, the work will 

continue with no issues.

[6] Should a councillor be nominated to join the project governance group, in order to 
manage any potential conflict of interest issues arising, it would be prudent to reference 
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the appointment on the councillor’s declaration of interests register and recuse 
themselves from future decisions that may relate to funding that organisation. 

RECOMMENDATION
That the Council:

1) Notes this report.

2) Agrees to nominate [insert name] an ORC councillor to join the Otago South River Care 
governance group.

3) Agrees to nominate [insert name] as an alternate. 

BACKGROUND
[7] Nil. 

DISCUSSION
[8] Nil. 

OPTIONS
[9] Councillors can choose to nominate a councillor to join the project governance group, or 

not. 

CONSIDERATIONS
Strategic Framework and Policy Considerations
[10] Nil. 

Financial Considerations
[11] Nil. 

Significance and Engagement
[12] Nil. 

Legislative and Risk Considerations
[13] The Local Government Act 2002, Local Authorities (Members’ Interests) Act 1968, ORC 

code of conduct and ORC standing orders are relevant to consider as part of the 
nomination process. 

[14] It is recommended that if a councillor is nominated to a community governance group, 
this is recorded on their declaration of interests register, and that the councillors recuse 
themselves from funding decisions (in particular) in relation to that community group. 

Climate Change Considerations
[15] Nil. 

Communications Considerations
[16] Nil. 

NEXT STEPS
[17] To advise the Otago South River Care group of the outcome of the discussion. 

ATTACHMENTS
Nil 
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7.5. ORC Whare Rūnanga / ORC Dunedin Head Office: Update

Prepared for: Council

Report No. GOV2144

Activity: Governance Report

Authors:
Nick Donnelly, GM Corporate Services
Amanda Vercoe, GM Governance

Endorsed by: Sarah Gardner, Chief Executive

Date: 27 October 2021

PURPOSE
[1] To provide an update on the ORC Whare Rūnanga / Dunedin Head Office 

Accommodation process. 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
[2] Port Otago Ltd has purchased the former Warehouse Building in Maclaggan Street, with 

the intention of repurposing it as the new Head Office for the Otago Regional Council 
(ORC).  The project is in an early planning phase, and initial scoping for building user 
needs is expected to take place before Christmas.

[3] Council will receive regular updates as the project progresses and key governance 
decisions are needed. Council may wish to consider nominating a Councillor to be a 
member of the ORC Internal Steering Group. Councillors will also be invited to attend a 
scoping session for the Council Chamber as users.  

[4] To provide input to the Port and the design team on ORC’s building requirements, ORC is 
setting up internal working groups to coordinate technical inputs and ensure broader 
staff input and engagement. We are also working with Aukaha to set up a working 
partnership so that the cultural values of the area, and the partnership between Council 
and mana whenua are reflected in the project.

RECOMMENDATION
That the Council:

1) Notes this report.

2) Appoints Cr [insert name] to the Steering Group.

BACKGROUND
[5] Port Otago Ltd (POL) has purchased the former Warehouse Building in Maclaggan Street, 

with the intention of repurposing it as the new Head Office for the ORC. ORC and the 
Port entered into a Heads of Agreement in June 2021 for Council to lease the premises 
once the refurbishment is completed.

[6] Implementation of this project is being undertaken by Port Otago who will coordinate 
and manage the design and construction resources required to refurbish the building to 
meet ORC requirements. Port Otago has established a Project Control Group that 
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includes the CE and members of the Port Executive; the ORC CE, CFO, and internal 
project manager; and the external project manager working for the Port.  There are no 
Port Board members on the project control group.

[7] Port Otago has consulted local iwi and have given the project the working name of 
“Whare Rūnanga” (which can be translated to ‘Council House’). 

DISCUSSION
ORC role
[8] With the Port managing the overall refurbishment and building project, a key role of the 

ORC is to provide input into the scoping and design phase to ensure the building will be 
able to meet requirements that are specific to Council. We want to ensure that staff are 
part of the process and are engaged with the end result. The project is also an 
opportunity to work with our Kāi Tahu partners to reflect the cultural values and 
narrative of the location to mana whenua. Councillor involvement is suggested through 
Council reporting processes and a position on the internal Steering Group.

[9] To support the above, a project structure has been set up as below. This structure is 
focussed on the operational needs of the offices and the process, and the execution of 
that.  

[10] While a large part of the building will be fairly standard office usage, we have some 
specific technical requirements for areas such as: Civil Defence Emergency 
Management, the Council Chamber, Customer Experience, and specific storage and 
equipment requirements for Environmental Monitoring and Science staff.  

[11] Once the design work has been done, the groups below will focus on supporting the 
transition and change management process.  

 

[12] Further detail on the purpose of the groups is below: 
 Council: Will receive regular reporting from the Project Sponsor (Chief Executive) 

and Internal Project Manager (Executive Advisor) to make key decisions, be updated 
on key developments, project milestones, and finances. Council may also wish to 
nominate a Councillor to be a member of the ORC Internal Steering Group. 
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Councillors will also be included in key stakeholder discussions focussed on their 
requirements and the Council Chamber. This role is consistent with Waikato 
Regional Council and Greater Wellington Regional Council governance roles in their 
recent accommodation upgrades. Except that there was not a Councillor on the 
Steering Group in either case.

 Mana to Mana: Will receive regular reporting on project developments with respect 
to reflecting iwi partnership and cultural narratives and values in design work. 

 ORC Internal Steering Group: Reports to Council. Purpose is to oversee ORC inputs 
into the design process and internal implementation of the project and resolve 
competing demands, be guardians of the internal outcomes sought from the project 
and measures of success, elevate potential risks, and be visible champions for 
change internally. The group will also guide the transition process and progress 
associated work programmes linked to the move to the new Head Office. 
Membership includes ELT, Executive Advisor, Chairs of Technical and Staff Reference 
Groups. As above, Council may also wish to nominate a Councillor to be a member 
of this group. 

 ORC Technical Advisory Group: Makes recommendations to the Steering Group. 
Purpose is to provide operational input to the scoping and design process and plan 
for the transition to the new building. Members will represent specific work needs of 
various teams, but will also take an organisation wide view. 

 ORC Staff Reference Group: Provides advice to the Steering Group. Supports staff 
engagement in the life of the project and transition process. Members will take an 
organisation wide view rather than a team centric view.

 Aukaha Kai Mahi: Works with internal groups to provide guidance and advice based 
on the cultural narrative of the area and values, that will inform design.

Timeline, progress to date and next steps  
[13] The Project Control Group held its initial meeting on 4 August 2021. This meeting was 

focused on agreeing the project start up process and the indicative programme and 
timeline.

[14] The project is working to an indicative completion date of December 2022. This is an 
aspirational target and is indicative only at this point. This date will change as the scope 
of work is determined and resourcing / procurement requirements are confirmed.

[15] Ultimately the timeline will be heavily influenced by the final scope that is agreed, 
market supply capacity and any unforeseen delays should they occur i.e. further Covid 
related shutdowns. Council’s current leases at Philip Laing House expire in October 2023 
so at this point there is sufficient buffer between that date and December 2022 to 
mitigate the risk of any delays.  

[16] Two meetings were held in September 2021 to interview and select the design team. 
GHD Woodhead (GHD) have been appointed to lead the scoping and design work. They 
have a local office in Dunedin and the core design team for the project are based in 
Christchurch.

[17] They are planning to conduct early scoping discussions with staff and key stakeholders, 
including the internal groups outlined above. The first of these was an online meeting 
with the Executive Leadership Team on 19 October 2021, followed by two days of on-
site meetings with staff and key stakeholder groups at the end of October or beginning 
of November 2021.
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[18] We will also arrange a session with GHD for Councillors, either on those two days or 
separately via zoom, so that Councillor views as “users” can be incorporated. 

Finances
[19] The Long-Term Plan 2021-31 has provided for Council leasing new head office premises.

[20] Capital expenditure of $5,000,000 was included in year 2 (2022-23) of the LTP. This is 
intended to cover leasehold improvements and fitout not included in the core building 
refurbishment. Capital costs are to be funded from the Building Reserve.

[21] Additional operating costs of $2,000,000 were included from year 3 (2023-24) of the 
LTP. This is intended to cover rent and other operating costs associated with the lease 
i.e. rates. Lease operating costs are included in overheads and are reallocated to 
activities via overhead recharges.

[22] The amounts included in the LTP are high level estimates at this point and more precise 
amounts will be confirmed once full cost estimates are developed as the project 
progresses. The final amounts will also depend on how costs are allocated between the 
Port as lessor and Council as lessee.

OPTIONS
[23] Council may wish to nominate a Councillor to join the ORC Internal Steering Group. 

CONSIDERATIONS
Strategic Framework and Policy Considerations
[24] Nil. 

Financial Considerations
[25] As outlined above. 

Significance and Engagement
[26] Nil. 

Legislative and Risk Considerations
[27] Nil. 

Climate Change Considerations
[28] Sustainability will be a consideration in the accommodation fit out. 

Communications Considerations
[29] Nil. 

NEXT STEPS
[30] To schedule a meeting with Councillors and GHD as part of the initial scoping 

discussions. 

[31] Report regularly to Council. 

ATTACHMENTS
Nil 
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7.6. Queenstown Public Transport Business Case

Prepared for: Council

Report No. PPT2115

Activity: Transport - Public Passenger Transport 

Author: Garry Maloney, Manager Transport

Endorsed by: Gavin Palmer, General Manager Operations

Date: 27 October 2021
 
  
PURPOSE
[1] The purpose of this report is to seek approval of the Queenstown Public Transport 

Business Case (QTBC) scope.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
[2] In February 2021, Council endorsed in principle the QTBC1.

[3] The QTBC is a set of integrated and complementary land transport projects to “allow the 
Queenstown Lakes District to continue to grow sustainably and continue to be a highly 
desirable place to live, work and play” over the next 30 years.

[4] Key to the success of the QTBC is the need for significant further development of public 
transport over the next ten years. This needs to be supported by infrastructure and 
behaviour change aspects for it to be successful.

[5] The proposed Council programme to do that requires undertaking a Public Transport 
Business Case (provided for in the 2021/31 Long-Term Plan).  The business case will 
further refine the outcomes of the QTBC and build a complete understanding of the 
acceptable risks, uncertainties and benefits associated with the investment, so that a 
final decision can be made about whether to implement it.

[6] Appended to this report is a Scoping Paper setting out what the Public Transport 
Business Case will cover.  The Scoping Paper has been endorsed by the Way to Go Board 
and approval is now sought from Council prior to preparing the business case.

RECOMMENDATION 
  That the Council:

1) Notes this report. 

2) Approves the scope of the Queenstown Public Transport Business Case as described in 
the appended Queenstown Public Transport Business Case Scoping Paper.

  
BACKGROUND
[7] The February 2021, Strategy and Planning Committee received a report on the QTBC and 

made the following resolution:

1 Queenstown Transport Business Case, Report No. PPT2101, Report to 10 February 2021 meeting of the Otago 
Regional Council Strategy and Planning Committee.
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“Endorses in principle the Queenstown Business Case as the basis for more detailed 
investigations subject to the Long-Term Plan consultation process.”

[8] The 2021-31 Long-Term Plan confirmed the need for the Business Case and provides for 
the funding of the Business Case based on current estimates.

[9] The QTBC is a set of integrated and complementary land transport projects that have 
been developed for the Way to Go (W2G) transport partnership for the Wakatipu Basin2.  
Component projects are expected to be delivered by each partnership agency.

[10] Key to the success of the QTBC is the need for significant further development of public 
transport over the next ten years. This needs to be supported by infrastructure and 
behaviour change aspects for it to be successful.

[11] The mode shift change target of 40% non-vehicle modes by 2028 on State highway 6A is 
a considerable challenge. Additional bus services and physical infrastructure changes will 
deliver some but not all the change required. This level of mode shift will require a 
detailed system of actions and collaboration by W2G partners to support increased 
levels of service for active travel (walking and cycling), public transport, parking 
management, and other initiatives.

[12] The QTBC is forecast to reduce emissions by 15% between 2018 and 2048. 

[13] The proposed Council programme to achieve increased mode share for public transport 
is:
 2021/22 - further investigation (Public Transport Business Case [PTBC] – estimated 

total cost of $1.5m).
 2024/30 - delivery of improved bus services (especially in 2027, but dependent upon 

the Detailed Business Case (DBC) and subsequent approval processes of Council and 
Waka Kotahi NZ Transport Agency (Waka Kotahi or WKNZTA) – estimated additional 
total cost of $131m).

 2028/30 - infrastructure (i.e., Queenstown public transport interchange and 
Frankton public transport interchange - also dependent upon the Detailed Business 
Case and subsequent approval processes of Council and Waka Kotahi - estimated 
additional total cost of $61m).

[14] It is noted that the 2021-31 Long-Term Plan does not provide for the activities in the 
second and third bullets above as current estimates are not sufficiently developed for 
them to be included in a Long-Term Plan.

[15] The DBC usually only involves further detailed analysis of the preferred option and the 
do-minimum option identified in the programme business case (that is, it builds on 
previous work, rather than starting afresh).  It is aimed at building a complete 
understanding of the acceptable risks, uncertainties and benefits associated with the 
investment, so that a final decision can be made whether to implement it.

[16] This means the proposed PTBC will provide more detailed analysis of the costs, risks and 
benefits of the second and third bullet points above.

2 Way to Go is a transport collaboration between Queenstown Lakes District Council (QLDC), Otago Regional Council 
(ORC), and Waka Kotahi New Zealand Transport Agency (Waka Kotahi, or WKNZTA).
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[17] To progress the PTBC requires:
 Co-investment from Waka Kotahi; and
 Approval by Council of a business case scope (the purpose of this report and as was 

agreed with Council).

DISCUSSION
[18] Appended to this report is a draft PTBC scope, comprising:

 Purpose.
 Workstreams.
 Items in/out of scope.
 Key deliverables.
 Approach and Work Programme.
 Governance and Management.

[19] Key points to note in the proposed Scope are as follows:
 The purpose of the PTBC is to develop a 30-year public transport service plan that is 

agreeable by the partners, is adaptable, realistic, fundable, accepted by the 
community, and aligned to the Spatial Plan, QTBC and the ORC Regional Public 
Transport Plan (RPTP).

 It will cover detailed analysis on how bus routes and fleet will evolve over the next 
15-years (2021-2036), in three-year increments, with a high-level view of public 
transport requirements over the following 15-years’ (2037-2051).

 The geographical area will effectively be that area currently serviced by the existing 
bus service (see Figure 1).
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 It will consider integration of intra/inter-regional and private funded services (e.g. 
tourist services, ski buses), ferry services and active travel. It will not cover high-
capacity offline passenger transport (e.g. gondola) other than identifying in the 30-
year period when a high-capacity offline passenger transport system should be 
addressed.

 It will be integrated with the Queenstown Lakes Spatial Plan3, transport 
Queenstown Business Cases (comprising Frankton to Queenstown Single Stage 
Business Case and Queenstown Town Centre Detailed Business Case) and relevant 
Masterplans.

 It will have six workstreams (service of demand, quality of service, public transport 
infrastructure, asset ownership and system management and funding) that will 
provide the input to the standard detailed business case reports of Strategic, 
Economic, Commercial, Financial and Management Cases.  These documents will 
provide the justification (or not) for future investments in public transport 
infrastructure and services.

[20] The following Scope development and assurance process was undertaken:
 Initial scope discussions held with Waka Kotahi (6 August 2021) and QLDC (19 

August 2021).
 Scope document prepared by ORC.

3 https://www.qldc.govt.nz/your-council/major-projects/queenstown-lakes-spatial-plan

Figure 1: Geographic Area of PTBC

Council Meeting Agenda - 27 October 2021 - MATTERS FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION

198

https://www.qldc.govt.nz/your-council/major-projects/queenstown-lakes-spatial-plan


Council Meeting 2021.10.27

 Scope document circulated to Waka Kotahi and QLDC for feedback.
 Scope document updated.
 W2G Management Team discussions (commenced 21 September 2021).
 W2G Board consideration (endorsed on 15 October 2021).

[21] Feedback on the Scope was provided by Waka Kotahi and QLDC and has been 
incorporated in the appended Scoping Paper.

[22] A key matter raised by QLDC staff related to the geographic extent of the PTBC, being 
mindful of perceived public transport demands across the district (e.g. upper Clutha, 
Cromwell to Queenstown, etc).  The PTBC notes it needs to consider those connections 
and while it will not provide detailed planning for those centres, it does flag the need to 
subsequently investigate them.  These will be progressed through collaborating with 
QLDC as it looks to refresh its Wanaka Single Stage Business Case and, subject to 
subsequent Long-Term Plan processes/decisions, to consider the wider area in the 2024 
– 2027 period.

[23] The W2G Board endorsed the appended Scope, noting subsequent refinement of 
deliverables (such as the level of detail that the PTBC would provide on Hubs for 
example) would be undertaken by the W2G Management Team and reported to the 
Board.

OPTIONS
[24] In considering this report and its attachment, the Council has two options as follows:

 Option 1: approve the proposed Scope.
 Option 2: not approve the proposed Scope.

[25] The recommended option is Option 1, especially given both W2G Partners have 
endorsed the Scoping Paper through the W2G Board.

[26] Although Council has approved funding for the PTBC to be progressed, it was agreed 
that would only take place with Council’s approval of the scope.  As such, Option 2 
would delay commencement of the project.

CONSIDERATIONS
Strategic Framework and Policy Considerations
[27] ORC’s 2021/31 Long-Term Plan outlines how activities undertaken by Council will help to 

achieve community outcomes. One of the Community Outcomes that ORC aims to 
achieve is sustainable, safe, and inclusive transport.  Council investing in the proposed 
QTBC interventions will help deliver this outcome.

[28] The Regional Land Transport Plan 2021-2031 aligns with the strategic priorities of the 
Government Policy Statement on Land Transport Funding (Safety, Better Travel Options, 
Improving Freight Connections and Climate Change).

[29] The RLTP included the PTBC as an activity in the Programme and WKNZTA included the 
activity in the 2021-24 National Land Transport Programme with a probable funding 
status.4

4 New activities that are expected to proceed during this NLTP period, subject to a successful business case and 
funding being available when the application is received.
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[30] The proposed purpose of the PTBC states that it will align with the Regional Public 
Transport Plan and the document itself outlines the key policies in the Plan “as carbon 
reduction, integrated network, adaptability, and resilience, high-quality, accessible, safe 
and affordable.”

Financial Considerations
[31] The PTBC is a budgeted activity in Years 1 and 2 of Council’s 2021-31 Long-Term Plan.  

Council staff are in the process of seeking approval from WKNZTA for its co-investment 
(to the value of $765,000). 

[32] To obtain WKNZTA funding, Council is required to prepare a ‘Point of Entry’ document 
for its approval (in progress).

Significance and Engagement Considerations
[33] The attached PTBC scope has been developed in consultation with W2G partners and 

considered by both the Management Team and Board (which endorsed it on 15 October 
2021).

Legislative and Risk Considerations
[34] There are no legislative considerations in regard to the proposed decisions sought in this 

paper.

Climate Change Considerations
[35] The proposed PTBC will consider climate change as part of its development (see section 

2.3.2 of the appended Scoping Paper – “Fleet decarbonisation”).

Communications Considerations
[36] There are no communications considerations in regard to the proposed decisions sought 

in this paper.

[37] Stakeholder and community engagement are addressed in section 3 of the appended 
Scoping Paper.

NEXT STEPS
[38] The next steps in the process are to:

 Obtain WKNZTA co-investment approval through the Point of Entry document.
 W2G Management Team to refine specification of deliverables.
 Prepare procurement strategy for delivery of the PTBC.
 Undertake PTBC strategic assessment.

 
ATTACHMENTS
1. Public Transport Business Case Scoping Plan - October 2021 [7.6.1 - 15 pages]
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1 Introduction 

1.1 Report Purpose 

This document outlines the scope of the PTBC, and sets out: 

• Purpose and scope, noting items that are in and out of scope 

• Consultation arrangements 

• Deliverables, in terms of advisory papers and reporting aligned to business case requirements  

• Work programme, including approach to the initial phase of work 

• Governance. 

The scope is for QLDC, and Waka Kotahi W2G Management Team members endorsement prior to 

endorsement by the W2G Board for the scope to be submitted to ORC Councillors for approval. 

1.2 Background 

The QTBC outlines the case for investment for a suite of multi-modal transport interventions covering the 

Whakatipu Basin over the next 30 years. The approach focuses on targeted bus priority and walking and cycling 

infrastructure improvements, bus rapid transit services and travel behaviour initiatives to reduce growth in 

private car use. The QTBC notes: 

• A fundamental shift of 16% to 40% of people using alternative modes to the private car during peak 

periods on SH6A by 2028. This proportion increases to 60% by 2048 at historic pre-COVID traffic volume 

growth (the current view is that there will be a period of slower growth due to COVID, but that growth will 

recover in the medium term and then rapidly continue as anticipated); and 

• The PTBC will cover public transport services and supporting infrastructure (fleet, hubs, depots and stops) 

and consider options for a more sustainable funding model to enable a step change in service provision. 

The QTBC was approved by ORC and QLDC in January 2021, and Waka Kotahi in February 2021. A summary of 

the Business Case is presented in Appendix A. 

The QTBC identified that further work is required, including the preparation of a detailed PTBC, to inform 

future investment decisions for public transport service provision.  Funding has been allocated through ORC’s 

Long-Term Plan 2021-31.  

This Scoping Paper is for the detailed PTBC. For clarity, the business case is referred to as the PTBC, as not all 

business case elements will be at a detailed level, as discussed in Chapter 2.  However, it is expected that any 

components like service frequency improvements will be sufficiently developed to enable a funding 

application and implementation to occur in 2024-27.  Service improvements for future years will need to be 

clearly articulated and include a solid economic case. 

ORC is responsible for delivering the PTBC as regional councils plan and procure service delivery of public 

transport services. 

The project scope is to be endorsed by QLDC and WKNZTA. Both have an essential role in achieving the 

outcomes of the QTBC in terms of infrastructure delivery and achieving travel behaviour change to alternative 

modes than the private car.   
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2 Purpose and Scope 

2.1 Purpose 

The PTBC purpose is defined as: 

“To develop a 30-year public transport service plan that is agreeable by the partners, is adaptable, realistic, 

fundable, accepted by the community, and aligned to the Spatial Plan, QTBC and the ORC RPTP.” 

It is noted that: 

• The PTBC will cover detailed analysis on how bus routes and fleet will evolve over the next 15-years 

(2021-2036), in three-year increments, with a high-level view of public transport requirements over 

the following 15-years’ (2037-2051). Three-year increments have been chosen to align with the next 

RPTP update (2024), LTP/RLTP/NLTP funding periods (next update 2024 then every three years), and 

the next bus operating contract (2027). The public transport service plan will also test when public 

transport infrastructure (e.g., transport hubs) will reach capacity based on service, frequency, and 

vehicle size requirements. 

• The PTBC geographical area will not be inconsistent with the QTBC and include the area bounded by: 

o Arrowtown in the north; 

o SH6/McDonnell Road intersection in the east; 

o Jacks Point in the south; and 

o Sunshine Bay in the west. 

• The PTBC will also take into consideration of transport connections that intersect with the area 

outlined above such as from Cromwell, Glenorchy and Kingston.   

• The PTBC will not cover the planning for a public transport system outside this geographical area. It is 

intended (subject to subsequent Long Term Plan processes/decisions) to consider the wider area in 

the 2024 – 2027 period. 

• The PTBC will cover a detailed analysis of public bus services. It will consider integration of intra/inter-

regional and private funded services (e.g., tourist services, ski buses), ferry services and active travel 

drawing on work from previous ferry and active travel business cases. It will not cover high-capacity 

offline passenger transport (e.g., gondola) except identifying in the 30-year period when a high-

capacity offline passenger transport system should be addressed. 

• The PTBC will be integrated with the Spatial Plan, Queenstown Business Cases (e.g., the Lake Wakatipu 

Public Water Ferry Services DBC, Active Travel SSBC), and relevant Masterplans (e.g., Queenstown 

Town Centre, Frankton and Queenstown Events Masterplan, and Queenstown Town Centre 

Masterplan).  

• The policies in the RPTP are summarised as carbon reduction, integrated network, adaptability, and 

resilience, high-quality, accessible, safe, and affordable. 

2.2 Workstreams 

There are six components of work required to address the key questions required of the business case. 
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1. Service of demand. The forecast patronage demand that needs to be moved by public transport and 

active travel modes considering population and tourism growth, origins and destinations, and the 

impacts of travel demand management initiatives (such as a concessionary fare scheme between 

Cromwell and Queenstown).   

2. Quality of service. The quantum and type of public transport fleet required taking into consideration 

government policy on the decarbonisation of public transport, the W2G Partners climate change 

action plans and the design of the network and levels of service that will also give effect to that 

decarbonization outcome.  An assessment of the service quality will also be considered (e.g., 

convenience, look, cabin environment, ease of use), and expansion trigger points for when investment 

is required. 

3. Public transport infrastructure. The life of the public transport bus hubs and when changes in 

configuration and/or capacity and operation are required, understanding the demand and bus fleet 

vehicles sizes.  

4. Asset ownership. The future fleet and depot ownership and operating model required to deliver an 

upgraded service. 

5. System management and labour supply.  The supply of bus drivers, pay and accommodation, staff 

capability and IT systems required to plan and operate the public transport system at Council(s). 

6. Funding. The costs and how the proposals should be funded over the 15-year period, including 

potential opportunities around different funding models. 

2.3 Items in scope 

2.3.1 Service of demand 

• Data collection. Obtaining robust data will be critical to underpin and provide credibility to the 

analysis. Existing patronage and origin-destination data will need to be obtained. It is anticipated 

that market segmentation data will need to be ascertained to understand service demand for 

different user groups e.g., tourists (by season), residents, schools. 

• Forecasting. It is envisaged that a simple be-spoke forecasting tool will be developed for this PTBC 

which could potentially build on the spreadsheet developed for the QBC, with a four-stage 

transport model being a medium-term requirement i.e., to be developed in 2024-27. As noted in 

the items out of scope, it is not proposed to build a new strategic public transport model as part of 

this work. The scope will include testing the 40% non-car mode share in terms of need and 

deliverability by 2028, and the impacts and timings of critical TDM policies and implementation 

plans e.g., Parking Implementation Plan and TDM SSBC.   

2.3.2 Quality of service 

• Fleet decarbonisation. Government policy stipulates that by 2025 only zero-emission public 

transport buses will be allowed to be purchased, and the public transport fleet will be completely 

decarbonised by 2035. A plan will be prepared on how to decarbonise the fleet consistent with 

6: Funding
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2. Quality of 

service

3: Public 

transport 

infrastructure

4: Asset 

ownership

5: System 

management 

& labour 

supply

Council Meeting 2021.10.27

Council Meeting Agenda - 27 October 2021 - MATTERS FOR COUNCIL CONSIDERATION

207



 

 

 

October 2021           P a g e  | 4 

the government policy. This will cover potential technologies, ownership models, procurement 

changes, and funding approaches. The plan will articulate what type of vehicles are required and 

when over the next 15-years.  Along with the passenger forecasting previously mentioned an 

assessment will be made on the impacts of the new fleet through reducing carbon emissions. 

• Service patterns. A plan will be developed on the public transport network and frequencies to 

meet future demand over the next 15-years. It will also investigate the case, including economic 

case for lead public transport services in new growth/development areas e.g., Southern and 

Eastern Corridors  

• On-demand services. The plan will identify areas where on-demand services should be considered 

for further detailed investigation, e.g. smaller settlements where some service may be required 

to deliver social outcomes, to reach catchments where buses cannot get to, or where this would 

have a negative impact on network functionality or legibility, such as Queenstown Hill (which new 

housing areas are proposed) and access to Lakeview. 

2.3.3 Public transport infrastructure 

• Public transport hubs (Frankton, Stanley Street, and ferry wharfs) and bus stops. The life of the 

bus hubs and depots will be assessed taking into consideration forecast fleet numbers and bus 

size, and bus stop changes required to accommodate public transport user demand and 

integration with walking and cycling networks and supporting infrastructure such as intelligent 

transport systems as they relate to public transport.  

• Park-and-ride. The requirements for park-and-ride will be tested, using the existing business case 

work, as part of the service design to confirm whether park-and-ride is required in the short-

medium term, in which catchment areas, and how this will impact fleet and service design. 

2.3.4 Asset ownership and system management 

• Ownership and operating model. A plan will be developed on the changes that could be adopted 

in the future to existing ownership and operating models, particularly given the objective of 

decarbonising public transport. This plan will cover vehicles, depots, intelligent transport systems, 

and bus stops. 

• System management.  The plan will outline what resources and systems are required to deliver 

the step change in upgraded service, and whether these proposals are deliverable. 

2.3.5  Funding 

• Sustainable funding model. A plan will be developed addressing the appropriate funding mix from 

ratepayers, central government, and other alternative sources of revenue, including parking and 

developer/third party contributions. This will outline what is affordable given Queenstown’s 

unique environment with a relatively small number of ratepayers compared to demand and 

service levels required. Demand is disproportionately influenced by the number of visitors, noting 

that pre-COVID estimates suggest 39 visitors to every resident at peak tourist times of the year.  

Affordability and funding mechanisms will be key inputs into the planning of the next LTP. 

2.4 Items out of scope 
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• Development of a new strategic public transport model.  It is envisaged that a simple spreadsheet 

model will be developed, with potential to build a four-stage model in 2024-27 outside this 

contract. 

• Analysis of fares by zones/user groups i.e., fares will be tested at a Whakatipu Basin level, not 

disaggregated by varying fare structures across zones or user groups 

• A public transport assessment for new development proposals (e.g., Ladies Mile, Lakeview).  The PTBC 

will provide strategic inputs and outputs to future development proposals (e.g. preliminary 

assessment of routes and frequencies), but not detailed public transport planning within the 

development e.g., bus stop locations. 

• Development of a TDM implementation plan. 

• High-capacity offline passenger transport options, (e.g., gondola), as previous forecasts have 

estimated that this will not be required beyond a 30-year period (2051). 
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3 Consultation 

3.1 Approach 

The PTBC purpose (section 2.1) specifically notes that the 30-year public transport service plan is to be 

acceptable by the community.   A communication and engagement plan (The plan) will provide a framework 

for ORC, as lead agency on this business case, on how community acceptability to the PTBC will be achieved.  

The plan is currently being drafted and will include objectives, approach, key messages, key timelines, 

audience and risk analysis and mitigation as well as key channels (some of which are listed below).  The plan 

will be developed in collaboration with the W2G Partners.  

As we have consulted with the public on previous W2G business cases, we will take the same approach at 

appropriate stages of the business case development.  

3.2 Purpose 

The key purpose is: 

• To position the business case as an investment in the community.  

• To engage with the community throughout the process to inform and consult on the business case 

including on public transport fleet requirements, networks and service quality. 

• To raise awareness around travel choice, mode shift, sustainability outcomes.  

3.3 Objectives 
The following primary objectives have been identified: 

• Ensure a WTG partnership approach to engagement  

o To ensure consistency with and continuity from other WTG engagement programmes by 

recognising and executing communications within the wider programme  

o Work with the WKNZTA and QLDC communication leads to identify opportunities to 

integrate and share key messages across related programmes around public transport and 

mode shift.  

• To adopt an end-to-end engagement approach with key stakeholders (see approach).  

• To provide accessible channels and platforms for authentic community engagement, working with 

community transport interest groups.   

3.4 Communication approach  

With these objectives in mind, the approach is to engage with the community at key milestones of the 

programme, while identifying opportunities to ensure key messages are included in related programmes and 

projects, for example NZUP and Climate Change Action Plan, while ensuring the distinctions between these.  
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Engagement will commence after council signals we can move forward, with a sustained information 

campaign to keep stakeholders updated at regular intervals and aligning with broader ORC mode shift 

marketing.  

We will formally engage with consultation in mid-2022 seeking feedback on tangible programme outcomes 

for example fleet decarbonisation and route/frequency improvements. This would be a four-week 

consultation on ORC’s YourSay platform or, for continuity, on QLDC’s Let’s Talk where all WTG engagement 

has taken place so far.   

The last interaction will close the loop demonstrating how feedback contributes to the decision-making 

process and sharing next steps.  

3.5 Channels  

The following channels and platforms across the partners will support our engagement:  

Media release(s), Way To Go and ORC website content, digital media, Way To Go newsletter, On Board with 

Orbus, QDLC Scuttlebutt. 

When we consult more formally, Public Notice ODT, YourSay/Let’s Talk engagement, advertising though Allied 

Press, direct contact with key stakeholders/stakeholder groups.  
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4 Deliverables 

A list of key deliverables are presented in Figure 1. 

Figure 1: Key PTBC papers and reports 

1  
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Further work will identify the level of detail required of each deliverable. 
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5 Approach and Work Programme 

5.1 Approach 

The approach will be to undertake a strategic assessment then refine further work packages. The strategic 

assessment will comprise of: 

• Agreeing datasets to underpin the assessment. 

• Reconfirm the QTBC investment case objectives, including drawing on the policies in the RPTP. 

• Outline the benefits that could be gained from the potential investment; and 

• Confirm that there is an agreed way forward with stakeholders, demonstrating to politicians, 

stakeholders, and customers why we are going in a particular direction. 

This strategic assessment will be the platform for further evaluation and aid in preparing a more detailed scope 

to that set out in this Project Plan and enable a procurement strategy to be developed. After this stage, there 

would be a hold point (December 2021) where partners will consider and sign off on a more detailed scope 

document for each work stream. 

5.2 Programme 

This will be an 18-month work programme. Final outcomes will need to be agreed by the partners by the end 

of 2023 so information can be interpretated to feed into the next LTP, RLTP and NLTP. An indicative 

programme is presented in Figure 2. 

 

Figure 2: Indicative programme of works 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22

Sep-21 Oct-21 Nov-21 Dec-21 Jan-22 Feb-22 Mar-22 Apr-22 May-22 Jun-22 Jul-22 Aug-22 Sep-22 Oct-22 Nov-22 Dec-22 Jan-23 Feb-23 Mar-23 Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23

1. W2G approval of scope

2. Councillor approval of Project Plan

3. Procure work for strategic assessment

4. Strategic assessment

5. Scope refinement and approval

6. Procure consultant(s)

7. Data collection and forecasting

Advisory papers and analysis

8. Service of demand (forecasting)

9. Quality of service (fleet requirements)

10. Public transport infrastructure

11. Asset ownership

12. Funding model

Agree outcomes

13. ORC/partner agreement on outcomes

Final reporting

14. Summary reporting

15. Strategic case

16. Economic case

17. Commercial case

18. Financial case

19. Management case

20. Board papers and approvals

LTP Planning

31. Commence LTP planning
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6 Governance and management 

6.1 Project team structure 

The project team structure is presented in Figure 3. 

Figure 3: Project team structure 
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7.7. Update on South Dunedin/Harbourside Climate Change Adaptation

Prepared for: Council

Report No. HAZ2018

Activity: Safety & Hazards - Flood Risk Management 

Author: Gavin Palmer, General Manager Operations

Endorsed by: Gavin Palmer, General Manager Operations

Date: 27 October 2021

PURPOSE
[1] To update Council on the arrangements between Otago Regional Council (ORC) and 

Dunedin City Council (DCC) for delivery of the South Dunedin/Harbourside natural 
hazards adaptation programme of work. This complements the update presented in the 
Chairperson’s report to the 29 September 2021 meeting of Council.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
[2] Staff of ORC and DCC have been working together to progress arrangements for a more 

integrated programme of work for South Dunedin/Harbourside (Figure 1).  Good 
progress has been made, with appointment of a joint programme manager.  

Figure 1. South Dunedin and Harbourside.

[3] The programme manager’s first substantive task is to complete a current state 
assessment or ‘snapshot’ of the South Dunedin Future (SDF) Programme, including 
canvassing current understandings across both councils of the vision, problem 
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definition, outcomes and objectives, work streams and activities currently involved in 
the SDF Programme.  This will be brought to Council next month for noting.

[4] In addition, staff of both Councils have worked together to jointly scope and procure a 
project that will develop a framework for how the Dynamic Adaptive Pathways Process 
(DAPP) could be applied to South Dunedin/Harbourside.  This will inform a project plan 
that will be brought to Council for endorsement early next year.

RECOMMENDATION
That the Council:

1) Receives this report.

2) Notes the appointment, with Dunedin City Council, of a programme manager to further 
develop and oversee the programme of work for South Dunedin/Harbourside natural 
hazards adaptation.

BACKGROUND
[5] On 1 December 2020, the Strategy and Planning Committee considered the following 

three options for collaboration with DCC on delivery of the South Dunedin/Harbourside 
natural hazards adaptation programme of work1.

a. Option 1 (status quo): ORC’s role is to focus on the technical aspects, principally 
natural hazards identification, assessment, and reporting. ORC and DCC programmes 
of work remain separate with ORC providing input to DCC’s South Dunedin Future 
(SDF) programme. ORC would continue to have separate public communications and 
engagement activity.

b. Option 2: This option is similar to Option 1 but includes a joint governance structure 
involving ORC and DCC elected members. This would create a forum for political 
discussion and provide oversight. A similar example is the Connecting Dunedin 
(transport) arrangement between ORC, DCC and Waka Kotahi/NZTA. 

c. Option 3: ORC and DCC develop a fully integrated programme of work with agreed 
objectives, scope, and shared resources such as a jointly appointed programme 
director. As with Option 2, a joint governance structure involving ORC and DCC 
elected members would be put in place. Option 3 would draw from the example of 
the Wakatipu Transport Governance Group and Way2Go transport partnership 
between ORC, Queenstown-Lakes District Council and Waka Kotahi/NZTA.

[6] The Committee made the following resolutions at that meeting:

That the Council:

1. Receives this report.

2. Notes the programme of work being delivered by ORC in relation to South 
Dunedin/Harbourside natural hazards adaptation.

1 ORC Role in South Dunedin Harbourside Collaboration with DCC. Report No. P&S1885. Report to 1 December 2020 
meeting of the Otago Regional Council Strategy and Planning Committee.
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3. Selects Option 3 presented in this report for continuing to collaborate with Dunedin 
City Council on delivery of that programme.

4. Authorises staff and the Chair to engage with Dunedin City Council to progress the 
preferred option and to report back to Council.

[7] These resolutions have similar intent as the following resolution made by the Policy 
Committee on 17 October 20182:

That through the Chair and CE we initiate discussion around forming a governance group on 
South Dunedin, including councillors.

[8] The desire to work collaboratively with DCC was formalised prior to that in the following 
resolution made by the Technical Committee on 24 July 20143:

That Council work collaboratively with DCC on the climate change adaption work programme 
with respect to the South Dunedin harbourside area.

[9] This report provides an update on progress with implementing the resolutions of the 
December 2020 meeting of the Strategy and Planning Committee.  It complements the 
update presented in the Chairperson’s report to the 29 September 2021 meeting of 
Council.

DISCUSSION
[10] Staff of both councils have been progressing arrangements for a more integrated 

programme of work for South Dunedin/Harbourside.  Good progress has been made, 
with appointment of a joint programme manager.  The programme manager is an 
employee of DCC, but their role is part-funded by ORC.  ORC’s funding contribution for 
the 2021/22 year is $50,000.  This was provided for in the 2021/31 Long Term Plan.

[11] The programme manager’s first substantive task is to complete a current state 
assessment or ‘snapshot’ of the South Dunedin Future (SDF) Programme, including 
canvassing current understandings across both councils of the vision, problem 
definition, outcomes and objectives, work streams and activities currently involved in 
the SDF Programme.  This will be brought to Council next month for noting.

[12] In addition, staff of both Councils have worked together to jointly scope and procure a 
project that will provide a framework for how the Dynamic Adaptive Pathways Process 
(DAPP) could be applied to South Dunedin/Harbourside (Figure 2). This will inform a 
project plan that will be brought to Council for endorsement early next year.

2 South Dunedin Collaboration. Report No. EHS1830. Report to 18 October 2018 meeting of the Otago Regional 
Council Policy Committee.
3 Update on South Dunedin Groundwater Monitoring and Sea Level Rise. Report No. 2014/0957. Report to 24 July 
2014 meeting of the Otago Regional Council Technical Committee.
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Figure 2: Overview of the 10-step decision cycle of the Adaptive Pathways approach4.

[13] ORC’s technical work on South Dunedin/Harbourside is continuing in conjunction with 
the programme planning work.  Seven additional permanent monitoring bores have 
been drilled in the area between August and October 2021, bringing the total number of 
permanent monitoring wells to 315 (Figure 3). Additional temporary groundwater 
pumping sites were also drilled to assess shallow and deep groundwater flow at points 
beneath South Dunedin, important data for new models (Figure 4). Core samples were 
also extracted during the drilling programme, from which material can be dated to 
improve understanding of past vertical land movements along Dunedin’s coastline, and 
their implications for future relative sea level change. Samples and data collected in this 
recent work are being analysed by GNS Science and ORC Science and Natural Hazards 
team members.

4 Coastal Hazards and Climate Change, Guidance for Local Government, Ministry for the Environment, Publication 
ME1341, December 2017.
5 Permanently monitored sites as of October 2021. Five additional piezometers installed by DCC and University of 
Otago are occasionally accessed for readings and may be permanently instrumented with data loggers in future.
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Figure 3: Overview of the South Dunedin/Harbourside groundwater monitoring network 
completed in September 2021

Figure 4: Drilling rig set up for aquifer testing in South Dunedin (Tonga Park, October 2021)
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[14] ORC is working with the University of Otago, School of Surveying on improving the 
monitoring network for vertical land motion in South Dunedin. The current focus is on 
defining the coverage of the network and identifying adequate sites in the South 
Dunedin/Harbourside area to install the monitoring equipment. It is planned to install 
the equipment this financial year. The improved network will provide a better 
understanding of vertical land motion and its relationship to long-term land motion, 
which has implications for future relative sea level. It complements ORC’s continuous 
monitoring of land motion at the Green Island sea level recorder.

CONSIDERATIONS
Policy Considerations
[15] Council’s previous resolutions to do with collaboration with DCC are noted in the paper.

Financial Considerations
[16] There are none arising directly from this paper.

Significance and Engagement
[17] This paper does not trigger ORC’s policy on Significance and Engagement.

Legislative Considerations
[18] The likely reforms of the Resource Management Act and strengthening of provisions to 

do with local authority leadership for climate change adaptation are noted.

Risk Considerations
[19] There are none arising directly from this paper.

NEXT STEPS
[20] Continue the current state analysis and bring to Council next month for noting.

ATTACHMENTS

Nil 
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8.1. Recommendations of the Strategy and Planning Committee
 Resolution
That the Council adopts the resolutions of the 13 October 2021 Strategy and Planning 
Committee. 

Report Resolution Res# Mover/ Seconder
 TAG Report 1)     Notes this report SP21-112 Cr Malcolm / Cr Noone

Strategic Directions - 
Approval

1) Adopts the following 
amendment to the Strategy 
Directions document:
a) Addition of reference to 

mitigation and reduction 
under climate change.

SP21-113 Cr Calvert / Cr Forbes

Strategic Directions - 
Approval

1) Adopts the following 
amendment Strategy 
Directions document:
a) Customer needs to be 

moved up the list of 
commitments.

SP21-114 Cr Calvert / Cr Forbes

Strategic Directions - 
Approval

1) Adopts ORC’s Strategic 
Directions in Appendix 1. 

SP21-115 Cr Calvert / Cr Forbes

Cosy Homes Trust Annual 
Report 2021

1)      Notes this report. SP21-116 Cr Malcolm / Cr Noone

Otago Greenhouse Gas 
(GHG) Profile Update

1)      Notes this report SP21-117 Cr Wilson / Cr Calvert

Otago Greenhouse Gas 
(GHG) Profile Update

1) Delegate to the Chair, 
writing a letter to 
appropriate Ministers to 
seek clarification and 
consideration of issues 
based on the Otago 
Greenhouse Gas paper 
October 2021 that are 
presenting to Otago; And 
invite representatives to 
meet with Council. 

SP21-118 Cr Wilson / Cr Calvert

LWRP Governance Group 
Update – Otago 2021

1)      Notes this report. SP21-119 Cr Calvert / Cr Wilson
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8.2. Recommendations of the Otago Southland Regional Transport Committee
 Resolution
That the Council adopts the resolutions of the 1 October 2021 Otago Southland Regional 
Transport Committee. 

Report Resolution Res# Mover/ Seconder
9.1 Regional Land Transport 

Plan Programme 2018-
2021 Final Project Status 
Report

1) Note the report and provide 
direction on any actions 
required, based on the 
information provided. 

 N/A Cr Wilson / Cr Baird

9.2 Regional Land Transport 
Plan 2021-2024 Update - 
September 2021

1) Note the report and to provide 
staff with direction based on 
the information provided.

N/A Cr Forbes / Cr O’Malley

9.3 Waka Kotahi NZ 
Transport Agency 
Update

1) Note the report and provide 
any feedback to Waka Kotahi 
NZ Transport Agency included 
in the presentation. 

N/A Cr Baird / Cr Forbes

9.3 Waka Kotahi NZ 
Transport Agency 
Update

1) Give instruction for a formal 
letter to be sent to the agency, 
highlighting previous 
correspondence in relation to 
the Mataura Intersection 
Safety Project and to request 
that this project be given 
priority to the development of 
the next stages in the funding 
process.  

N/A Cr Wilson / Cr O’Malley

9.4 Canterbury Mayoral 
Forum Letter

1) Note the report N/A Cr Baird / Cr Forbes

9.4 Canterbury Mayoral 
Forum Letter

1) Otago Southland combined 
RTC’s support the Canterbury 
Mayoral Forum approach to 
the Minister of Transport and 
request that the matters 
included be referred to the 
South Island RTC’s chairs Group 
for further discussion across 
the South Island action

N/A Cr McCallum / Cr Forbes

9.5 Regional Speed 
Management Plan 
Proposal – Combined 
RTC’s Submission

1) Note the report and provide 
any feedback to the Waka 
Kotahi NZ Transport Agency on 
the report.  

Cr Baird / Cr Wilson
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9.1. Chairperson's Report

Prepared for: Council

Activity: Governance Report

Author: Cr Andrew Noone, Chairperson

Date: 27 October 2021

ORC COMMUNITY SURVEY
[1] Versus Research are currently undertaking our Community Survey, the survey seeks 

feedback from residents about what they think about the region and Council’s role in 
the region.  The survey involves a sample size of 1700 (as per Council’s direction), and 
once completed the survey results will be reported back in late November or early 
December 2021.

QUEENSTOWN TRANSPORT GOVERNANCE GROUP – 5 OCTOBER 2021

Ladies Mile Masterplan – summary of position:

[2] The masterplan on its own won’t alleviate the current traffic congestion issues that 
occur at peak hours.

[3] A district-wide transport intervention (including an enhanced Public Transport services 
and infrastructure) approach is required with the masterplan outcomes supporting 
modal shift and Transport Demand Management and Travel Behaviour change.

[4] Development is likely to span 10-15 years allowing interventions to occur alongside 
development.

[5] Clearly, we have an important role to play in achieving modal shift, particularly with 
Public Transport, but also with our Regional Land Transport planning role, which is 
equally important, as districts such as Queenstown Lakes grapple with significant 
population growth.

[6] Public Transport improvements flagged in our LTP for the QLDC district are subject to 
Business Case processes.

CONNECTING DUNEDIN GOVERNANCE GROUP – 19 OCTOBER 2021

[7] Presentation from Robert Quigley – Public Health Impact Assessment report.  The report 
focused on accessibility and connectivity to health services for all, under the various 
scenarios of infrastructure improvements being promoted to align with the New 
Dunedin Hospital development.  The report included surveys of various sector groups, 
including people with disabilities, patients, visitors, staff, senior citizens and students, 
who provided feedback about their experiences and challenges with the current roading 
network, not only when accessing the hospital services, but accessing Dunedin’s CBD in 
general.
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[8] Staff from Waka Kotahi provided an update on progress towards preparing a 
Programme Business Case to be presented to the Waka Kotahi Board at either their 
November or December meeting.

[9] ORC confirmed our commitment to Public Transport improvements as per the LTP, but 
subject to business case processes with Waka Kotahi. 

REGIONAL SECTOR GROUP – 3 SEPTEMBER 2021

At the last Regional Sector Group these were some of the topics discussed:

[10] President and CEO LGNZ spoke about engaging with the Government on the reform 
agenda.

[11] Ministers Parker and O’Conner spoke about Freshwater Reform and Overseer.

[12] Miles Hurrell, CEO Fonterra, spoke about engaging with the Regional Sector, and the 
challenges of working in a COVID environment.

[13] Update from Bill Bayfield, CEO of Taumata Arowai, the new drinking water regulator.

UPCOMING MANA TO MANA MEETING ON 9 NOVEMBER 2021

[14] This meeting will consider expanding the membership of Mana to Mana to all 
Councillors.

[15] Mana to Mana is a consensus-based ropu (group) and it will be important to protect the 
integrity of that, with an expanded membership.  Staff are working with Aukaha to set 
up learning opportunities to help increase Governance’s bicultural competency.  
Bicultural competency is the ability to work alongside Te Ao Maori (Maori worldview) 
with confidence and understand how it is relevant to the work ORC does.  A greater 
understanding of Te Reo, Tikanga (customs and traditional values), and the Treaty of 
Waitangi will benefit Council’s commitment to a greater bicultural competency.

STAYING SAFE – PHILIP LAING HOUSE

[16] Just a reminder when going through reception to the Councillors’ Lounge in Philip Laing 
House, or to the toilet, masks must be worn, and you must maintain a two metre 
distance between members of the public.  This is a Government-mandated rule for 
public-facing areas of local councils.  One metre distancing should be maintained in the 
Chamber.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Council:

1) Notes this report.
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LETTERS SENT / RECEIVED

 Letter from Hon David Parker, Minister for the Environment (dated 12 October 2021) – 
establishment of the Local Government RM Reform Steering Group 

 Letter to Mayor Hawkins DCC (dated 21 October 2021) - Dunedin Public Transport – DCC 
Annual Plan Submission 

ATTACHMENTS

1. Letter from Hon David Parker (dated 12 October 2021) - Establishment of the Local 
Government RM Refo [9.1.1 - 3 pages]

2. Letter to Mayor Hawkins DCC (dated 21 October 2021) Dunedin Public Transport - DCC 
Annual Plan Submission [9.1.2 - 1 page]
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12 October 2021 

 

 

Dear Mayors, Chairs and Chief Executives 

 

Establishment of the Local Government RM Reform Steering Group 

 

I am writing to confirm that the Local Government RM Reform Steering Group (Steering Group) 
has been established. Local government obviously has a key role in the resource management 
system. 

The Steering Group will be a key point of contact between central and local government during 
the reform.  It will provide a forum to contribute local government expertise and perspectives to 
the development and implementation of RM Reform policy advice. 

The Group’s membership reflects the range of New Zealand’s councils and include members 
from metro, regional, provincial and rural councils. The appointments were approved by 
the Secretary for the Environment, following discussion with chief executives, Local 
Government New Zealand and Taituarā. 

The Steering Group is not expected to be unanimous and will be able to provide diverse 
perspectives directly to ministers and to officials.  Members of the Steering Group are not 
representative of their councils – each member brings their own experience and perspective 
to the work of the Steering Group. The Steering Group can also provide advice on the 
Government’s wider engagement with local government on RM Reform. 

Importantly, the Group will bring an implementation lens to its work. Getting implementation 
right, across the entire resource management system, is key to ensuring a workable, enduring 
new system. 

The Steering Group is co-chaired by Mayor Toby Adams and Janine Smith, Deputy Secretary, 
Ministry for the Environment. 

Officials will also continue to engage with technical experts from local government to test 
policy, drawing on their crucial expertise relevant to the reform. The Steering Group will have 
oversight of this and provide advice to officials.  

I am looking forward to meeting with the Steering Group and have been briefed on their initial 
meeting. 
 

Yours sincerely 

Hon David Parker 

Minister for the Environment 

 

CC Hon Nanaia Mahuta, Minister of Local Government  

Stuart Crosby, President, Local Government New Zealand 

Susan Freeman-Greene, Chief Executive, Local Government New Zealand
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Appendix 1 - Local government membership of the Steering Group 

 Toby Adams – Mayor of Hauraki 

 Rachel Reese – Mayor of Nelson 

 Sam Broughton – Mayor of Selwyn 

 Bill Cashmore – Deputy Mayor of Auckland 

 Arama Ngapo – Councillor, South Waikato 

 Shaun Clarke – Chief Executive, Far North District Council 

 Aileen Lawrie – Chief Executive, Opotiki District Council 

 James Palmer – Chief Executive, Hawke’s Bay Regional Council 

 Stefanie Rixecker – Chief Executive, Environment Canterbury 

 Mike Theelen – Chief Executive, Queenstown Lakes District Council 

 Megan Tyler – Chief of Strategy, Auckland Council 

 Wendy Walker – Chief Executive, Porirua City Council 
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Appendix 2 

 

 

Terms of Reference – Local Government RM Reform Steering Group 
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Our Ref:  A1551084 

 
 
 
21 October 2021 
 
 
 
Mayor Aaron Hawkins 
Dunedin City Council 
P O Box 5054 
Dunedin 9054 
Email: mayor@dcc.govt.nz 
 
 
Dear Aaron 
 
Dunedin Public Transport – DCC Annual Plan Submission 
 
Just wanting to confirm that the Otago Regional Council has no intention to consider a transfer of 
ownership and function of Dunedin’s public bus services. 
 
As we start to deliver on our Long Term Plan (LTP) and our Regional Public Transport Plan (RPTP), it is 
worth noting our commitment to increased budgets for passenger transport during the next decade, 
and a much more enabling RPTP. 
 
These improvements in service levels are subject to successful business case outcomes, however, our 
commitment is embedded in both the LTP and the RPTP. 
 
Yours sincerely  
 

 
Andrew Noone  
Chairperson 
 
0274301727 
andrew.noone@orc.govt.nz 
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9.2. Chief Executive's Report

Prepared for: Council

Activity: Governance Report

Author: Sarah Gardner, Chief Executive

Date: 21 October 2021

KEY MEETINGS ATTENDED

 30 September – Three Waters Update – Mayors, Chairs & Chief Executives (Zoom)
 30 September – Zone 6 Three Waters meeting with Minister Mahuta (Zoom)
 4 October – Weekly catch-up with the Chair and Deputy Chair (Zoom)
 4 October – ELT Q+A Zoom session with all staff
 6 October – Regional Sector Shared Services Org Governance Group meeting (Zoom)
 7 October – Steering Committee meeting with Minister Mahuta (Zoom)
 8 October – Regional CEO Group fortnightly catch-up (Zoom)
 11 October – Weekly catch-up with the Chair and Deputy Chair (Zoom)
 12 October – CE Performance Review Committee
 13 October – Finance Committee, Strategy & Planning Committee, and Workshop on LWRP 

Regional Issues #3
 14 October – Public workshop on Annual Plan #1, and Audit & Risk Subcommittee
 18 October – Gathering together on Three Waters – Mayors, Chairs and Chief Executives 

(Zoom)
 18 October – Three Waters Steering Group (Zoom)
 18 October – Weekly catch-up with the Chair and Deputy Chair (Zoom)
 19 October – Joint Aukaha/ORC ELT catch-up prior to next Mana to Mana meeting
 19 October – Connecting Dunedin Governance Group (Zoom)
 19 October – ORC Head Office briefing with GHD
 20 October – Met with Mandy Bell and Julie Perry from Wai Wanaka
 21 October – Live call from Waka Kotahi CE – 2021 Moving Together (Zoom)
 21 October – Met with Chair Andrew Noone and Cr Kate Wilson
 21 October – The Chairman and I met with Fonterra reps (Philippa Fourie, Manager Local 

Government & Stakeholder Affairs, and Robb Stevens, Manager Local Government & 
Stakeholder Affairs for the South Island) (Zoom)

 22 October – Regional CEO Group fortnightly catch-up (Zoom)
 22 October – New employee and CE meet and greet session
 26 October – Planning framework meeting with ELT
 26 October – South Island Regional Councils Governance Group (Chairs/Deputy 

Chairs/CEOs) (Zoom)
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RECOMMENDATION

That the Council:

1) Notes this report.

DISCUSSION

Customer Experience Transition

[1] The transition of our customer experience function in Dunedin from Regional House in 
Stafford Street to Philip Laing House, Level 2 is now complete.  There is no longer any 
customer experience offering in Stafford Street.  Contractors and visitors can access 
Stafford Street where we now have an electronic sign in system that alerts the staff 
member they are meeting with, that they have arrived.  Mask use is still required in the 
Stafford Street reception area as it is deemed public space.

Wai Wanaka 

[2] I met with Wai Wanaka representatives to discuss work programmes, including work 
undertaken under the Freshwater Improvement Fund and Jobs for Nature funding.  We 
continue to look for opportunities to collaborate, and the discussion was timely given 
our imminent commencement of the Upper Lakes Rohē work for the new Land and 
Water Regional Plan.  Discussions also covered the current arrangements on our shared 
site in Wanaka and the possibility of extending the arrangements.

ATTACHMENTS
Nil 
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That the Council excludes the public from the following part of the proceedings of this meeting 
(pursuant to the provisions of the Local Government Official Information and Meetings Act 
1987) namely: 

General subject 
of each matter to 

be considered

Reason for passing this resolution in 
relation to each matter

Ground(s) under section 
48(1) for the passing of this 

resolution
1.1 Minutes of 29 
September 2021 
public excluded 
Council Meeting 

To protect the privacy of natural  
persons, including that of deceased  
natural persons – Section 7(2)(a);  
To enable any local authority holding
the information to carry out, without
prejudice or disadvantage, commercial
activities – Section 7(2)(h);
To enable any local authority holding
the information to carry on, without
prejudice or disadvantage,
negotiations (including commercial
and industrial negotiations) – Section
7(2)(i)

3.1 Chief 
Executive 
Performance 
Review 
Committee 
Report Back

To protect the privacy of natural 
persons, including that of deceased 
natural persons – Section 7(2)(a)

Section 48(1)(a) - Subject to 
subsection (3), a local 
authority may by resolution 
exclude the public from the 
whole or any part of the 
proceedings of any meeting 
only on 1 or more of the 
following grounds:
(a) that the public conduct of 
the whole or the relevant 
part of the proceedings of 
the meeting would be likely 
to result in the disclosure of 
information for which good 
reason for withholding 
would exist,

This resolution is made in reliance on section 48(1)(a) of the Local Government Official 
Information and Meetings Act 1987 and the particular interest or interests protected by 
section 6 or section 7 of that Act or section 6 or section 7 or section 9 of the Official 
Information Act 1982, as the case may require, which would be prejudiced by the holding of 
the whole or the relevant part of the proceedings of the meeting in public are shown above 
after each item.
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